
Date Published:6 February 2018     

County Council

Wednesday, 14 February 2018 at 10am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chairman’s Opening of Council

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 20)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2017.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal interests that you may 
have relating to any specific matters which may be discussed at the meeting by 
signing the form that is available at the back of the Council Chamber.  Completing 
this form will be acceptable as a declaration, but members may also declare the 
interest orally if they so wish.

4  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (Pages 21 - 22)

a) Queen’s New Year Honours
To congratulate the people living in Gloucestershire who received awards as 
part of the Queen’s New Year Honours.  The Chairman of the Council has 
written to the individuals included in the list attached to the agenda.



    

b) A417 ‘Missing Link’
Highways England is launching a consultation into options for the A417 
‘Missing Link’.  Public consultation on the route options launches on 15 
February and runs until 29 March 2018.  There are a number of events taking 
place in the county, where information will be available along with an 
opportunity to speak to Highways England representatives about the project 
and the consultation.

c) ICT support
Staff from ICT will be on hand over the lunch break to provide advice to 
members.

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 7 February 
2018.  Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

6  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 23 - 26)

Report from Cllr Richard Boyles, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People.

7  PETITIONS 

Cllr Rachel Smith to present a petition from the No Monster Incinerator in 
Gloucestershire (NoMoinGlo) Group relating to public confidence in the Council.

To receive other petitions presented by members without discussion.

8  POLICY AND BUDGET FRAMEWORK - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
AND THE COUNCIL STRATEGY 

Pete Bungard, the Chief Executive, will explain how the budget debate will take place 
(a flowchart will be displayed in the chamber).  This follows the procedure that has 
been adopted over the last four years. 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of the Council, and Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change, to present the recommendations from the Cabinet.  

In order to reach a position where a substantive motion can be debated, other 
political groups will be invited to propose amendments to the budget.  These will be 
moved and seconded but not debated at this stage.  This is a departure from the 
normal procedure where only one amendment can be moved and discussed at any 
one time.  The Chairman will propose that the procedure rule relating to this be 
suspended for the duration of the budget debate.

Once the amendments have been presented, the Chairman will call for an 
adjournment to provide an opportunity for Group Leaders to reach a common 
position.  

After the adjournment, the Leader of the Council will advise members where it has 
been possible to reach agreement.  Any amendments which have not been accepted 
or withdrawn will be presented by the groups, debated and voted upon.

Thereafter all members will have an opportunity to debate the budget in accordance 
with the normal rules of debate.

At the end of the debate, the Leader of the Council will have the right of reply and a 
recorded vote will be taken.

a)  REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS (Pages 27 - 46)

b)  COUNCIL STRATEGY - APPENDIX 1 (Pages 47 - 60)

c)  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - APPENDIX 2 (Pages 61 - 182)

d)  BUDGET CONSULTATION REPORT - APPENDIX 3 (Pages 183 - 210)

e)  SCRUTINY BUDGET REPORT - APPENDIX 4 (Pages 211 - 218)

f)  DUE REGARD STATEMENT (Pages 219 - 292)

9  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.



    

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 7 February 
2018. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

10  SCRUTINY REPORT (Pages 293 - 306)

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to present 
the scrutiny report.

11  CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 307 - 342)

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chairman of the Constitution Committee, to present the 
recommendations from the meeting held on 15 January 2018.

12  CABINET DECISION STATEMENT (Pages 343 - 358)

To consider the decision statements for the Cabinet meetings held on 13 December 
2017 and 31 January 2018 including the  recommendation from the meeting held on 
31 January relating to the Minerals Local Plan.

Please refer to the agenda supplement for the report on the Minerals Local Plan 
presented to the Cabinet on 31 January 2018.

13  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 359 - 362)

To consider the decision statements for the period 1 December 2017 to 31 January 
2018.

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which 
may be discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available at the 
back of the Council Chamber. Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, 
but does not, of course, prevent members from declaring an interest orally in 
relation to individual agenda items. The list will be available for public inspection. 
Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of 
interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns 01452 328472 / 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

email Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.

(b) RECORDING MEETINGS, INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL 
QUERIES – Please note that full Council meetings are webcast and may be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk). If you wish to 
inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general 
queries about the meeting, please contact:

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
 01452 324202, email simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the 
Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services 
to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the 
public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting 
please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which 
is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and 
await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

MINUTES OF COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
Wednesday, 6 December 2017 at 10am
Shire Hall, Gloucester

Present:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells (Vice-
Chairman)
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay

Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons 
(Chairman)
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE

Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Jack Williams
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Councillors Chris Coleman, Steve Robinson and Suzanne Williams

Honorary Aldermen Terry Parker John Sewell and Gordon Shurmer

67. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2017 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

68. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

A copy of the declarations of interest is attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

69. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Cllr Jim Parsons
The Chairman invited members to stand in silence as a mark of respect to Cllr 
Jim Parsons who had passed away on 14 September 2017.  Jim had been a 
longstanding member of Cotswold District Council and had been their 
representative on the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee for a 
number of years.

b) Gloucestershire Archives
UNESCO had informed the Council that an African slave song held by 
Gloucestershire Archives had been included in the Memory of the World 
Register.  The song came from the sugar plantations of Barbados and was 
written down in the late 18th Century by anti-slave trade campaigner Granville 
Sharp who had Gloucestershire descendants.  Although the document was 
over 200 years old, it was a timely reminder that the fight against modern day 
slavery continued across the World today.  It was agreed that the words of the 
song would be made available after the meeting through Members’ Matter.

c) Libraries and Information Digital Innovation display
From self-service machines to 3D printers libraries were now using digital 
solutions to promote smarter working for staff, opportunities for young people 
to develop coding skills, support businesses and help residents to become 
digitally confident.  A display would be on the landing outside the Council 
Chamber during the lunch break.

70. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Fourteen public questions had been received. No supplementary questions were 
asked. 

71. PETITIONS 

No petitions were received. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

72. CORPORATE PARENTING 

Cllr Richard Boyles, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, referred 
to the importance of the Virtual School in supporting children in care.  The 
Gloucestershire Virtual School was one of only three schools to receive a national 
award from Achievement for All in the Celebrating Every Child Awards 2017.  He 
hoped that members would make an effort to attend Virtual School events.  He 
asked members who had not allocated all of their Children’s Activity Fund to 
consider contributing the balance to the Virtual School.     

A member expressed concern that, given the Ofsted report, some members had 
still not signed the Corporate Parenting Pledge.

Another member believed that members should be kept better informed regarding 
children in care with invites being sent to events. He felt that this was more 
important than signing a pledge.

Cllr Boyles stated that the Corporate Parenting web pages included details of all the 
events due to be held over the coming year.  However, he undertook to speak to 
officers about how they could engage more with members and keep them better 
informed.

RESOLVED to note the report.

73. MOTIONS 

Motion 800 - Adoption and promotion of electric vehicles
Cllr Rachel Smith proposed and Cllr Iain Dobie seconded the motion included on 
the agenda.

Cllr Smith thanked officers for their support in providing information relating to the 
motion.  She said that that the main drivers for electric vehicles were climate 
change, air quality and cost savings.  She believed that it was incumbent on the 
Council to set an example.  She noted that electric vehicles worked out cheaper to 
run over four years with even greater savings achievable over the longer term.  The 
Council had direct control over 90 vehicles and provided funding for 825 taxis and 
buses.  She stated that changes to procurement practices were essential to ensure 
that school buses were more energy efficient and less polluting.  She referred to a 
number of other local authorities that were already using electric vehicles.  These 
included the London Fire Brigade, Oxford City Council, Lewes District Council, 
Portsmouth City Council, Westminister City Council, the London Borough of 
Havering and Cornwall Council.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Dobie explained that the motion aimed to nudge the Council in the right 
direction. He noted that, following an amendment to the Council’s budget, residents 
with electric vehicles now benefited from free residents’ parking.  He said that a 
commitment to convert 10% of Council vehicles to electric over two years equated 
to just nine vehicles.  He believed that bus companies should commit to reducing 
pollution by running cleaner vehicles.  He noted the poor air quality outside 
Leckhampton School which had been recorded as the worst outside a school in the 
county.  He was anxious that the Council committed to concrete action by 
supporting this Public Health motion.

Cllr Nigel Moor, the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, was 
already committed to reducing carbon emissions.  He referred to the introduction of 
LED street lighting across the county and the reuse of energy at the Javelin Park 
residual waste facility.  He recognised the importance of electric vehicles in 
reducing carbon emissions and improving air quality.  He said that the Council was 
already looking to provide more charging points across the county.  He noted that 
the majority of vehicles operated by the Council were vans and HGVs and there 
were currently limited opportunities to replace them with electric vehicles.  He 
stated that a scrutiny task group chaired by Cllr Jeremy Hilton was looking at air 
quality and this would allow opportunities to be considered. 

The meeting was adjourned for a short period while Group Leaders considered an 
amendment to the motion. 

Cllr Smith and Cllr Dobie accepted the following changes to the motion (see the 
highlighted text):

This Council notes the great importance of good air quality to public health and 
wellbeing in Gloucestershire. Poor air quality not only contributes to 40,000 
premature deaths in the UK every year, but also limits uptake of cycling, and 
reduces pedestrian numbers - harming wider public health goals.

This Council further welcomes the £500m allocated to support Electric Vehicles by 
the Chancellor in the recent budget.
 
This Council notes that a leading cause of air pollution is vehicle emissions. This 
Council further notes that air quality monitoring is a district responsibility, but that air 
quality issues need a co-ordinated approach between all local authorities in order to 
reduce unnecessary deaths from poor air quality and cut carbon emissions.
 
Councillors agree that more can be done through this authority to combat poor air 
quality, and welcome the formation of an air quality task group. Recognising the 
urgency of the problem of both air pollution and carbon emissions, this Council:

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

a)     Commits to moving to electric or low emission options wherever possible 
practicable for all direct or indirectly operated council vehicles at the earliest 
opportunity.

b)     Commits to replacing the vehicles within its fleet (owned or leased) with 
electric or low emission vehicles where possible with a view to deliver 5% by 
2020.

c)      Commits to establishing principles for use in procurement to encourage use of 
electric or low emission vehicles by Council contractors.

d)     Commits to engaging with district councils and other relevant stakeholders to 
promote adoption of electric and low emission vehicles, including through 
identifying schemes, funding and other incentives for provision of publicly 
accessible EV charging points, and EV charging points in new housing 
developments.

 
Some members expressed concern that reducing the target for electric and low 
emission vehicles from 10% to 5% showed a lack of ambition.  They noted that 5% 
equated to just 4.5 vehicles.

A member believed that Gloucestershire should be at the forefront of the issue as it 
helped to promote the county and showed that it was forward thinking and 
innovative.

Another member said that it made no logical sense to replace vehicles early and it 
was practical to move over to lower emission vehicles over a period of time.

Cllr Hilton, the chair of the Air Quality Task Group, supported the amendment and 
advised that the task group would be holding a session on 16 January 2018 with a 
range of organisations to explore what was possible moving forward.    

On being put to the vote, the revised motion received the unanimous support of the 
Council.

RESOLVED that 

This Council notes the great importance of good air quality to public health and 
wellbeing in Gloucestershire. Poor air quality not only contributes to 40,000 
premature deaths in the UK every year, but also limits uptake of cycling, and 
reduces pedestrian numbers - harming wider public health goals.

This Council further welcomes the £500m allocated to support Electric Vehicles by 
the Chancellor in the recent budget.
 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

This Council notes that a leading cause of air pollution is vehicle emissions. This 
Council further notes that air quality monitoring is a district responsibility, but that air 
quality issues need a co-ordinated approach between all local authorities in order to 
reduce unnecessary deaths from poor air quality and cut carbon emissions.
 
Councillors agree that more can be done through this authority to combat poor air 
quality, and welcome the formation of an air quality task group. Recognising the 
urgency of the problem of both air pollution and carbon emissions, this Council:

a)     Commits to moving to electric or low emission options wherever practicable for 
all direct or indirectly operated council vehicles at the earliest opportunity.

b)     Commits to replacing the vehicles within its fleet (owned or leased) with 
electric or low emission vehicles where possible with a view to deliver 5% by 
2020.

c)      Commits to establishing principles for use in procurement to encourage use of 
electric or low emission vehicles by Council contractors.

d)     Commits to engaging with district councils and other relevant stakeholders to 
promote adoption of electric and low emission vehicles, including through 
identifying schemes, funding and other incentives for provision of publicly 
accessible EV charging points, and EV charging points in new housing 
developments.

Motion 801 - Votes at 16
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson proposed and Cllr Klara Sudbury seconded the following 
motion:

This Council notes that currently 1.5 million 16 and 17 year olds are denied the vote 
in public elections in the UK.

This Council recognises that 16 and 17 year olds are knowledgeable and 
passionate about the world in which they live and are as capable of engaging in the 
democratic system as any other citizen. 

This Council believes people who can consent to medical treatment, work full-time, 
pay taxes, get married or enter a civil partnership and join the armed forces should 
also have the right to vote.

This Council therefore requests the Leader of this Council to write to all six 
Gloucestershire MPs asking that a letter be written to county representatives of the 
Youth Parliament to express support in lowering the voting age to 16.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

In proposing the motion, Cllr Hodgkinson stated that voting at 16 had been in the 
manifesto of the Liberal Democrat Party since 2001.  He said that over half of the 
MPs in Westminster supported voting at 16 with the Labour Party, Scottish National 
Party and Green Party all behind the campaign. He noted that 16 and 17 year olds 
in the Isle of Man and Jersey and in many countries throughout the World were 
already able to vote.  

The introduction of Citizenship in schools and colleges had made 16 and 17 year 
olds more politically aware. Research showed that people who started voting at a 
young age carried on voting throughout their lifetime. Sixteen and 17 year olds 
could pay tax, consent to sexual relationships, get married, be a director of a 
company and serve in the armed forces.   Young people were the future of the 
country with strong opinions and enthusiasm for life.  Cllr Hodgkinson could not see 
any reason why they should not be allowed to vote.  He called on the Council to be 
forward thinking and call for the voting age to be lowered to 16.     

In seconding the motion, Cllr Klara Sudbury stated that in her role as Mayor of 
Cheltenham she had met with lots of young people who would welcome the 
opportunity to vote.  She said that most councillors had no idea about the pressures 
of modern life for young people. The growth of the internet had shrunken the World 
and young people were a lot better informed today.  She was concerned that young 
people were not being given an opportunity to have a voice.  She believed that 
reducing the voting age would improve the quality of decision making and everyone 
would benefit.

A number of members spoke in support of the motion.  They believed that 
democracy should not standstill but move to reflect the needs of a changing society.  
They noted the impact of younger voters during the Scottish Referendum and how it 
had helped reinvigorate democratic debate amongst families.  Young people who 
attended question time events with politicians showed that they had a good 
understanding of the political issues of the day.   

One member expressed concern that, although Citizenship courses were run in 
schools, there was little coverage of the political parties and what they stood for.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, the Leader of the Council, believed that it was vitally 
important to engage with young people whatever their age and listen to their views.    
He noted that children under 18 could consent to their own medical treatment but 
could be over-ruled if they were not felt to be competent.  Children could take up a 
job from aged 14, there was no age limit on paying taxes and they could only get 
married or join the armed forces with the permission of their parents.  Sixteen year 
olds could not drive a car, purchase a knife, make a will, sign a contract or watch 
some films.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Other members spoke against the motion and believed that voting at 18 struck the 
right balance.    

In summing up, Cllr Hodgkinson stated that he was embarrassed about what some 
members had said in speaking against the motion.  He believed that it was 
patronising towards 16 year olds and he called for the voting age to be lowered to 
16 to allow young people to be inspired, empowered and encouraged to get 
involved.

On being put to the vote, the motion was defeated.

Motion 802 – Increase in the State Pension Age for Women
Cllr Eva Ward proposed and Cllr Kate Haigh seconded the motion included on the 
agenda. 

In proposing the motion, Cllr Ward stated that the change in State Pension Age was 
affecting women across the county and was causing financial hardship. She said 
that they had lost £51,000 over six years and were being forced to take jobs that 
were not suitable, including zero hour contracts.  They were often carers for older 
relatives and their retirement plans had been shattered.  She said that the national 
campaign, known as Women Against State Pension Inequality (WASPI), was not 
looking for the changes to be reversed but for proper transitional arrangements to 
be put in place.

In seconding the motion, Cllr Haigh recognised that the equalisation of pensions 
between men and women was a good thing but women of a certain age should not 
be discriminated against in this way and suffer severe financial hardship.  She 
called upon the Leader of the Council to sign the letter alongside the Chief 
Executive.

Other members spoke in support of the motion, recognising that efforts to equalise 
the state pension between men and women had resulted in unintended 
consequences with women of a certain age suffering financially.

On being put to the vote, the motion received the unanimous support of the Council.

RESOLVED that 

This Council notes that 39,400 women in Gloucestershire born on or after 05 April 
1951 have been adversely affected by increase in the State Pension Age (SPA) 
and that these women have unfairly borne the burden of the increase to the SPA. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The lack of appropriate notification has resulted in many women not being told 
about the changes until it was too late to make alternative arrangements.

The Council calls on the Government to reconsider transitional arrangements so 
that women do not live in hardship due to these State Pension Age changes and 
instructs the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive to write to the Secretary 
of State for Work and Pensions and all the Members of Parliament representing 
Gloucestershire seeking their support for action by the Government.

Motion 803 – Council tax exemption for care leavers
Cllr Lesley Williams proposed and Cllr Brian Oosthuysen seconded the motion on 
the agenda.

In proposing the motion, Cllr Williams noted that the ‘Bank of Mum and Dad’ now 
funded a quarter of all property purchases in the UK.  She said that a financially 
stable base to start out in life was vitally important.  Research indicated that 57% of 
care leavers had problems managing their finances.  What started out as falling 
slightly behind with bills could easily escalate to a court summons and recovery 
proceedings.  She stated that Council Tax was a particular problem.  She advised 
48 local authorities had already passed resolutions to support the motion.  

In seconding the motion, Cllr Oosthuysen said that care leavers were amongst the 
most vulnerable people in society and it was vital that they were supported in their 
transition into adult life.  

Other members recognised the need to provide support to care leavers but they 
were not convinced that asking the district councils to provide an exemption from 
Council Tax was the best approach.  

Cllr Richard Boyles, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, believed 
that the aspiration should be that young people who were brought up in the 
Council’s care should be able to support themselves and should not need this type 
of support.

The meeting was adjourned for a short period while Group Leaders considered an 
amendment to the motion.

Cllr Williams and Cllr Oosthuysen accepted the following changes proposed to the 
motion (see the highlighted text):

This Council recognises that young people leaving care can be amongst the most 
vulnerable in our community and it is committed to supporting care leavers to 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

successfully make the often difficult transition to adult life as part of its corporate 
parenting role.
 
This Council recognises that managing money and bills for the first time can be a 
particular challenge for care leavers, with research from the Centre for Social 
Justice finding that 57% of your people find it difficult to manage their money and 
avoid debt when leaving care.
 
This Council believes there is more that can be done to support Care Leavers and 
all aspects of Local Government have a part to play in giving this support. This 
Council recognises that it does not set the Council Tax precept for the 6 District and 
Borough Authorities in the County however each of these Authorities will have Care 
Leavers living in their Districts.

This Council therefore resolves to write to each of the Authorities asking them to 
introduce exemptions for council tax for care leavers between the ages 18-25.

This Council resolves to ask the Cabinet to consider how we can better support 
care leavers in Gloucestershire in times of difficulty, and to bring forward proposals 
as part of the budget.

On being put to the vote, the revised motion received the unanimous support of the 
Council.

RESOLVED that

This Council recognises that young people leaving care can be amongst the most 
vulnerable in our community and it is committed to supporting care leavers to 
successfully make the often difficult transition to adult life as part of its corporate 
parenting role.
 
This Council recognises that managing money and bills for the first time can be a 
particular challenge for care leavers, with research from the Centre for Social 
Justice finding that 57% of your people find it difficult to manage their money and 
avoid debt when leaving care.
 
This Council believes there is more that can be done to support Care Leavers and 
all aspects of Local Government have a part to play in giving this support. 

This Council resolves to ask the Cabinet to consider how we can better support 
care leavers in Gloucestershire in times of difficulty, and to bring forward proposals 
as part of the budget.

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Motion 804 – Joint working across the Emergency Services
Cllr Jeremy Hilton proposed and Cllr Paul Hodgkinson seconded the motion 
included on the agenda.

In proposing the motion, Cllr Hilton noted that the Police and Crime Commissioner 
had undertaken research costing more than £100,000 to assess whether there was 
a business case for him to take over the governance of Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS).  The County Council had spent a further £35,000 making 
the case for GFRS remaining under the control of the Council.  He was pleased that 
the Commissioner had issued a press release that day highlighting areas for 
collaboration.

He stated that a great deal of work on blue light collaboration was being undertaken 
in Cornwall with a range of initiatives already in place.  He recognised that in 
Gloucestershire, GFRS was already highly integrated within the County Council 
with Trading Standards, Emergency Management and ICT amongst the services 
falling under the responsibility of the Chief Fire Officer.  He noted that the vehicle 
workshops at Waterwells were now also being used by Highways and the Local 
Resilience Forum was led by GFRS.  The South Western Ambulance Service and 
Severn Area Rescue Association were already sharing premises with GFRS but 
there were further opportunities to explore.  He believed that there might be 
opportunities for the fire joint training centre in Avonmouth to be used by the police 
and the ambulance service.  

In seconding the motion, Cllr Hodgkinson said that he was pleased that GFRS 
would remain under the control of the Council.  He recognised that the Council’s 
relationship with the Police and Crime Commissioner had been difficult at times but 
he hoped that it would be more constructive in the future.  He was anxious that the 
bluelight services took the opportunity to share premises to allow them to have a 
better presence in rural communities.  He referred to the opportunities for sharing 
premises in Bourton and Northleach within in his own division.

One member expressed concern that Gloucestershire Constabulary had been 
selling off its premises in Cheltenham.  He believed that police and fire stations 
should not be integrated as they were distinct services.  

Other members spoke in support of the motion and believed that the blue light 
services should share assets where it was sensible and cost effective to do so. 
They recognised that there were opportunities to improve local resilience by 
bringing fire, police and ambulance services together in towns.  

Cllr Nigel Moor, the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, advised 
that he had met the Police and Crime Commissioner with the Leader of the Council 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

to discuss joint working.  A governance committee with key people had been set up 
to allow joint approaches to be developed. A number of areas had already been 
identified including procurement and estate management.  He was pleased to 
announce that proposals were being put together to develop a tri-service centre 
with fire, police and ambulance services co-located in Cirencester. He was anxious, 
however, that projects delivered real benefits and were not put forward for the sake 
of it.

In summing up, Cllr Hilton recognised that collaboration should only take place 
where it was appropriate and with proper agreement between all the parties 
involved.  He was pleased that a governance committee had been established but 
he was anxious that an appropriate mechanism was established for non-executive 
members to scrutinise the proposals coming forward.

On being put to the vote, the motion received the unanimous support of the Council.

RESOLVED that

This Council welcomes the decision of the Gloucestershire Police and Crime 
Commissioner to withdraw his bid to takeover the governance of Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service. 

This Council notes that 2017 Police and Crime Act places a duty on the blue light 
services to work together to provide more effective service to their communities.

This Council notes that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has an excellent 
track record on collaborating with the other emergency services on mutually 
beneficial projects. 

This Council notes that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue is currently consulting on 
its draft Integrated Risk Management Plan for 2018-2021

This Council therefore resolves to support the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning 
and Infrastructure in opening up discussions with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner about opportunities for both services to work together on mutually 
beneficial projects, with both themselves and also with the ambulance service.

74. BLUE BADGE (DISABLED PERSONS' PARKING) SCHEME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Chief Executive responding to the 
following motion which was passed by the Council on 22 March 2017:

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

This Council recognises that regulations over who can and cannot get a blue badge 
are getting much stricter.  As a Council we believe everyone who needs a blue 
badge should be able to get one.

This Council commits to review its Blue Badge Policy criteria and will invite all 
relevant community groups and interested partners to an open consultation over 
how we can make this service more accessible.

Cllr Lesley Williams, who had moved the original motion, thanked officers for 
producing the report.  She noted that the Department for Transport was currently 
reviewing eligibility criteria regarding ‘non-mobility disability’ and the outcome of this 
process needed to be known before looking at the local scheme.  
 
A member expressed concern regarding the time it had taken someone to get their 
blue badge renewed. He said that it had only been resolved after he had 
intervened. 

Another member believed that there needed to be a better understanding of where 
people with blue badges could and could not park.  He stated that there was 
confusion amongst road users and this was causing unnecessary tensions.  He felt 
that the Council could do more to inform people and he suggested that, on 
occasions, it might be better to provide advice to blue badge holders and other road 
users rather than just ticketing cars.

RESOLVED that the report of the Chief Executive be noted.

75. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Eighteen member questions had been received. The following supplementary 
questions were asked:

Question 1 – Cllr Bernie Fisher asked when the problem around the subsidence on 
the A438 would be resolved as this had been an issue for four years.

Cllr Vernon Smith stated that he understood the frustration with landslips and that 
action with regards to this was prioritised, with the best way forward considered. 
This particular landslip was a complex one and he would be happy to meet with the 
member and officers at the site to discuss further.  

Question 3 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson stated that his question related to serious abuse 
of children and that he was asking for a summary made publically available of the 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

visits made by council officers to Dowdeswell Court and Badgeworth Court to 
ensure it was on public record.  

Cllr Richard Boyles replied that he was happy to share the detail he had been 
provided with by officers. Records showed that the visits were made by senior 
officers in relation to placements by the County Council and other local authorities. 
The records did not categorise the nature of concern, but they were regarding 
staffing. The law around record keeping was not as robust back then. 

Question 4 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked why, after a series of events, 
Gloucestershire County Council had failed to inform other councils of the concern. 
This was despite convictions and charges being brought around child sexual abuse. 
The member suggested that information had been given to the Council and that it 
had failed to act. 

Cllr Richard Boyles explained that records showed that Gloucestershire County 
Council did send messages to other councils with regards to incidents. He stated 
that he was happy to work with officers and the police if an investigation was being 
carried out on these matters. It was important that the police were given the 
opportunity to carry out their investigations fully. 

Question 5 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson explained that freedom of information requests 
to 40 councils had shown no record of any warnings or activity. He asked what the 
Cabinet Member could do to reassure victims?

Cllr Richard Boyles replied that he would work with the police and partners fully. He 
was sympathetic to the victims. He explained that he could not comment on the 
activity of the Council in terms of communicating with other councils on this matter 
in the 1960s and 1970s. He could only focus on assisting with any current 
investigation. 

Question 6 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson stated that he had been provided with 
information that two County Councillors had been members of the advisory board 
which was part of the Badgeworth Court School.  He had reservations about the 
information given in the written answer. 

Cllr Richard Boyles replied that he had shared all the information he had on the 
matter and that the Council did not have significant records of that period. He 
explained that the responsibility of licencing for the school during that time was the 
Department of Education and Science. Record keeping was not great years ago.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Question 7 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked whether the Cabinet Member would 
commit to seeking out the Council’s Directors of Education serving from 1965 
onwards to investigate the matter fully. He also asked if the Cabinet Member would 
commit to meeting the victims of abuse.

Cllr Richard Boyles reiterated that the investigation should be carried out by the 
Constabulary. He would work with the Police and that he would take legal advice to 
ensure that nothing obstructed their investigations. He was happy to meet with 
individuals in due time.

Question 8 – Cllr Joe Harris stated that there were similar serious concerns 
following a terrible Ofsted inspection.  He asked whether an internal investigation 
would be carried out identifying the lessons learned following the closure of Colne 
House School. 

Cllr Richard Boyles stated that a police investigation had been carried out in 
Autumn 2016 with no prosecutions resulting from that. If further information was 
available then the police would be interested in receiving that and the Council 
would provide any information requested to contribute to an investigation. 

Question 9 – Cllr Simon Wheeler expressed his concern regarding the time taken to 
collect mobility equipment to social services. He asked whether the Cabinet 
Member would look into the reasons why and into this case in particular.

Cllr Kathy Williams stated that she would speak to the member following the 
meeting to understand the particular issues he had faced. She stated that there was 
a 90% return rate. 

Question 10 – Cllr Colin Hay asked whether it was the time to increase the 
contribution from the Council to the GFirst LEP?

Cllr Lynden Stowe stated that he recognised the work that the LEP had done 
including securing over £100 million for infrastructure.  He explained that the move 
forward to business rate pooling across the seven authorities would hopefully bring 
additional funding. He also referred to the new Local Industrial Strategy and what 
might come forward. 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Question 14 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked whether the Leader of the Council could 
give assurances that women who needed to raise a harassment concern could do 
so with the confidence that they would be believed. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that he was able to give that assurance and said that if 
any member had suggestions on how to strengthen that pathway then he was 
happy to take those suggestions. 

Question 15 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked the Cabinet Member if he could help her 
understand the £100m savings figure in relation to the Residual Waste Project at 
Javelin Park, particularly against the figures within the Ernst and Young Report and 
a target recycling rate of 70%. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou stated that when considering the long term investment, the 
£100m was the best estimate. He would look again at the figures Cllr Smith and 
raised and provide a response.

76. SCRUTINY REPORT 

In presenting the report, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee, advised that the committee had considered care 
workers and the national living wage following the motion passed at the last full 
Council meeting.  He said that a Budget Scrutiny day would be held on 10 January 
2018 and all members were welcome to attend.  He confirmed that it would be held 
in public and Cabinet Members would be in attendance for the scrutiny of their 
service areas.  

A member noted that a children’s centre in his division had been rated by Ofsted as 
outstanding and he said that he was confused why there continued to be 
references to children’s centres not reaching vulnerable groups.  Cllr Mark 
Hawthorne, the Leader of the Council, recognised that many children’s centres 
were delivering good services to those families who were using them.  However, he 
said that there remained questions as to whether they were reaching the most 
vulnerable families.  

Cllr Brian Robinson, the Chairman of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, advised that the committee had received a number of reports 
on the Children’s Services Improvement Plan.  He said that progress was being 
made, albeit it was not as fast as Ofsted would like. 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, the Chair of the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, stated that the committee would be receiving a progress report on the 
NHS Winter Plan as its meeting in January 2018.  She undertook to consider 
whether the committee should scrutinise the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
activities.  

Cllr Rob Bird, the Chairman of the Environment and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, explained that the Minerals Local Plan was worded in such a 
way that it addressed the main issues for Gloucestershire, namely sand and gravel 
extraction.  There was no detailed assessment criteria for applications for mineral 
and gas extraction and this would need to be addressed should the need arise in 
future.

A member noted that the Police and Crime Commissioner was in discussion with 
HM Courts and Tribunal Services about the possibility of providing a new facility at 
Waterwells.  Another member hoped that there would be an opportunity to 
scrutinise any decisions on the location of a new court facility.  He believed that it 
would be best located in Gloucester City centre as it would be more accessible to 
local residents.  Cllr Will Windsor Clive, the Chairman of the Police and Crime 
Panel, advised that this was not the business of the panel and members should 
make their views known to officers and partners involved in estate management. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

77. GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT 2016-17 

In presenting the report, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, the Chairman of the Pension 
Committee, thanked the members of the committee and officers for their support 
through 2016-17.  He acknowledged the role of the Pension Board who had made 
some useful recommendations to the committee during the year.  He stated that the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme had joined nine other public 
sector schemes as part of the Brunel Pension Partnership.  

Answering questions, Cllr Theodoulou recognised the importance of choosing the 
right actuary.  He noted that relatively small changes to actuarial rates had a 
significant impact on the revenue budgets of member authorities.  He said that he 
did not anticipate any major impact from three local authorities transferring their 
staff into the new Publica Company. 

RESOLVED that the Pension Fund Annual Report and the Pension Board Annual 
Report be noted.

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

78. CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, the Chairman of the Constitution Committee, presented the 
recommendations from the meeting held on 9 October 2017.

78.1 Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee
An amendment to the recommendation was proposed that the committee 
chair should be determined by members of the opposition groups.  Cllr 
Hawthorne questioned whether this was lawful.

With the support of Council, the recommendation was referred back to the 
Constitution Committee for further consideration.

78.2 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee
RESOLVED that the constitution be amended, as set out in annex B to the 
report, to include the requirement for the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review the decisions, plans and policies 
of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee. 

78.3 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
A member expressed concern regarding the removal of opposition members 
from the board.  He believed that only having one political group represented 
on the board was not good for local democracy.  He called for the new 
arrangements to be reviewed after a suitable period.

RESOLVED that the revised terms of reference for the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board, as set out in annex C to the report, be 
approved and adopted.

78.4 Oral questions at full Council
An amendment to the recommendation was proposed to retain the 30 minute 
notice prior to the meeting for oral questions from the public.  Cllr Hawthorne 
advised that the change to 12 noon the day before would allow a proper 
answer to be provided rather than a written answer after the meeting.  On 
being put to the vote, the amendment was defeated.

RESOLVED that procedural standing orders in section 9 of part 4 of the 
constitution be amended as indicated in annex D to the report.  

78.5 Motions at meetings of full Council
It was noted that some changes to the length of speeches had been 
suggested at Group Leaders and this would be considered at the next 
meeting of the Constitution Committee.

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

78.6 Employee Code of Conduct
RESOLVED that the revised Employee Code of Conduct, as set out in annex 
E to the report, be approved and adopted.

78.7 Monitoring Officer changes to the constitution
RESOLVED that the changes to the constitution by the Monitoring Officer 
shown at annexes F, G and H be ratified.  

79. CABINET DECISION STATEMENT 

RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statements from the Cabinet meetings 
held on 18 September, 27 September and 15 November 2017.

80. INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS 

RESOLVED to note the Individual Cabinet Decision Statements for the period 1 
September to 30 November 2017.

The meeting ended at 3.10pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Queen’s New Year Honours 2018

Royal Victorian Order
Dame Janet Trotter DBE for services to the Monarchy

Knighthood
Geoffrey Clifton Brown for political and public service

Commanders of the Order of the British Empire (CBE)
Jilly Cooper OBE for services to literature and charity

Officers of the Order of the British Empire (OBE)
Dr Michael Durkin for services to patient safety

Members of the Order of the British Empire (MBE)

 John McLester for services to education and the community in Monmouth

 Elizabeth Thomas for services to supporting people bereaved by suicide in 

Gloucestershire

Medallist of the Order of the British Empire (BME)

 Gayle Clay for services to community health for homeless and vulnerable people

 Louise Dembny for public and charitable services

 Celia Hargrave for services to charity and the community in Sheepscombe

 Eileen Magee for services to Cheltenham Croquet Club and the community in 

Hartpury

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT

Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Children in Care

1 Summary
The focus of the last Corporate Parenting Report presented to Council in December 2017 
was education of Children in Care (CiC). The report referred to the need for children in care 
to experience stability in order for their desired outcomes and potential to be met.  

CiC and care leavers are a marginalised group, who are overrepresented in other 
vulnerable groups in society, e.g. teenage pregnancy, youth offenders, prison and 
homeless populations.  It is important that preventative work is done to avert the need for 
these children entering the care system and to ensure their needs are identified and met 
when they do enter the system.

This report outlines the statutory framework in respect of promoting the health of CiC. It 
makes reference to the issues facing them in terms of their health, the structure for delivery 
of health care services, some performance data and developments within the context of 
children’s health. 

2 Statutory responsibilities
Under the Children Acts 1989 & 2004, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), NHS 
England & Local Authorities have a duty to cooperate and work together to commission & 
provide support and services to looked-after children to promote their health and wellbeing, 
including:

 Statutory Health Assessments
 Regular dental checks
 GP Registration
 Access to universal and specialist health services where needed
 Completion of the Strength & Difficulties Questionnaires
 Support towards transitions including for Care Leavers
 Have in place a Designated Doctor & Nurse for Children in Care

3 Common health issues for Children in Care

 Emotional and Mental Health Needs including deliberate self harm
 Developmental delay (i.e. communication)
 Poor oral health
 Bedwetting / soiling

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 Substance misuse
 Missing routine preventative care i.e. immunisations
 Poor management of long term health conditions
 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) – can have an impact on all aspects of health 

with lifelong effects

It is becoming more widely understood how adversity in childhood can severely impact on 
long term health outcomes across a lifetime including reduced life expectancy. The fact that 
longer term outcomes for CiC remain far worse than their peers is evidence of an important 
health inequality, and needs to be treated as a public health priority.

4 Challenges
 Rising numbers of CiC population (reflected nationally) within the context of increasing 

financial constraints
 Turnover of social workers which provides a challenge in terms of continuity of care and 

the sharing of information between health and children’s social care
 Providing continuity of health care within the context of numerous placement moves for 

some CiC
 Increased complexity of needs
 Addressing & improving health outcomes without stigmatising children 
 Capacity within partner agencies to provide high quality services for CiC 

5 Specialist Health Services for Children in Care in Gloucestershire

Most health services in Gloucestershire are commissioned by Gloucestershire CCG. The 
Designated Doctor (Dr Imelda Bennett) and Designated Nurse (Pauline Edwards) are the 
lead professionals who work closely with lead officers in children’s social care to develop 
services on an ongoing basis.

Specialist GPs at the Hadwen Medical Practice are commissioned to provide all Initial 
Health Assessments (IHA) for Children on admission into Care.  

A recently formed new team of CiC Nurses hold caseloads of children and provide all 
Review Health Assessments, follow up, liaison, support for carers etc.

A Permanence (Adoption) Medical Team provide adoption medicals and medical advice in 
relation to children’s plans for permanence.

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS - previously CAMHS) provide mental health 
services to children in care and supervision and support to the team around the child.

Page 24



6 Data and performance

Health Assessments: The number of children who had been in care continuously for 12 
months as at 31/03/17 who have had an up to date assessment - 321 (85.8%)

Dental Checks - the number of children who had been in care continuously for 12 months 
at 31/03/17 who have had an up to date dental check – 324 (86.6%)

Immunisations - the number of children who had been in care continuously for 12 months 
at 31/03/17 who had up to date immunisations – 311 (83.1%)

Our aspiration is to achieve 100% compliance in respect of CiC accessing the services on 
offer. However, there are a number of challenges in achieving this, including how 
professionals work with young people who decline to access services. In addition, as stated 
in Section 4 above, continuity of the workforce (social workers specifically) within children’s 
social care is also crucial in terms of the robustness of the partnership between the two 
agencies and the ongoing sharing of crucial information.

7 New service developments

• Establishment of a new Children in Care Nursing Team (since Jan 2018) who will be 
able to hold a caseload of children (including oversight of children placed out of area)

• NHS England, My Life, My Plan Pilot – a pilot project which provides individual 
personalised commissioning (IPC) to support children’s emotional and mental health 

• Supporting Foster Carers – plan to establish a new service specifically supporting 
newly approved foster carers to improve placement stability

• Development of an animated video about Children in Care health assessments – this 
will be published on You Tube to allow for wider access 

• Development of Professionally Printed Health Passports (from 16th  birthday)  to provide 
health information including family history to support children towards independence

• Focus on Adverse Childhood Experience’s (ACE’s)

CiC, when asked, say that they want to be treated like their friends and peers.   Services 
therefore need to be developed with this in mind and must not stigmatise or label children who 
are in care, while at the same time promoting positive action to improve their health outcomes. 
Our children and young people also tell us that they value continuity from professionals 
working with them. Children are regularly asked for their views about their care and 
development of services both on an individual basis and through the Ambassadors and CiC 
Council. They have been involved in the recruitment of the new nursing team and the 
development of the IPC project since it started. They have also given their views about the 
format and style of the health passport. 

Cllr Richard Boyles
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Gloucestershire County Council

Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2018/19 – 2020/21
Budget and Precept 2018/19
Report and Recommendations

A      Introduction

1. This report refers to the detailed MTFS attached, and should be read in conjunction with 
the Council Strategy, the Due Regard Statement and the Consultation reports which 
accompany it. 

2. In December 2017 the Cabinet proposed a budget for consultation totalling £407.17 
million and was based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase and a 2% National Adult Social 
Care levy.

3. Since the draft budget was published, additional pressures have been identified in 
Children and Families and around the pay award. The Cabinet proposes to invest 
significantly into protecting the most vulnerable children and young people in our county, 
following last year’s Ofsted report.  The Children & Families – Vulnerable Children budget 
has been increased by £5.01 million to fund additional investment in Children’s 
Safeguarding Service (£3.89 million) and  one-off funding to support the implementation 
of the Ofsted Improvement Plan (£1.12 million). The national pay award for local 
government is likely to be higher than anticipated.  An additional £0.6 million has been 
added to the pay inflation provision in order to support a 2% pay award across all service 
areas based on the latest national pay negotiations. Finally an additional £0.12 million has 
been added to Adult Social Care following changes to the reported tax base for District 
Councils, which improves the amount generated by the levy.

4. Following Cabinet in December 2017 the draft financial settlement was announced on 
19th December 2017. The most significant changes included in the settlement were;

 The announcement that GCC had been accepted as a 100% Business Rates 
Retention (BRR) pilot

 Additional £0.431 million of New Homes Bonus (NHB) in 2018/19
 The flexibility to increase Council Tax by up to 3% (from the previous limit of 2%) 

before triggering a referendum.  

5. The additional pressures outlined earlier have been funded by the additional New Homes 
Bonus Grant and changes in the tax base / collection fund estimates from district councils 
combined with the proposal to increase Council Tax by an additional 0.5%, which will 
result in a revised budget proposal of £412.90 million. Despite the decision by 
government to raise the cap, Cabinet wish to place as little burden on Gloucestershire 
families as possible,  and are only taking half of the potential extra increase. This budget 
proposal represents an increase of £5.74 million on the December consultation budget. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8a



- 2 -

6. This proposal reflects the feedback from consultation and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSMC) review, which supports investment for those who are most vulnerable 
in Gloucestershire.

7. Details of the Council Strategy which outlines the Council’s strategic policy direction, 
under which the budget proposal is formulated, are outlined in Section E of this report.

8. The results of the budget consultation and the OSMC review of the proposed budget are 
outlined in Section F of this report.

B   Summary Budget Proposal 2018/19

9. The recommended budget for 2018/19 is £412.90 million this represents an increase in 
cash terms of £5.2 million, or 1.27%, from 2017/18.  

10.The recommended budget for 2018/19 contains:

 £27.73 million of extra investment into services, particularly 
those for older people and vulnerable children and adults 

 £6.73 million to cover for increased costs due to inflation.

 £178.99 million of new capital investment in roads, schools and 
other services.

 £29.26 million of efficiency savings to be delivered.

11. The overall cash increases / decreases for service budgets are detailed in the table 
below.  

MTFS 2018/19 Budget Summary

Budget Area

Approved 
2017-18 
MTFS 
Base 
Budget

Removal of 
2017-18 One 
Off 
Investments 
from 
Service 
Areas to 
T&C

2017-18 
Agreed Base 
Budget 
Adjustments;
Corporate 
budget and 
cross 
cutting 
saving 
allocations

2017-18 
Revised 
Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018-19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 136,882 -4,035 -743 132,104 -11,561 12,629 133,172 1,068 0.81%

Children and Families Vulnerable Children 58,683 -1,610 335 57,408 - 16,288 73,696 16,288 28.37%

Children and Families - Other Services 30,641 -410 -471 29,760 -891 359 29,228 -532 -1.79%

Communities and Infrastructure 83,804 -4,520 -1,270 78,014 -527 2,409 79,896 1,882 2.41%

Business Support 25,138 - 977 26,115 -666 2,468 27,917 1,802 6.90%

Technical and Corporate 47,642 10,575 1,172 59,389 -14,975 306 44,720 -14,669 -24.70%

Total GCC 382,790 - - 382,790 -28,620 34,459 388,629 5,839 1.53%

Public Health 24,912 24,912 -641 24,271 -641 -2.57%

Total Budget 407,702 - - 407,702 -29,261 34,459 412,900 5,198 1.27%

Page 28



- 3 -

12. Full details of the budget proposals are set out in annexes 2 and 3 within the detailed 
MTFS accompanying this paper in Appendix 2.  

13. Details of the commissioning intentions for each commissioning area are provided at 
Annex 1 within the detailed MTFS. The Annex highlights current achievements and 
future plans in relation to the redesign of services within Gloucestershire, which aim to 
maximise effectiveness whilst delivering on the significant financial challenges facing 
the Council.  These detailed narratives cover Children and Families (Annex 1.1), Adults 
(Annex 1.2), Public Health (Annex 1.3) and Communities and Infrastructure (Annex 
1.4).

C Changes between the 2018/19 budget issued for consultation and the final budget

Revenue: Spending Pressures 2018/19:

14. Since the draft budget was approved by Cabinet for consultation the following pressures 
have been identified for 2018/19:

 Children & Families – The Vulnerable Children’s budget has been increased by £5.01 
million to enable the Council to deliver high quality safeguarding and care services to 
vulnerable children and young people in Gloucestershire. This is made up of 
additional investment in the Children’s Safeguarding Service of £3.89 million, which 
will enable us to build a new Children’s Social Care service. We have seen demand 
for children’s social care services increase over the last year with a 17% increase in 
referrals and a 35% increase in the number of children subject to a child protection 
plan; in addition we need to strengthen our social work practice following an 
inadequate OFSTED in 2017. The funding will be used to recruit more social workers 
to manage demand, enable us to recruit and retain experienced and qualified social 
workers through a revised career progression pathway, and develop smaller teams to 
support quality of practice and decision making and additional administrative support 
so that social workers can focus on direct work with families. There is also an 
additional one-off funding sum of £1.12 million to support the implementation of the 
Ofsted Improvement Plan, requiring additional senior management capacity, quality 
assurance and additional corporate support. 

 The Adult Social Care Levy has increased by £0.12 million following changes to the 
tax base reported by District Councils, which will further support market resilience.

 An additional £0.6 million has been added to the pay inflation provision in order to 
support a 2% pay award across all service areas, reflecting current national pay 
discussions.

15. In addition to the increases outlined above the starting budget for individual services 
(shown in Annexes 2 and 3 of the main MTFS document) has been realigned to reflect 
any additional permanent budget transfers occurring in 2017/18. 

Page 29



- 4 -

Revenue : Funding Changes 2018/19

16. The Cabinet approved the 2018/19 consultation budget in December 2017. The budget 
totalled £407.17 million and was based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase and a 2% 
National Adult Social Care Levy.

 
17. The consultation budget was based on the Spending Review figures announced with 

the final 2017/18 settlement, and on the latest available information on other funding 
streams. 

18. Following the release of the provisional financial settlement for 2018/19 on 19th 
December 2017, the Cabinet propose to increase Council Tax by an additional 0.5% 
which will generate £1.328 million to fund pressures in Children’s Social Care.  
Notification of the final tax base and collection fund surplus figures from the District 
Councils have also been received, both higher than originally estimated, £1.727 million 
for the tax base and £2.249 million for the surplus.  A combination of these additional 
funding sources results in a final budget proposal for 2018/19 of £412.90 million - £5.74 
million or 1.4% higher than the consultation budget.

19. The changes in funding between the consultation budget (pre the draft finance 
settlement) and the final budget proposal (post the draft finance settlement) are 
analysed as follows;

Detail £m
Additional NHB grant 0.431
Additional 0.5% Council Tax 1.328
Additional Taxbase linked to Council Tax 1.618
Additional Taxbase linked to ASC Council Tax 0.109
Additional Council Tax Surplus Declared (one off 
funding)

2.249

TOTAL 5.735

20. The two key changes relating to the draft financial settlement are;

 Additional New Homes Bonus of £0.431 million, due to a national increase in NHB of 
£8.2 million.  The settlement also advised that there will be further reductions in the 
number of payment years from 5 years in 2017-18 to 4 years in 2018-19 and that NHB 
will continue to be paid on housing growth above 0.4%. 

 Flexibility to increase the council tax referendum principle from 2% to 3% for 2018-19, 
giving the Council potentially an extra £2.66 million should the full 1% be implemented.  
Following detailed discussions around Children’s social care between the Cabinet and 
senior officers and following feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
Cabinet are proposing to increase council tax by an additional 0.5% (£1.33 million), 
giving a Council Tax increase of 2.49%.

Page 30



- 5 -

21. In addition to changes from the draft financial settlement outlined above District 
Councils have also confirmed their taxbase and surplus/deficit levels.  The tax base 
increase is £1.727 million, as advised by the District councils who show an average 
increase of 2.3%, ranging between 1.4% and 4.1% across the six district councils, 
compared to the 1.5% estimated in the consultation budget. The overall Council Tax 
Collection Fund surplus figure set by the District Councils is £5.25 million an increase of 
£2.25 million from the amount estimated in the consultation budget.

22. The Council has recently been made aware that the valuation figures used by the 
Government in calculating the draft financial settlement were incorrect. Full details of 
the funding adjustments are awaited, however it is unlikely that this adjustment will be 
significant for the Council and therefore no formal adjustment to the budget proposals 
have been made. The situation will continued to be monitored and Council informed of 
any funding announcements, when notifications are received.

23. Other grants that are included in the Council’s core funding, include:

 Public Health Grant – announced at £24.271 million.

 New Homes Bonus – announced at £3.39 million.

24. The Council also receives a number of specific grants – final updates on these are 
expected with the final settlement in February 2018.  The latest position is as follows:

Actuals Forecast
2017/18 2018/19

£’000 £’000

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)  251,456  257,997 
Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG)    37,287    37,995 
Pupil Premium Grant    12,134    12,283 
Primary School PE and Sport Funding       2,898       2,898 
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant       5,628       5,628 
Adult and Community Learning       2,407       2,067 
Music Service          794          795 
SEN Implementation          417          417 
Adoption Support Fund          739             -   
Youth Justice Board - Remands            43            43 
Youth Justice Board          480          480 
Staying Put          260          260 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers          580          765 
Firelink Grant          224          224 
New Dimension  Service and Maintenance Grant            36            58 
Emergency Services Mobile Communication
Prorgramme (ESMCP)          202       1,048 

The Private Finance Initiative (PFI)       4,875       4,875 
Extended Rights to Free Travel          422          422 
Independent Living Fund          945          945 
Local Reform and Community Voices          345          345 
Sixth Form Funding       2,006       2,006 
School Improvement Grant          426          426 
Additional Social Care Funding    10,598       7,176 
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR       1,148       1,148 

Total Ringfenced Grant 336,350 340,301

Ringfenced Revenue Grants, not included in 
Base Funding

Page 31



- 6 -

Business Rate Retention Pilot (BRR)

25. The Local Government Finance Bill was published on 13th January 2017.  Its main 
purpose was to put in place the framework for 100% BRR.  However, with the General 
Election in June 2017 this Bill was withdrawn, and was not mentioned in any 
subsequent publications.

26. Then on the 1st September 2017 the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) published an “Invitation to local authorities to pilot 100% 
business rates retention in 2018/19 and to pioneer new pooling and tier-split models,” 
with a deadline of 27th October 2017.  Extensive modelling work was undertaken by 
the council and the six district councils supported by an external consultant which 
reviewed the risks and benefits and resulted in a bid to DCLG.    Further detail is 
available in the November Budget Monitoring report, which authorised the Strategic 
Finance Director, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change, to commit Gloucestershire County Council to entering into the 
pilot for 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/2019 for Gloucestershire in the event 
the bid to DCLG is successful.

27. DCLG announced successful pilots in December 2017 alongside the provisional 
financial settlement. Gloucestershire’s bid was successful, and indications announced 
at the time were that this is worth an additional £9.2 million to Gloucestershire as a 
whole.  The bid was based on :-

 20% to an already established and effective Strategic Economic Development 
Fund (set up under existing pool arrangements and managed by the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee comprising all 7 Gloucestershire Councils and the 
GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership)

 30% to the 6 District Councils for financial resilience (stability and sustainability) 
and growth initiatives specific to their individual areas

 50% to the County Council for financial resilience (stability and sustainability) and 
growth initiatives 

28. This gives the Council one off funding of potentially £4.6 million.  It should be noted 
that this is an estimate of the rates collection forecast and business rates collected 
may be more or less than this.  Extensive modelling was carried out at the time our 
submission was submitted based on latest forecasts and appeals data. As the pilot 
does not form part of the Core Spending Assessment for GCC and is only for one year 
it is not built into the MTFS base budgets.   

29. However it is clear that this will generate additional revenue therefore the Cabinet 
propose that the priorities for this additional revenue will be as follows:

 £2.6 million Children’s Social Care
Over the last 5 years we have seen an increase in the number of children in 
care in line with national trends. This has caused considerable pressure on the 
council agency budget that has risen from £4.5m in 2015 to £9m in 2017. The 

Page 32



- 7 -

reasons for the increase are predominantly due to two factors, the needs of 
children being more complex and requiring additional support or specialist 
placements and the volume of external placements, an increase from 190 
placements in 2015 to 250 in 2017. We recognise that we need to review our 
sufficiency strategy for vulnerable children and review the type and volume of 
placements that we provide in house and commission from external partners. 
The Sufficiency Strategy and plan are currently being developed for April 2018. 
This funding will be used to support the implementation of the Sufficiency 
Strategy to enable the council to make structural changes to reduce longer term 
costs and will support any volatility in demand whilst these changes are being 
implemented.

 £2 million Adult Social Care
The budget makes sufficient provision for known commitments and likely 
increases in demand and costs.   However we have experienced of late 
increased market instability, both through the impact of changing demand 
patterns but also in part due to staffing issues and abnormal cost pressures on 
care providers.  These have impacted both on people supported by the Council 
and others who fund their own care.  Therefore this funding will be used to 
enable us to meet out Care Act obligations regarding market shaping.

Capital Strategy 2018-19 & Beyond

30. Gloucestershire County Council’s capital strategy provides the framework for capital 
investment.  

31. The proposed capital programme has been developed in accordance with the Capital 
Strategy which is set out in Annex 7 of the MTFS.

Capital Funding Changes 2018/19

32. The 2018/19 budget issued for consultation contained £167.59 million of new 
investment in capital schemes financed from grants and capital financing budget.

33. Since the December consultation budget £3.52 million additional funding for 
Community Safety has been agreed from capital receipts - this reflects the 
development of a five year Emergency Response Vehicles replacement programme. 

34. The School Basic Need Grant available for new starts has increased by £5.01 million 
due to funding being freed up from the existing capital programme, with £4.64 million 
of this is from the Balcarras expansion scheme, which is no longer required following 
the decision to build a new Secondary School in Cheltenham. The balance relates to 
developer s106 contributions replacing grant funding on various schemes. 

35. There are also additional schools developer section 106 contributions of £2.45 million 
with school revenue contributions expected to increase by a further £0.43 million.    

36. This additional funding for new 2018/19 capital schemes amounts to £11.40 million 
and is summarised in the following table.  

Page 33



- 8 -

Additional Funding for New Capital Schemes 2018/19
£000

School Basic Need Grant 2018/19 (returned from existing programme) 5,010
School Contributions (estimate) 430
Developer Contributions – schools 2,445
Capital Receipts – Fire Vehicles 3,516

Total New Capital 2018/19 11,401

37. This increases the amount of new investment in the 2018/19 budget to £178.99 
million.    

Capital : Spending Changes 2018/19

38. The additional contributions and grants mean that the 2018/19 Capital Programme can 
include a number of service priority schemes not previously included in the December 
consultation budget. These additions are reflected in Annex 8a of the detailed MTFS.

39. The additional schemes added to the 2018/19 capital programme since the 
consultation budget are summarised in the table below.   

Increase in Capital Schemes 2018/19 
£000

Children and Families
Capital Maintenance Programme (estimate) 280
Suitability Programme (estimate) 150
Various schemes - developer s106 contributions 2,445
Various schemes – Basic Need Grant 2018/19 5,010
Community Safety
Emergency Response Vehicles 3,516

Increase in Total New Capital 2018/19 11,401

D Overall Capital Programme

40. The full capital programme is set out in Annexes 8a and 8b of the detailed MTFS.

41. The £178.99 million of new 2018/19 capital schemes and other changes to the 
Capital Programme, including recommendations contained in the Financial 
Monitoring Report earlier in the agenda, result in a total Capital Programme of £504 
million, as detailed in the table below.   

Total Capital Programme 
£000

Existing Approval 325,006

New Capital Schemes 2018/19 178,993

Total Capital Programme 503,999

Page 34



- 9 -

42. The main investment relates to Communities and Infrastructure (£266.92 million) and 
Schools and facilities for children (£153.66 million), with the remainder being in 
Adults (£24.47 million) and Business Support Services (£58.94 million).

43. Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions have been included within 
the new Capital Programme on the basis that they will be funded from capital 
receipts, capital financing budgets, contributions from reserves and revenue thereby 
avoiding the need for new borrowing. Internal borrowing is proposed to be used to 
fund the £39 million investment in Highways and up to £15 million towards the 
proposed new secondary school in Cheltenham (this figure may reduce as additional 
s106 developer contributions are received). These new schemes for 2018/19 not 
supported by grants or contributions amount to £67.19 million and are detailed in 
Annex 8b of the detailed MTFS.  

44. The 2018/19 capital spend is forecast to be £140.59 million, with the majority of 
spend planned for schools and facilities for children (£43.44 million) and 
Communities and Infrastructure (£65.87 million).  The actual level of spend will be 
dependent on the 2017/18 outturn position and will be subject to review during 
2018/19.  

E Council Strategy 2018/19 

45. The Council Strategy is the key high-level document that, along with the MTFS, sets 
the Council’s strategic policy direction. It is approved each year by the Council, 
alongside the MTFS and sets out the vision and values that will guide the Council, 
the priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities we face, and how we 
will demonstrate progress in delivering those priorities.

46. The priorities set out in the strategy are:

 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county
 Building sustainable communities
 Investing in vital services and infrastructure
 Growing our economy
 Creating a council fit for the future

47. The Council Strategy has been updated and is provided as an Appendix 1 to this 
report.  Once approved it will be formatted and published.

F Consultation

48. A formal budget consultation took place between 14th December 2017 and 17th 
January 2018, with the following groups:

 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and
district, town and parish councils

 The general public
 The council’s People’s Panel
 Trade Unions and professional associations

Page 35



- 10 -

 Staff via the usual communication channels
 Schools via the schools forum

49. As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social 
media communications campaign, including Facebook advertising to target hard to 
reach groups.

50. There were 784 responses to the budget consultation. The Council received 183 
comments on social media in direct response to targeted communications.

51. Council Budget

74% of respondents agreed with our draft budget proposals including the 1.99% 
increase in council tax and 2% national adult social care levy.

Overall the comments received supported the council’s budget proposals particularly 
the investment in services for children and young people, our most vulnerable people 
and in our roads and other infrastructure. The main comments on the draft budget 
were:

 Invest in services for the most vulnerable 
 Supportive of proposals 
 More investment in roads and other infrastructure 
 Not enough detail in consultation  - and needs a simplified version of the budget 

to make it easier to comment on  
 Invest in services for children and young people including education 

Other comments to our proposed budget included:
 Disagree with council tax rise
 Invest in services that affect people’s everyday lives
 Lobby for more money from central government

52.Council priorities

The majority of respondents agreed with our draft priorities 

89% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Protecting the most vulnerable in our 
county’

The main comments about this priority were:

 We need to provide more support to vulnerable people, including homeless 
people, to help them build their confidence. There is a need for more day centres 
and respite services. 

 The most vulnerable people, children and families need to be the priority. We 
need to focus on early intervention and making sure that people know that they 
are entitled to receive the right support and services that they need and deserve. 

Page 36



- 11 -

85% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Building sustainable communities’

The main comments about this priority were:

 We should focus on helping communities grow to become thriving communities. 
We can support them by spending money on the basic statutory services eg: a 
reliable joined up public transport service, resource centres, libraries and play 
areas. But this should not come at a cost to the community. 

 Need to define “Sustainable”, and how are you going to achieve this. 

93% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Investing in vital services and 
Infrastructure’

The main comments about this priority were:

 Vital services need ongoing investments to be able to work efficiently and ensure 
they are sustainable. We need to invest more into our roads and footpaths, public 
transport, schools, broadband and in keeping our towns and villages clean

 Infrastructure is key as long as the finances are used in a transparent and 
economic way

86% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Growing our economy’

The main comments about this priority were:

 A strong economy will provide employment and taxes for investment into our 
services; this will encourage businesses to come to Gloucestershire which will 
create more jobs and apprenticeships for young people, creating a better 
standard of living. 

 We need to invest in good infrastructure to help grow our economy and attract 
people/ businesses to stay/move to Gloucestershire. We need to have good 
transport, internet, car parking and affordable homes.

85% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Creating a council fit for the future’. 

The main comments about this priority were:

 Need to define what this means, and how you are going to achieve this.

 We need a council that is looking ahead and planning for the changes that need 
to happen. You need to change the culture in ways of working, such as effective 
contract management. We need to make these changes and address the 
problems we face and use what we already have more efficiently to look at 
promoting new ways of working. 

 We need a strong council that will make positive decisions for the county. We 
need more investment in infrastructure, public transport, better technology 

Page 37



- 12 -

systems, libraries and affordable housing. We need to invest more in 
rural/deprived areas and create a council that works for the public.

53. The detailed results of the budget consultation are attached as Appendix 3.

54. The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also undertaken their own 
budget scrutiny process. They met on 24th January 2018 to agree their report and 
recommendations. The Chair of the OSMC presented the findings of the scrutiny 
process to 31st January Cabinet, which were welcomed, and a copy of the report can 
be found in Appendix 4.

G     Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

55. In July 2017 the Secretary of State announced arrangements for DSG funding 
confirming a National Funding Formula (NFF) would be used to allocate funds to 
local authorities from April 2018.  This included an illustrative NFF allocation before 
the updates for census and other data changes.

56. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation for 2018/19 was then announced by 
the DfE in December 2017 which included the updates for census and other data 
changes. The position for Gloucestershire (including academies) is:

57. This represents an increase of £14.8m (3.5%) from the current 2017/18 DSG of 
£426.9million. The National Funding Formula changes account for £7.0million of the 
increase and the further £7.8million increase reflects the change for 902 additional 
pupils in the October 2017 census and for updates in census and underlying source 
data used for the high needs and early years funding formulas. 

58. The School Forum’s recommended formula for delegation of school budgets for 
2018/19 is shown in Annex 9 of the detailed MTFS.

59. The High Needs budget is under increasing pressure and the latest forecast is an 
overspend of around £1.2million in 2017/18. On this basis DSG balances available to 
support high needs at 31st March 2018 will stand at around £2.1million.

60. A major budget review will be undertaken at the end of January 2018.  The budget 
for 2018/19 and a medium term financial plan will then be presented to the Schools 
Forum in March 2018.  It is inevitable though that there will need to be a further draw 
on DSG balances to support the 2018/19 budget.  The aim is then for the changes 
arising from the High Needs programme to impact from the autumn term so that a 

Page 38



- 13 -

balanced budget can be set for 2019/20.

H 2017/18 Current Financial Position

61. The current outturn forecast for 2017/18, based on December 2017 forecasts, is a 
forecast under spend of £0.036 million. 

62. Full details of this forecast were provided in a separate monitoring report to 31st 
January 2018 Cabinet.

I Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators

63. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
(AIS) are shown in Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS. The Strategy takes account of the 
Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Sector. 

64. The proposed Treasury Management Strategy recommends a change in relation to 
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  In 2015/16 the policy was amended to a 
fixed fee for existing debt, totalling £8.2 million.  Following further review of the 
Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, and discussions with 
the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant Thornton) it 
is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt to £6.2 million, 
releasing £2 million per annum.  This change still allows for a prudent provision for 
the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators are not 
breeched.

65. Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19, including borrowing, debt 
rescheduling, and investments

 Prudential Indicators

 Proposed Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement

 Specified and Non Specified Investment for use by the Council

J Future Years Forecast Budgets

66. The Council’s financial forecasts for 2019/20 and 2020/21 are set out in section N 
and Annex 6 of the detailed MTFS. 

67. These forecasts are only indicative due to the lack of certainty on government 
funding information post 2018/19, especially in relation to grant distribution methods.   

K Reserves 

68. Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to ensure that 
reserves are adequate.  

Page 39



- 14 -

69. A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2018, and 
movements since 31st March 2017 are as follows:

31st March 31st March

2017 2018

£000 £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 112,689   96,166
Earmarked Reserves – School Related   24,483   24,483
General Fund Reserves   19,848   18,553
Total Capital Reserves   78,388   78,388

Total Reserves             235,408         217,590

70. General balances are anticipated to reduce to a level of £18.553 million following 
support to the 2017/18 revenue budget approved by County Council in February 
2017 - this also assumes a balanced revenue outturn position for 2017/18. This 
equates to 4.56% of the 2017/18 net budget. If an over spend occurs in 2017/18 
general fund balances are likely to reduce further.

71. This level of general balances is considered to be a satisfactory level of general 
reserves, being within the target range of 4% to 6%. However given the risks facing 
the council, particularly the potential for an estimated £7 million back dated Sleep In 
allowance following recent case law, it is not recommended to reduce these levels 
further.

72. Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £112.689 million 
as at 31st March 2017, to £96.166 million as at 31st March 2018, a reduction of 
£16.523 million.  It has been assumed that both Schools Related Reserves and 
Capital Reserves will remain at the level of balances held at 31st March 2017.

73. Annex 5 of the detailed MTFS provides a summary of the Earmarked Reserves, 
including all of the proposed and forecast reserve movements during 2017/18.

L Risk Mitigation 

74. In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked reserves will 
fall during 2017/18, the following factors mitigate the risks in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known and 
affordable within the core finance available to the Council, additional costs have 
been built into the proposed 2018/19 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and taken 
into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the 
Council from existing and future liabilities, particularly the financial risk 

Page 40



- 15 -

associated with the backdating of sleep in allowances following recent case law.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a 
series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have 
been put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over 
the last three years, there is inevitably some residual risk.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for 
older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is rising, 
and particularly post Ofsted inspection. Although additional resources are being 
invested in these areas under the proposed 2018/19 budget options, they are 
limited by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the 
Council.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the 
National Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s 
budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block 
Funding has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to 
resolve this issue, if the High Needs block continues to overspend this will be 
initially funded through available DSG balances and further measures would be 
taken to reduce expenditure. Ultimately if these measures were not successful 
then eventually there would be a risk that this liability could fall on the Council.

M Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy

75. It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their risks.  
Identifying risks enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision making, 
service planning and delivery to safeguard the wellbeing of its stakeholders and 
increases the likelihood of achieving its outcomes.  Taking into account the overall 
future strategic direction of the Council, its structure and its services, it is now 
deemed an appropriate time to refresh and reaffirm our Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy, to ensure that the Council’s risk and assurance framework 
continues to build on our existing successes, which reflect national good practice and 
standards. This should enable the Council to effectively manage the potential 
opportunities and threats, thus improving service delivery to our communities.

76. Annex 11 of the detailed MTFS provides the updated Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy for 2018/21, which aligns with the MTFS.  The aims of this 
Strategy are to support the challenges that the Council may face, allowing it to react 
dynamically to changing external circumstances by enabling the Council to handle 
risk effectively and deliver successful outcomes.

N Public Sector Equality Duty 

77. A detailed Due Regard Statement has been produced which summarises the impact 
of the budget proposals on people with protected characteristics and how the impact 
will be mitigated. It also includes the evidence base used and the impact on the 

Page 41



- 16 -

workforce.  A briefing note outlining Councillors responsibilities accompanies the 
agenda for this meeting.

O Conclusion

78. The Strategic Finance Director (the Chief Financial Officer) considers that the budget 
proposals set out by the Cabinet are robust and sustainable, and that the level of 
reserves are sufficient to meet the known risks within the budget, taking account of 
the Councils robust financial management framework.

P Summary of Appendices
Appendix 1 Council Strategy

Appendix 2 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

Appendix 3 Budget Consultation Report

Appendix 4 OSMC Budget Scrutiny Report 

Page 42



- 17 -

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL

1 That the Council Strategy 2018-2019 is approved by Council. 

2 That, having considered the additional consultation responses 
and the Public Sector Equality Duty Due Regard Statement , 
approval is given to the MTFS and the revenue and capital 
budgets for 2018/19, council tax for each valuation band, and 
to issue precepts on each district collection fund as set out 
below:

a) Gloucestershire County Council 2018/19 Budget:

£000

Original 2016/17 Budget 407,702

Inflation 6,725
Cost and spending increases 27,734
Cost Reductions -29,261
Total 412,900 
Less:
Settlement Funding 
Public Health Grant
Improved Better Care Fund
New Homes Bonus
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants
Collection Fund Surplus

93,601
24,271

6,838
3,388
2,003
5,248

Total to be precepted (Council Tax 
Requirement)

277,551

Taxbase Total 
Precept

Total £
Cheltenham            41,745.20  51,438,907 
Cotswold            40,297.79  49,655,392 
Forest of Dean            28,551.32  35,181,259 
Gloucester City            37,254.40  45,905,292 
Stroud            43,539.30  53,649,617 
Tewkesbury            33,858.60  41,720,949 
Total 225,246.61 277,551,416

b That approval is given to the Capital programme set out in 
Annex 8a  of the detailed MTFS, and delegated authority is 
given to the Strategic Finance Director to vary allocations 
between individual schemes in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.

Page 43



- 18 -

3

4

That the Council approves the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19 as set 
out in Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS.

That the Council notes that Gloucestershire was successful in 
becoming a Business Rate Retention pilot in 2018/19 and 
approves the priorities against additional revenue generated for 
GCC being £2.6 million for Children’s Social Care and £2 
million for Adult Social Care.
 

5  That approval is given to the Operational Boundary and 
Authorised Limits of borrowing, as set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy, at Annex 10 in the detailed MTFS 
as follows:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 363.000 380.000 385.000 390.000

Authorised Limit for External Debt

a) Noting that the authorised limit for 2018/19 will 
be the statutory limit determined under section 3 
(1) of the Local Government Act 2003

b) That the approval is given to the Prudential 
Indicators for Treasury Management set out in 
Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS for

(i) Upper limit of fixed interest rate 
exposure of £320 million of net 
outstanding principal sums

(ii) Upper limit of variable rate 
exposure of zero of net outstanding 
principal sums

(iii) the maturity structure of borrowings 
as set out in Annex 10

(iv) the upper limit for principal sums 
invested for more than 364 days of 
£200 million

6 That the Council approves the Schools Funding set out in 
section G and Annex 9 in the detailed MTFS.

7

8

That the Council approves the Risk Management Strategy 
2018/19 as set out in Annex 11 of the detailed MTFS.

That the Council approves the Capital Strategy 2018/19 as set 
out in Annex 7 of the detailed MTFS.

Page 44



- 19 -

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Gloucestershire County Council

Together we can - our Plan for Gloucestershire

 2018/19

1. Foreword by the Leader and the Chief Executive

These continue to be times of significant change for Gloucestershire County Council 
and our partners. Our strategy “Meeting the Challenge: Together we can” is built on 
what our communities told us is important. It has ensured that we are financially 
resilient and able to free up resources to respond to changing need, demand and 
priorities, and it remains relevant today. 

Over the past decade, Gloucestershire County Council has been on an important 
journey. We have been successful in managing our finances well so that we can 
invest in the areas that really matter. We have made improvements to the way we 
work and to the services we provide.  We have tackled the issues we face today and 
are developing plans and solutions for the future. 

In this update – our Plan for Gloucestershire - we reflect the progress we have made 
on the journey so far and set out our response to the new challenges that have 
presented themselves.  

We are planning a major refresh of our strategy in 2018 to guide us into a successful 
and sustainable future.

signatures

Cllr Mark Hawthorne Peter Bungard
Leader Chief Executive

Page 47

Agenda Item 8b



Page 48



2. Introduction 

This plan sets out the County Council’s approach to tackling the many and varied 
future challenges that our county faces.  Some issues are short-term whereas others 
will set a path for the next generation.

Graphic – tackling today’s issues and developing long term sustainable solutions for 
the future  

The plan will outline our priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities we 
face:

 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county
 Building sustainable communities
 Investing in vital services and infrastructure
 Growing our economy
 Creating a council fit for the future

It also sets out the vision and values that will guide our thinking, our priorities for 
addressing the challenges and opportunities we face, and how we will demonstrate 
progress.

Page 49



3. A changing county and population

Gloucestershire is a great place to live, work and do business.  Most local people 
enjoy a high standard of living; and our levels of health and wellbeing are 
comfortably above the average for the country.  Local people are well-educated, 
unemployment is low and Gloucestershire’s economy is strong and resilient.

Our natural environment is incredibly varied with 38 landscape character types, 143 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 3 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which 
covers 51% of the county’s area, as well as nature reserves and other natural 
assets.

However, there are areas of the County where residents’ outcomes fall well below 
national averages and where, as a result, local people are more likely to depend on 
the services we provide in order to meet their needs.  20,000 people (3.4% of the 
county’s population) live in areas amongst the most deprived 10% in England.  

As well as being one of its best assets, the rural nature of the County makes it 
difficult for some people to access the services they need and three out of every 
twenty Gloucestershire households has no access to a car or van. 

Gloucestershire is growing more slowly than England as a whole with a rise of 
approximately 40,900 people since 2005.  The population is also changing. The 
number of older people is predicted to continue to rise sharply over the coming 
years, and the biggest increases will be seen in the number of over-85s.   As this is 

 Gloucestershire has a population of 617,200 
 Since 2005 the population has grown by 7.1% (compared to 8.4% for England & 

Wales 8.4% over the same period). 
 Since 2005 the growth of the older population (aged 65 and above) has outpaced that 

of the younger population (24.3%, compared with 4.9%) 
 Assuming current population trends continue, the population in Gloucestershire will 

reach 657,600 by 2024 and 714,000 by 2039. 
 Although Gloucestershire generally benefits from a high standard of living, 20,946 

people (3.4% of the county population) live in areas that are in the most 10% deprived 
nationally. 

 Manufacturing and health are significant sectors in terms of employment accounting 
for 14.1% and 12.1% of employment respectively

 Gloucestershire has 143 Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 3 Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty which cover 51% of the county’s area 

 Gloucestershire has around 640 Children in Care and the County Council supports 
6,200 adults receiving long term care

 There are 3,326 miles of road within the county
 The council provides a network of 31 libraries and supports local groups to provide a 

further 8 community libraries
 The County Council has 53 councillors and employs 3,145 staff

Page 50



the age group most likely to need support from the Council, this means that health 
and care services need to be ready to respond to greater numbers of people with 
higher levels of health needs.   

Meanwhile, the child population is increasing at a slower rate, yet we will still see 
increases in demand for school places over the next 5 to 10 years, and demand for 
services for vulnerable children is increasing in line with national trends.

Conversely, there is expected to be no growth in the number of working-age adults in 
the County, meaning that, as a proportion of the population as a whole, the number 
of people who are more likely to rely on the Council for support is increasing. 

While these issues are not unique to Gloucestershire, they do pose significant 
challenges. We need to be imaginative about how we deliver services, help people 
to stay healthier longer, build communities that are resilient and provide the help and 
support needed.

Page 51



4. Our vision and values

Our vision is to improve quality of life for 
Gloucestershire people and communities 

Our values

We have updated our values by talking to our staff.  They have come up with five 
descriptions of the kind of organisation they want to work for.  We will be working 
with them over the next few months to bring these to life in terms of and how we 
should all behave. 

 Act with integrity
 Focus on citizens/communities and people
 Proactively challenge
 Respect and value each other
 Be accountable

Page 52



5. Our priorities

5.1 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county

Why is it a priority?

This is our most important responsibility.  Providing support for vulnerable people 
accounts for 38% of our budget.  We will focus on improving outcomes where need 
is the greatest and on providing services that the most vulnerable children, young 
people and adults can rely on.

We are managing demand for services for vulnerable people by adopting an “asset 
based” approach, which means focussing on what people can do to help themselves 
and connecting them with the support that is available to them from their families, 
communities and other networks.  We are encouraging and supporting people to 
choose healthy lifestyles to prevent problems in later life and  focusing  our help on 
those communities most at risk of poor health outcomes.

When people or families need our help our first priority will be to give them focussed, 
short-term support that helps them back to independence, then allows them to get on 
with their lives. 

This approach will allow us to continue to target our resources on providing ongoing 
help for the most vulnerable children, young people and families.  In support of this, 
we will be investing an extra £21m into social care to help the most vulnerable.  

Ofsted has judged our children’s safeguarding services to be inadequate.  They 
identified particular weaknesses in the quality of social work practice, and in the 
levels of drift and delay experienced by children who need our help and protection.  
We have adopted an extensive Improvement Plan (Cabinet 18 September 2017) 
which we are determined will ensure that we can provide and sustain the best 
service possible to vulnerable children and young people within our county.

In adult social care, our programme to help people to stay independent longer is 
working.  Despite a growing population, the number of people needing long-term 
care from the Council has reduced by 15% since 2014.  We will need to work hard 
with our NHS colleagues to sustain these changes.

5.2 Building sustainable communities

Why is it a priority?

Communities are the lifeblood of our county.  The Council recognises it has an 
important role to play in supporting communities.  This has long been the focus of 
elected members as democratically elected champions of their residents. Elected 

Page 53



members help to understand what local communities want and need, and spend time 
dealing with the concerns and issues of their residents. We will encourage parish 
councils and other community organisations to work with us to provide local services 
and build supportive, resilient communities.

We provide a range of community services that benefit the whole population such as 
libraries, youth services, archives, fire & rescue, trading standards and registration of 
births, marriages and deaths.  We will make sure that these services are delivered in 
a way that is sustainable so that we can protect them for future generations.  They 
require some specialist professional skills and support that the Council can bring. 
However, we also recognise the invaluable support that volunteers, charities and 
community groups bring as well as being responsive in tailoring services to local 
circumstances.

Whilst we will always respond to emergencies through the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service, working with ‘blue light’ partners, we are increasingly putting our 
energies into prevention.  GFRS have a vital job in advising and helping to protect 
vulnerable people and this will continue through a new Integrated Risk Management 
Plan. 

We will also put resources directly into the hands of County Councillors so that they 
can respond quickly and easily to priorities and needs that arise on their patch and 
work with their constituents to find creative solutions to the problems they face.

We will continue to work with partners and local groups to provide community based 
support that helps people to remain independent and resilient at times of crisis and 
we will help people to connect to the help that is available within their communities 
wherever possible.

Our asset-based approach still emphasises the role of carers, family and 
communities in helping and will work to make sure that the care we provide links in 
with other forms of support wherever available.

5.3 Investing in vital services and infrastructure

Why is it a priority?

Our services and infrastructure such as the road network, internet access and waste 
disposal are a vital part of everyday life for everyone in the county and for a thriving 
local economy. 

We have a clear long term plan to improve the road network across Gloucestershire. 
We will invest £150m over the next five years – our biggest ever investment in roads. 
We are doing all we can to help UK government push ahead with the £255m 
improvement work on the A417 at Birdlip.  

Page 54



We will deliver superfast broadband to every home by 2021. We have already 
invested over £29m which has brought broadband to over 107,000 homes and 
businesses in the county so far.

5.4 Growing our economy

Why is it a priority?

Economic prosperity is vital for a successful county. We will continue to work with 
partners to invest in Gloucestershire’s future, including attracting external resources 
into the county.

In order to meet the needs of the future population we will make sure that we keep 
and attract the skills that the County is going to need to sustain its workforce and 
drive its economy.  To that end, we will be working with partners across the private 
and public sector to develop and agree a new vision for Gloucestershire in 2050 
which will drive a “big conversation” with the public about our future. 

Alongside that, we are committed to helping the County’s young people to develop 
skills and knowledge.  We will work with local employers to create 5,000 new 
apprenticeships, at least 2,000 of which will be in engineering and secure £100m to 
upgrade local schools, including a brand new secondary school for Cheltenham.

We welcome and support the exciting thinking that is producing new ideas for our 
county for at least a generation ahead.  We will be part of an inclusive conversation 
planned for 2018 to test and develop this vision, and in particular to know that 
today’s young people have shaped their future.

5.5 Creating a council that is fit for the future

Why is it a priority?

As the needs of our people and communities changes, then so must Gloucestershire 
County Council. We have successfully responded to new challenges over the years.  
We must continue to plan ahead for the future, anticipating changes and developing 
new solutions.

Over the past decade, during a period of austerity, the County Council has managed 
its finances well.  We have made savings in excess of £225m, sold 91 council 
buildings in order to pay off Council debt and reduced the headcount of Council staff 
by 40%. We expect to be dealing with a financial gap between service pressures and 

Page 55



available resource for at least the next 3 years.  Our approach first set out as 
“Together we can” is working and will continue to help address future challenge

Through our emphasis on commissioning rather than directly providing, we have 
already brought a more commercial approach and mind-set to the way that we 
develop and procure services. We are exploring options for developing the Council’s 
property portfolio and looking for opportunities to trade a broader range of services to 
other public sector partners.

We will keep council tax rises low, despite tough savings from the government. We 
need to review all areas of service provision in order to make sure that services are 
financially sustainable.  Whilst this will mean making some difficult decisions about 
the services we provide, we will first make sure that we have explored all options and 
done all we can to make them as efficient as possible.  

This will include:

- streamlining and improving processes to eliminate waste
- exploring options to join up with partners at a local level in order to save money  
- using digital technology to reduce costs, including digitising service delivery and 

making self-service options available through web-based technology

Finally, we are investing in our most important asset – our staff. We need the right 
people with the right skills and support so that they can do the jobs that we all rely 
on.

. 

Page 56



6. New Core Dataset performance indicators 

Children’s Safeguarding & Care
Number of families supported through graduated pathway on a MyPlan or My 
Assessment/MyPlan+
Rate of referrals to Social Care per 10,000 under-18 population
% of referrals to Social care that are re-referrals within 12 months for the same reason
% of children whose single assessment is completed within 45 working days
No of Children in Need receiving a service from safeguarding teams (excluding Child 
Protection and Children in Care) 
Rate of Children in Need per 10,000 under-18 population (excluding Child Protection and 
Children in Care)
% of children subject to a Children in Need plan for a 2nd or subsequent time
No. of Children subject of a Child Protection Plan
Rate of Children and Young People per 10,000 subject to a Child Protection plan
% of children subject to a Child Protection plan for a 2nd or subsequent time
% of children with a Child Protection plan which were reviewed within required timescales
Number of Children in Care
Rate of Children in Care per 10,000 under-18 population
% of children admitted to care who have previously been in care (readmissions)
No. of Children in Care in residential settings
Stability of placements of Children in Care: length of placement
Stability of placements of Children in Care: number of moves
% of Children in Care in suitable accommodation
% of Children in Care cases which were reviewed within required timescales
Number of Children Adopted (becoming subject to an adoption order)
Number of children becoming subject to a special guardianship order or a child arrangement 
order
Number of children reunified with their family
Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
% of young people aged 19 who were looked after age 16 who were in suitable 
accommodation
Youth Support & Early Help
Rate of first time entrants to the Youth Justice system (per 100K under-18 population) in 
previous 12months
Rate of proven reoffending by young offenders
Disabled Children & Young People
Total number of disabled children receiving a service with a personal budget
Education Performance & Intervention

Page 57



Percentage of pupils attending good or outstanding primary schools
Percentage of pupils attending good or outstanding secondary schools
Percentage of Children in Care attending good or outstanding schools
Percentage of children on protection plans attending good or outstanding schools
Percentage of children in need attending good or outstanding schools
Number of schools judged as inadequate
Number of children electively home educated
Measure to be developed around Children in Alternative Provision
Percentage of young people aged 16 to 18 years not in education employment or training 
(NEET)
Average daily cost of home to school transport per primary school pupil
Average daily cost of home to school transport per secondary school pupil
Average daily cost of home to school transport per special school pupil
Total average daily cost of home to school transport per pupil
Yearly cost of transport appeals approved 
Percentage of young people aged 19 who were looked after not in employment, education 
or training
Rate of pupils permanently excluded (all pupils) per 10,000
Adult Social Care
Number of  assessments completed
% of ongoing service users who have had a full reassessment of their needs within the last 
12 months
Social Care clients receiving self directed support
Number of adults in reablement/enablement
Number of adults in community care
Number of adults in residential care
Number of adults in nursing care
Number of adults in other care (i.e. preventative)
Total number of carers provided with support
Public Health
% of all Healthy Lifestyles customers who achieve a significant risk factor improvement
% of Healthy Lifestyles customers demonstrating a significant improvement in their mental 
wellbeing score
% live births that receive a face to face new birth visit (NBV) within 7-14 days by a health 
visitor
% of children who received a 1 year check 1 year
Proportion of all opiate users who have left treatment successfully and not represented in 6 
months
Proportion of all non opiate users in treatment, not representing 6 months after completion

Page 58



Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who have left treatment successfully

Trading Standards
Number of complaints/reports of scam activity against vulnerable individuals (includes 
doorstep crime)
Percentage of complaints/reports of scam activity against vulnerable individuals responded 
to within 1 working day
Road Safety
The number of people receiving education
The percentage of people from high risk categories receiving education
The percentage of people who feel more confident following attendance at 
training/education
The number of killed and seriously injured people
The number of killed and seriously injured older people
The number of killed and seriously injured children
Fire & Rescue
The number of safe and well visits undertaken
The percentage of safe and well visits undertaken to those in high risk groups
Percentage of incidents of dwelling fires attended within 8 minutes – Risk Category 1
Number of accidental dwelling fires
Number of deliberate dwelling fires
Passenger Transport
Average cost per single passenger journey on public transport
Cost per journey (community transport journeys)
Number of bus services in receipt of subsidy
Number of community transport bus journeys
Climate Change
Overall Council Carbon Emissions (exc schools) – tonnes of CO2 – broken down by:
Buildings - tonnes
Transport - tonnes
Renewable energy generation from the Council Estate - percentage of total energy 
consumption
Renewable energy generation (kWh) from the Council Estate (inc Schools)
Highways
Cost of structural maintenance per km of road
The number of 28 day defects repaired or made safe:
- the percentage of which are potholes; and
- the overall percentage repaired in time.
Percentage delivery of the annual gulley emptying programme
Percentage of the local authority’s principal roads where maintenance should be considered

Page 59



Percentage of the local authority’s non-principal classified roads where maintenance should 
be considered

Percentage of the unclassified road network where maintenance should be considered
Floods
Percentage of sustainable urban drainage responses made to Local Planning Authorities 
within 21 days
Libraries
Number of borrowers of e-stock
Net Cost per household
Lifelong Learning
Number of learners
Percentage of learners going in to employment or improved employment
Number of apprenticeship starts
Waste
Residual Household waste per household (kgs)
Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting
Percentage of household waste sent to landfill
Total arisings of waste at Household Recycling Centres (tonnes)
Overall residual waste arisings (except HRCs) tonnes
Percentage of municipal waste landfilled
Cost to dispose of landfill waste per household

Customer Services
Total inbound contacts
Total outbound contacts
AMPS
Funds raised (£000) from asset sales (Capital Receipts)
Human Resources
Total number of staff/headcount (excl schools)
Days lost to sickness per FTE (excl schools) 
Strategic Finance
Forecast revenue outturn position (£000)
Total savings (£000) delivered through Meeting the Challenge projects to date
Total in year savings (£000) delivered through Meeting the Challenge Projects
Total end of year savings (£000) forecast through Meeting the Challenge Projects
Legal Services
Number of complaints upheld by the LGO  
Number of complaints upheld by the LGO - maladministration and injustice

Page 60



1

Appendix 2

Gloucestershire 
County Council

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

2018/19 to 2020/21

Budget 2018 /19

Page 61

Agenda Item 8c



2

A Context

1 This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is recommended to County 
Council by Cabinet. It has been prepared using best estimates from available data, 
based on the provisional financial settlement received in December 2017, with the 
final settlement expected early February 2018.  Any amendments required as a result 
of the final financial settlement will be separately notified to County Council.

2 The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2018/19. The budget totals £412.90 
million and is based on a 2.49% Council Tax increase.  In addition, there is the 
continuation of the ‘Adult Social Care precept’ allowing upper-tier authorities to 
increase council tax levels by up to 3% over two years, or 2% over 3 years 
specifically to fund Adult Social Care. The Council has chosen the 2% levy over three 
years, which raises an additional estimated £5.54 million for Adult Social Care 
services in 2018/19.

3 The draft MTFS should be considered in the context of the Council Strategy, which 
sets out the Council’s strategic policy direction.

4 The Council Strategy summarises these high level plans and is supported by a series 
of policy statements that set out our proposals for specific areas in more detail.

5 In the context of the Council Strategy, commissioning intentions for each 
commissioning area are provided in Annex 1. The Annex highlights current 
achievements and future plans in relation to the redesign of services within 
Gloucestershire, which aim to maximise effectiveness whilst delivering on the 
significant financial challenges facing the Council. These detailed narratives cover 
Children and Families (Annex 1.1), Adults (Annex 1.2), Public Health (Annex 1.3) and 
Communities and Infrastructure (Annex 1.4). 

B Council Strategy 2018/19

6 The Council Strategy is the key high-level document that, along with the MTFS, sets 
the Council’s strategic policy direction. It is approved each year by the Council, 
alongside the MTFS and sets out the vision and values that will guide the Council, the 
priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities we face, and how we will 
demonstrate progress in delivering those priorities.

7 The priorities set out in the Strategy are:

 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county
 Building sustainable communities
 Investing in vital services and infrastructure
 Growing our economy
 Creating a council fit for the future

Page 62



3

C Other Consultation

8 A formal budget consultation took place between 14thDecember 2017 to 17th  January 
2018, with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

d is t r ic t ,  town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses
 Schools, via the schools forum 

As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social media 
communications campaign, including Facebook advertising to target hard to reach groups.

There were 784 responses to the budget consultation. The council also received 183 
comments on social media in direct response to targeted communications.

 
9 Council Budget

74% of respondents agreed with our draft budget proposals including the 1.99% 
increase in council tax and 2% national adult social care levy.

Overall the comments received supported the council’s budget proposals particularly 
the investment in services for children and young people, our most vulnerable people 
and in our roads and other infrastructure. The main comments on the draft budget 
were:

 Invest in services for the most vulnerable 

 Supportive of proposals 

 More investment in roads and other infrastructure 

 Not enough detail in consultation  - and needs a simplified version of the 
budget to make it easier to comment on  

 Invest in services for children and young people including education 

Other comments to our proposed budget included:

 Disagree with council tax rise

 Invest in services that affect people’s everyday lives

 Lobby for more money from central government

Page 63



4

10 Council priorities

The majority of respondents agreed with our draft priorities 

89% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Protecting the most vulnerable in our 
county’

The main comments about this priority were:

 We need to provide more support to vulnerable people, including homeless 
people, to help them build their confidence. There is a need for more day 
centres and respite services. 

 The most vulnerable people, children and families need to be the priority. We 
need to focus on early intervention and making sure that people know that they 
are entitled to receive the right support and services that they need and 
deserve. 

85% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Building sustainable communities’

The main comments about this priority were:

 We should focus on helping communities grow to become thriving 
communities. We can support them by spending money on the basic statutory 
services eg: a reliable joined up public transport service, resource centres, 
libraries and play areas. But this should not come at a cost to the community. 

 Need to define “Sustainable”, and how are you going to achieve this. 

93% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Investing in vital services and 
Infrastructure’

The main comments about this priority were:

 Vital services need ongoing investments to be able to work efficiently and 
ensure they are sustainable. We need to invest more into our roads and 
footpaths, public transport, schools, broadband and in keeping our towns and 
villages clean

 Infrastructure is key as long as the finances are used in a transparent and 
economic way

86% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Growing our economy’

The main comments about this priority were:

 A strong economy will provide employment and taxes for investment into our 
services; this will encourage businesses to come to Gloucestershire which will 
create more jobs and apprenticeships for young people, creating a better 
standard of living. 

Page 64



5

 We need to invest in good infrastructure to help grow our economy and attract 
people/businesses to stay/move to Gloucestershire. We need to have good 
transport, internet, car parking and affordable homes.

85% of respondents agreed with the priority ‘Creating a council fit for the future’

The main comments about this priority were:

 Need to define what this means, and how you are going to achieve this.

 We need a council that is looking ahead and planning for the changes that 
need to happen. You need to change the culture in ways of working, such as 
effective contract management. We need to make these changes and address 
the problems we face and use what we already have more efficiently to look at 
promoting new ways of working. 

 We need a strong council that will make positive decisions for the county. We 
need more investment in infrastructure, public transport, better technology 
systems, libraries and affordable housing. We need to invest more in 
rural/deprived areas and create a council that works for the public

11 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee have also undertaken their own 
budget scrutiny process. They met on 24th January 2018 to agree their report and 
recommendations. This report was circulated to Cabinet and the chair of OSMC was 
invited to present the report to Cabinet on 31st January 2018. 

D Finance Settlement and Funding Assumptions

12 The funding environment for local authorities is increasingly complex.  Cuts in 
government grant have been a feature of the settlement, and indications are that 
these are set to continue to the end of the Current Spending Review (CSR) in 
2019/20.  In 2016/17 central government made an offer to local authorities, which 
included details of the settlement for four years (over the CSR period), instead of just 
one year.  This increased the certainty of the main funding streams and the 
allocations.  The Council accepted this offer as a minimum funding offer, signing up 
to the four-year deal.  The budget for 2018/19 has been based on the figures the 
Council signed up to, which were honoured in the 2018/19 provisional settlement in 
December 2017 and are expected in remain unchanged with the final 2018/19 
settlement which is expected in early February 2018. 

13 On 19th December 2017, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government announced the provisional local government settlement for 2018/19. 
The announcement included the following headline proposals over the remaining life 
of the Spending Review Period:

 Increased council tax referendum principle from 2% to 3% for 2018-19, with the 
maximum £5 increase maintained for district councils.

 Confirmation of the continuation of the ASC precept including the additional 

Page 65



6

flexibility to raise the precept to 3% this year but by no more than 6% over the 17-
18 to 19-20 period.

 Announcement of the Government’s “aim” to localise 75% of business rates from 
2020-21 and implementation of the new needs assessment.

 Consultation in the spring on “fair and affordable options” to tackle negative RSG 
in 2019-20.

 In addition to those already announced; ten 100% business rates retention pilots 
were accepted for 2018-19 including Gloucestershire 

 No continuation of Transition Grant. 

 £946m paid nationally in New Homes Bonus.  Further reduction in the number of 
payment years from 5 years in 2017-18, to 4 years in 2018-19. NHB will continue 
to be paid on housing growth above 0.4% (0.4% in 2017-18). No further changes, 
as consulted on, in 2018-19.

 Savings from the New Homes Bonus in 2017-18 were allocated to local 
authorities as the £241m Adult Social Care Support Grant. Nothing announced for 
the 2018-19 savings. 

 Continuation of capital receipts flexibilities for a further 3 years.

 The expected Green Paper for Adult Social Care will be published in summer 
2018. 

 2018/19 and indicative 2019-20 Public Health Grants were announced in 
December 2017, confirming MTFS assumptions.  

Financial Settlement

14 The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, 
business rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services 
through fees and charges.  

15 The main un-ringfenced grants received from central government that form the 
settlement are Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Business Rate Top Up Grant, 
(which is part of the Business Rates Retention Scheme funding (BRR)).  The BRR 
Scheme was introduced from 2013/14. The Scheme allows the Council to retain 
some of the business rates raised locally. The business rate yield is divided equally 
between central and local government. The Council’s share of the locally retained 
element is 20%. The Top Up grant is received in order to protect upper tier services.

16 Under the latest proposals, by the end of the CSR period in 2019/20, RSG will have 
reduced by 84%, whilst Top Up grant remains relatively stable increasing in line with 
CPI, the Council’s share of business rate yield is forecast to rise in line with CPI.

Other Funding Streams

Page 66



7

17 In addition to the main un-ringfenced grants received, the Council also receives a 
number of other grants, which central government include in their presentation of 
Core Spending Power of local authorities.  These include:

 Public Health Grant
Public Health funding is expected to reduce by 3.9% in real terms to 2019/20 and 
following an announcement in March 2017, ring fencing was extended into 
2018/19. The Council has forecast a reduction of around 2.5% for 2018/19, and 
figures have been announced as £24.271 million in line with expectations.

 Improved Better Care Fund
The CSR announced an additional £1.5 billion for Adult Social Care by 2019/20 
through the Improved Better Care Fund.  From 2018/19 the Council will receive 
£6.8 million, which forms part of the overall budget of the Council for 2018/19.  
The Council continues to work closely with Health partners to facilitate more 
integrated working between health and social care. 

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward 
councils for new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into use.  
This provided match funding for each new property, originally for six years, but 
now reduced to four years plus a bonus for each affordable home.  The Council’s 
allocation of grant reduced by around 10% in 2017/18, and expectations were that 
it would reduce by a further 27% to £3 million for 2018/19.  However, the 
allocation announced with the provisional 2018/19 settlement was higher than 
expected, giving the Council additional income of £0.431 million, bringing the total 
allocation to £3.4 million.

18 Well over half of the Council’s funding now comes from Council Tax. The general 
Council Tax referendum limit for local authorities general fund (excluding the Adult 
Social Care Levy) was increased to 3% with the provisional settlement 
announcement.  Based on current forecasts on council taxbase this could raise an 
additional £2.6 million for 2018/19. The budget for 2018/19 proposes to raise council 
tax by 2.49%, taking advantage of half of this increase, and generates estimated 
income of £6.46 million and the Adult Social Care Levy of 2% which generates an 
estimated £5.19m (both these amounts are calculated excluding the impact of any 
increase in the taxbase).  These Council Tax increases help to mitigate the impact of 
the reduction in government grants outlined above and funding pressures on council 
services. 

19 Following dialogue with the district councils additional funding has been built into the 
base budget for a 2.3% increase in the tax base for the county. Once this is added to 
the taxbase the revenue gained by a proposed tax increase outlined above rises.  
The Council gains £5.54 million from the ASC levy, (£5.19 million tax 2% increase 
plus £0.35 million taxbase uplift), and £12.39m from the general council tax increase 
(£6.46 million 2.49% council tax increase plus £5.92 million taxbase uplift).   An 
estimated surplus of over £5.25 million on the Collection Fund is also assumed.  

20 Alongside the settlement there are other significant changes that impact on local 
government, that are affecting the financial forecasts for the Council.  This includes 
the proposed move to 100% BRR, Business Rate Pilot application and the Fair 

Page 67



8

Funding Review.

100% BRR and Business Rate Pilots

21 The Local Government Finance Bill was published on 13th January 2017.  Its main 
purpose was to put in place the framework for 100% BRR.  However, with the 
General Election in June 2017 this Bill was withdrawn, and was not mentioned in any 
subsequent publications.

Then on the 1st September 2017 the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) published an “Invitation to local authorities to pilot 100% 
business rates retention in 2018/19 and to pioneer new pooling and tier-split models,” 
with a deadline of 27th October 2017.  Extensive modelling work was undertaken by 
the council and the six district councils supported by an external consultant which 
reviewed the risks and benefits and resulted in a bid to DCLG.  In the event the bid is 
successful it could result in a one off financial benefit in 2018/19 for all seven 
councils.  Further detail is available in the November Budget Monitoring report, which 
authorised the Strategic Finance Director, in consultation with the Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to commit Gloucestershire County 
Council to entering into the pilot for 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/2019 
for Gloucestershire in the event the bid to DCLG is successful.

22 DCLG announced successful pilots in December 2017 alongside the provisional 
financial settlement. Gloucestershire’s bid was successful, and indications 
announced at the time were that this is worth an additional £9.2 million to 
Gloucestershire as a whole.  The bid was based on;-
 20% to an already established and effective Strategic Economic Development 

Fund (set up under existing pool arrangements and managed by the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee comprising all seven 
Gloucestershire Councils and the GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership).

 30% to the 6 District Councils for financial resilience (stability and sustainability) 
and growth initiatives specific to their individual areas

 50% to the County Council for financial resilience (stability and sustainability) 
and growth initiatives

23 Working on the basis that the Council’s share for sustainability is 50%, this gives the 
Council one off funding of potentially £4.6 million.  It should be noted that this is a 
best estimate of the rates collection forecast and business rates collected may be 
more or less than this.  Extensive modelling was carried out at the time our 
submission was submitted based on latest forecasts and appeals data. The pilot 
does not form part of the Core Spending Assessment for the Council and is only for 
one year therefore the sum is not built into the MTFS.  

24 However, it is clear that this will generate additional revenue therefore the Cabinet 
propose that the priorities for this additional revenue will be Children’s Social Care 
(£2.6 million) and Adults Social Care (£2 million).

The Gloucestershire Pool

25 The Council entered into a pooling agreement with all six district councils in the 
county in 2013/14. The reason for this was to retain a larger proportion of additional 

Page 68



9

business rate income within the county, as a result of paying a lower levy on growth, 
above the baseline, to central government to support council services and economic 
growth.

26 In the first year of operation, 2013/14, the Pool reported a surplus, however in 
2014/15 the Pool suffered a loss due to the impact of backdated appeals on rateable 
values and, in particular, the successful backdated appeal by Virgin Media, the 
largest valued business in Tewkesbury.  An improved position was reported in 
2015/16 and 2016/17 with the Pool once again in a surplus.  Latest modelling 
forecasts a surplus for 2017/18.  

27 As the 100% BRR bid to DCLG has been successful, the current arrangement for the 
Pool will cease for the year, and will be resurrected in 2019/20.

Fair Funding Review

28 The technical consultation on the fair funding review was published alongside the 
provisional local government provisional financial settlement on the 19th December, 
running until 12th March 2018.

29 The current system of annual funding allocations is very complex involving over 120 
indicators of need, which reflect historical factors that have been identified as driving 
costs of service delivery.  The National Fair Funding Review is therefore reviewing 
the underlying needs formula and distribution methodology used, to simplify the 
model with common cost drivers such as population, sparsity and deprivation, which 
are relevant, objective, distinct, stable and future proof.    

30 The Council will review and feed back as necessary on this consultation.  Of 
particular importance will be “transition” (or damping) arrangements that are put in 
place, so that authorities can develop financial plans with some knowledge of the 
potential “worst-case” scenario.  The design of this “transition” is going to be crucial, 
as well as the amount and timing of transition allowed. 

E Revenue Budget Proposal 2018/19

31 The following table shows the changes since the Cabinet report in December 2017:

Detail £m
Additional NHB grant 0.431
Additional 0.5% Council Tax 1.328
Additional Taxbase linked to Council Tax 1.618
Additional Taxbase linked to ASC Council Tax 0.109
Additional Council Tax Surplus Declared (one off 
funding)

2.249

TOTAL 5.735

32 The proposed revenue budget for 2018/19 totals £412.90 million, a net increase of 
£5.2 million from 2017/18. This is made up of £34.46 million of investment in services 
offset by £29.26 million of savings and efficiencies. These investments and savings 
are detailed in annex 2.

Page 69



10

33 The following changes have been made to the budget proposal for 2018/19:

 Children & Families – The Vulnerable Children’s budget has been increased by 
£5.01 million to enable the Council to deliver high quality safeguarding and care 
services to vulnerable children and young people in Gloucestershire. This is made 
up of additional investment in the Children’s Safeguarding Service of £3.89 
million, which will enable us to build a new Children’s Social Care service. We 
have seen demand for children’s social care services increase over the last year 
with a 17% increase in referrals and a 35% increase in the number of children 
subject to a child protection plan, in addition we need to strengthen our social 
work practice following an inadequate OFSTED in 2017. The funding will be used 
to recruit more social workers to manage demand, enable us to recruit and retain 
experienced and qualified social workers through a revised career progression 
pathway, develop smaller teams to support quality of practice and decision 
making and additional administrative support so that social workers can focus on 
direct work with families. There is also an additional one-off funding sum of £1.12 
million to support the implementation of the Ofsted Improvement Plan, requiring 
additional senior management capacity, quality assurance and additional 
corporate support. 

 The Adult Social Care Levy additional funded budget has been increased by 
£0.123 million following changes to the reported tax base for District Councils.

 An additional £0.6 million has been added to the pay inflation provision in order to 
support a 2% pay award across all service areas.

34 In addition to the increases outlined above the starting budget for individual services 
(shown in Annexes 2 and 3) has been realigned to reflect permanent budget 
transfers occurring in 2017/18. 

35 The Council also receives a number of specific grants, and as yet confirmations are 
outstanding on these, with updates expected with the final settlement in February 
2018.  The latest position is as follows:-

Page 70



11

Actuals Forecast
2017/18 2018/19

£’000 £’000

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 251,456 257,997
Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG) 37,287 37,995
Pupil Premium Grant 12,134 12,283
Primary School PE and Sport Funding 2,898 2,898
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 5,628 5,628
Adult and Community Learning 2407 2067
Music Service 794 795
SEN Implementation 417 417
Adoption Support Fund 739 0
Youth Justice Board - Remands 43 43
Youth Justice Board 480 480
Staying Put 260 260
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers 580 765
Firelink Grant 224 224
New Dimension  Service and Maintenance Grant 36 58
Emergency Services Mobile Communication
Prorgramme (ESMCP) 202 1,048

The Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 4875 4875
Extended Rights to Free Travel 422 422
Independent Living Fund 945 945
Local Reform and Community Voices 345 345
Sixth Form Funding 2,006 2,006
School Improvement Grant 426 426
Additional Social Care Funding 10,598 7,176
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR 1148 1148

Total Ringfenced Grant 336,350 340,301

Ringfenced Revenue Grants, not included in 
Base Funding

36 In addition to the permanent investments within the 2018/19 budget proposals also 
include a number of one-off investments funded from the Transformation Reserve. 
The one-off proposals are

 £1.59 million - Growing Our Communities Fund  
Building on the success of the three grant programmes; Active Together, Healthy 
Together and the Children’s Activity Fund this proposal takes the learning from 
the running of these three programmes from 2014 – 2017. The evaluation and 
feedback from stakeholders revealed the following benefits of a small grants 
programme:

It helped to foster good relationships and mutual trust between the Council and 
the Voluntary & Community Sector.  Members were pivotal to the success of the 
programme by adopting a light touch approach.  The Council has built many 
positive relationships with local charities and social enterprises who appreciated 
the flexibility the grants gave them to help meet local needs without too many 
strings attached.

Page 71



12

The grants have encouraged and inspired the development of local solutions.
Small grants can lever in additional funding and help to grow volunteer capacity 
thus increasing community resilience.  Many projects harnessed existing skills 
and knowledge within the community to deliver their outcomes.

Recognising that these programmes will finish at the end of 2017/18 the MTFS 
proposes a Growing our Communities Fund 2018 – 2021, which is a member led 
communities grant programme.  The purpose of the fund is to launch a grants 
programme that invests in Active Communities by supporting projects and 
activities that will make a positive difference to local communities. This light touch 
support to community initiatives would aim to:

 contribute to identifying and reduce social isolation;
 develop self supporting community hubs;
 support digital/virtual support networks
 promote healthy lifestyles 
 Support safer neighbourhoods

 
The proposed £1.590 million reflects a sum of £30,000 being available to each 
councillor over a three year period (2018/19 to 2020/21) to fund community based 
investments as described above.

 £0.53 million - Lengthsman Scheme 
Following the success of the Lengthsman scheme and additional one off funding in 
2017/18, the MTFS proposes an additional one off £0.53 million in 2018/19 to 
continue the scheme after which it will become incorporated into the new 
Highways contract.

 £2.74 million - A417 Reserve
Given the Cabinet’s commitment to the £4 million support to the A417 highways 
safety improvement work, a further £2.74 million is proposed to be added to the 
A417 Reserve to create the total funding commitment of £4.0 million.  

37 A summary of this draft budget is provided below. This excludes the proposed one off 
investments to be funded from Reserves.

Page 72



13

Overall Budget

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2018/19 Budget  

Budget Area

2017/18 
Revised Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 132,104 -11,561 12,629 133,172 1,068 0.81%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 57,408 0 16,288 73,696 16,288 28.37%

Children and Families- Other Services 29,760 -891 359 29,228 -532 -1.79%

Communities and Infrastructure 78,014 -527 2,409 79,896 1,882 2.41%

Business Support 26,115 -666 2,468 27,917 1,802 6.90%

Technical and Corporate 59,389 -14,975 306 44,720 -14,669 -24.70%

Total GCC 382,790 -28,620 34,459 388,629 5,839 1.53%

Public Health 24,912 -641 24,271 -641 -2.57%

Total Budget 407,702 -29,261 34,459 412,900 5,198 1.27%

38 The 2018/19 draft budget is funded as follows:

£000

Original 2017/18 Budget 407,702

Inflation 6,725
Cost and spending increases 27,734

Cost Reductions -29,261
Total 412,900
Less:
Settlement Funding 93,601
Public Health Grant 24,271
Improved Better Care Fund 6,838
New Homes Bonus 3,388
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 2,003
Collection Fund Surplus 5,248
Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 277,551
Council Tax at band D = £1,232.21

39 The proposed budget for 2018/19 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including estimates for unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (2%) and increases 
in demand led services.  In addition the proposed budget includes funding for key 
Administration priorities and additional funding for Children & Families following 
the recent OFSTED inspection. 

Page 73



14

F Financial Performance in 2017/18

40 The current forecast of the year end revenue position, based on actual expenditure 
at the end of November 2017 and forecasts made in December 2017 is an 
overspend of £0.036 million. (0.01% of the budget), a movement of £0.250 million 
since the last report in December 2017.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of November 2017

 
Variance

2017/18 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance %

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Change in 
variance Service Area

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000
       
Adults 145,230 145,230 0 0.0% -420 420 
       
       
Public Health 24,912 24,912 0 0.0% 0 0 
       
       
Children & Families 98,205 104,474 6,269 6.4% 6,339 -70 
       
       
Communities & 
Infrastructure

88,806 88,806 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Business Support 
Services

26,388 26,388 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Support Services 
Recharges

-26,408 -26,408 0 0.0% 0 0 

       
       
Total for Services 357,133 363,402 6,269 1.8% 5,919 350 
       
       
Technical & Corporate 50,569 44,336 -6,233 -12.3% -6,133 -100 
       
       
Total 407,702 407,738 36 0.01% -214 250 
       

41 Further  details  of  the  forecast  year  end  position  can  be  found  in  the  
Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18 presented to Cabinet 31st January 2018. 

Page 74



15

G Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

42 In July 2017 the Secretary of State announced arrangements for DSG funding in 
2018/19 and 2019/20 (apart from early years which was not announced until 
December 2017), confirming a National Funding Formula (NFF) would be used to 
allocate funds to local authorities for both the schools block and high needs block 
elements of the DSG from April 2018, and an additional £1.3 billion nationally 
would be spent on schools over the next two years.

43 In order to provide stability the announcement stated no local authority will see a 
reduction in its cash allocation for the high needs block or it’s per pupil allocation 
for the schools block.

44 A new Central School Services Block (CSSB) has been created by the 
Department for Education (DfE) by moving funds from the existing Schools Block 
of the DSG. This will cover the Local Authority statutory responsibilities for both 
maintained schools and academies.

45 The impact on Gloucestershire’s DSG (excluding early years) as a result of the 
NFF changes is an overall increase of 1.76% in 2018/19 and a further increase of 
0.98% in 2019/20 when compared to the 2017/18 DSG baseline. The change 
across the individual DSG blocks is shown below:

46 A revised dataset based on the October 2017 school census was issued by the 
DfE along with the announcement of the DSG for each authority for 2018/19. The 
impact of the further announcements on the DSG are shown below: 

Page 75



16

47 This represents an increase of £14.8m (3.5%) from the current 2017/18 DSG of 
£426.9m. The previously announced National Funding Formula changes account 
for £7.0m of the increase and the further £7.8m increase reflects the change for 
902 additional pupils in the October 2017 census and for updates in census and 
underlying source data used for the high needs and early years funding formulas. 

48 Although the final schools block (before any recoupment for  academies) has now 
been confirmed by the DfE, the final high needs block will not be confirmed until 
the end of March 2018 after further information on high needs places has been 
collected. The final early years block will not be confirmed until April 2019 after it 
has been updated for the January 2019 pupil count.

School Block Funding

49 In September 2017 final decisions on the NFF were made by the DfE. Further 
information on the NFF and methods local authorities can use for allocating funds 
to schools have also subsequently been provided by the DfE and Education and 
Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) through regional meetings, at the national fair 
funding conference and  through ESFA workshops. The key announcements from 
these were:

 The NFF will be implemented in 2018/19 as planned. It will be used as a 
method of allocating funds to local authorities (not direct to schools). There 
will be local discretion on the formula for 2018/19 and 2019/20 so local 
authorities along with their schools forum will determine the allocations to 
individual schools in those years.

 The additional £1.3 billion nationally has been used in the NFF to:

o Increase the baseline amount per pupil for all schools by 0.5% in each 
of the two years.

o Increase the basic amount per pupil for both primary and secondary 
schools

o Introduce a new minimum allocation per pupil factor.

 The minimum per pupil element has been set at £3,300 for primary schools in 
2018/19 and £3,500 in 2019/20.  The minimum per pupil for secondary 
schools is £4,600 in 2018/19 and £4,800 in 2019/20.

 The minimum funding guarantee can be determined locally at any rate 
between +0.5% and -1.5%.

 The schools forum can agree a transfer from the schools block to the high 
needs block of up to 0.5% of the schools block value but there must be full 
consultation with schools.

 There will not be a looked after children factor in the schools NFF and the 
government is therefore putting extra funding into the pupil premium plus 
allocation which as a consequence will increase to £2,300 in 2018/19.

Page 76



17

 The DfE and ESFA have confirmed that it will not be possible for local 
authorities to replicate the NFF when they allocate funds to schools for the 
following reasons:

o The NFF is illustrative only based on October 16 census data.  Funds 
issued to schools in 2018/19 will be based on October 2017 census 
data. The DfE have confirmed that although they will adjust NFF 
allocations to local authorities for overall pupil number changes in 
primary and secondary, they will not be rebase lining the NFF in 
2018/19 or 2019/20 for any other changes.

o Some of the NFF Funding is required to meet the full year effect of 
lump sums and varied pupil numbers in the new schools that opened in 
2017/18, along with any changes in factors such as rates and rents 
which are being funded by the DfE on a historic basis. 

o There will need to be a local capping arrangement to meet the cost of 
the Minimum Funding Guarantee for schools and to balance to the 
schools block funding received.

o The ESFA have issued an Authority Proforma Tool (APT) that local 
authorities have to use in 2018/19 to allocate funds to schools. The 
calculations in the ESFA’s APT are different to those used by the DfE 
in the NFF.

50 The Schools Forum have recommended that the school funding formula for 
2018/19 should be calculated using the following methodology:

 Ensure all schools receive a minimum 0.5% per pupil increase in 2018-19 
compared to their baselines by setting the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) 
at plus 0.5%.

 Apply the DfE minimum per pupil rates quoted for 2018/19 at £3,300 Primary 
and £4,600 Secondary.

 Apply all the NFF factors and data provided by the DfE.
 Use the NFF factor rates quoted by the DfE.
 Set the Cap at a level that both covers the MFG cost and enables the schools 

block budget to be balanced.
 Use the APT provided by the ESFA to calculate the final allocations to 

schools.

51 The School Forum’s recommended formula for delegation of school budgets for 
2018/19 is shown in Annex 9.

52 There is a requirement to submit the final 2018/19 schools formula to the DfE for 
approval by 19th January 2018, and then issue budgets to schools by 28th 
February 2018.

High Needs Block Funding

53 The High Needs budget is under huge pressure. The latest forecast is an 
overspend of around £1.2m in 2017/18. On this basis, DSG balances available to 
support high needs at 31st March 2018 will stand at around £2.1m.

Page 77



18

54 A major budget review will be undertaken at the end of January 2018.  The 
budget for 2018/19 and a medium term financial plan will then be presented to the 
Schools Forum in March 2018.  It is inevitable though that there will need to be a 
further draw on DSG balances to support the 2018/19 budget.  The aim is then for 
the changes arising from the High Needs programme to impact from the autumn 
term so that a balanced budget can be set for 2019/20.

Early Years Block

55 The Early Years National Funding Formula (EYNFF) was announced by the DfE 
and implemented from April 2017. The initial total for the Early Years block for 
2018/19 is £33.186m and includes the Early Years pupil premium and the 
disability access fund. The total will be updated following the 2018 and 2019 
census. The increase in the funding of £3.126m relates to the full year effect of 
the additional 15 hours entitlement for eligible working parents which began in 
September 2017.

56 The Early Years regulations limit the cost of central services to 5% in 2018/19, 
reduced from 7% in 2017/18. Schools Forum has agreed to the budget for central 
costs being set at the maximum level (circa £1.6m). This will continue to fund an 
element of Children and family hubs, Early Years quality team, nursery payment 
administration and supporting overheads.

Central School Services Block (CSSB)

57 The CSSB for 2018/19 is £2.568m and is based on a national average unit of 
funding of £32.41 with 90% based on per pupil funding and 10% on a deprivation 
factor. The unit of funding is then multiplied by the number of mainstream pupil 
numbers on the October 2017 census, which for Gloucestershire was 79,239 
pupils.

58 The national rate would have resulted in a 4.1% reduction but this has been 
protected to 2.5% in 2018/19 resulting in a reduction of £34k next year.

59 These funds cover the following costs:

Central School Services Block £m
Copyright 0.461
Schools Forum 0.127
Admissions Coordination 0.750
Centrally Retained Duties 1.230
TOTAL 2.568

H Council Tax

60 The Council’s current 2017/18 Band D Council Tax is £1,179.26, including the 
Adult Social Care Precept.  For 2018/19 it is proposed that Council Tax will 
increase by 2.49% plus an additional 2% the Adult Social Care Precept.

Page 78



19

61 Forecast Council Tax levels for each band are shown below.

Band 2017/18 2018/19 Increase
£ £ £

A £786.17 £821.47 £35.30
B £917.20 £958.39 £41.19
C £1,048.23 £1,095.30 £47.07
D £1,179.26 £1,232.21 £52.95
E £1,441.32 £1,506.03 £64.71
F £1,703.38 £1,779.86 £76.48
G £1,965.43 £2,053.68 £88.25
H £2,358.52 £2,464.42 £105.90

Nearly two-thirds of households are in Bands A, B or C.

I The Robustness of the Budget Proposals

62 The MTFS and proposed detailed budget for 2018/19 have been formulated in 
accordance with the medium term financial planning framework and budget 
principles as detailed in Annex 4.

63 The starting point for producing the MTFS for the next three years, and the 
detailed budget proposals for 2018/19, is the 2017/18 MTFS.

64 The proposed 2018/19 budget, and future years’ budgets, also takes into account 
forecast funding changes, new unavoidable commitments, changes in legislation 
and Administration priorities. 

J Flexible Use of Capital Receipts

65 As part of the local government settlement for 2016/17 Government announced 
greater flexibility for council’s in how they make use of capital receipts.  Councils 
were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for repaying debt or funding 
further capital spend.  The rules now allow new capital receipts to be used to fund 
the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to generate ongoing 
revenue savings in the delivery of public services and /or to transform service 
delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  Plans 
for utilising capital receipts in this way need to be approved by County Council, 
incorporated in the Council’s Efficiency Statement, and progress reported on an 
annual basis to DCLG.  

66 The proposed budget 2018/19 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in 
this way during 2018/19 financial year.  However, given the expected size and 
scale of the transformation programme required to balance the budget over the 
coming years, it is likely the facility to use capital receipts in this flexible manner 
will be required in future.

67 When developing and adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy the 
impact on the Council’s Prudential Indictors would be carefully considered.   

Page 79



20

K Council’s Financial Standing and Risks

68 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to ensure 
that reserves are adequate. During 2017/18 all reserves have been examined in 
detail.

69  A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2018, and 
movements since 31st March 2017 are as follows:

31st March 31st March 

2017 2018

£000 £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 112,689   96,166
Earmarked Reserves – School Related   24,483   24,483
General Fund Reserves   19,848   18,553
Total Capital Reserves   78,388   78,388

Total Reserves   235,408    217,590

70 General balances are anticipated to reduce to a level of £18.553 million, following 
support to the 2017/18 revenue budget approved by County Council in February 
2017. This also assumes a balanced revenue outturn position for 2017/18. This 
equates to 4.56% of the 2017/18 net budget. If an over spend occurs in 2017/18, 
general fund balances are likely to reduce further.

71 This is considered to be a satisfactory level of general reserves, being within the 
target range of 4% to 6%.  However given the risks facing the council, particularly 
the potential for an estimated £7 million back dated Sleep-In allowance following 
recent case law, it is not recommended to reduce these levels further.

72 Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £112.689 
million as at 31st March 2017, to £96.166 million as at 31st March 2018, a 
reduction of £16.523 million.  It has been assumed that both Schools Related 
Reserves and Capital Reserves will remain at the level of balances held at 31st 
March 2017.

73 Annex 5 provides further detail on the Earmarked Reserves, including all of the 
proposed and forecast reserve movements during the year.

Page 80



21

L Strategic Finance Director (Section 151 Officer) Review of the Budget

74 The level of General Reserves needs to reflect the risks the Council is facing. 
These risks will depend upon the robustness of the budgets, the adequacy of 
budgetary control and external factors such as inflation and interest rates. Other 
specific risks include the pay cap exceeding 2% and the potential backdating of 
sleep-in payments. 

75 In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked reserves 
will fall during 2017/18, the following factors mitigate the risks in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known and 
affordable within the core finance available to the Council, additional costs have 
been built into the proposed 2018/19 budget.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered in preparing the budget and taken 
into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council 
from existing and future liabilities, particularly the financial risk associated with the 
backdating of sleep In allowances following recent case law.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a 
series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have 
been put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over 
the last three years, there is inevitably some residual risk.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for 
older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is rising, 
and particularly post Ofsted inspection. Although additional resources are being 
invested in these areas under the proposed 2018/19 budget options, they are 
limited by the core funding and local taxation alternatives available to the Council.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the new 
National Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s 
budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block 
Funding has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to resolve 
this issue, if the High Needs block continues to overspend this will be initially 
funded through available DSG balances and further measures would be taken to 
reduce expenditure. Ultimately if these measures were not successful then 
eventually there would be a risk that this liability could fall on the Council.

76 On the basis of the above, the Strategic Finance Director’s advice is that the level 
of reserves, following the movements indicated earlier, are adequate, the financial 
standing of the Council is sound in the context of the key risks, and that the 
proposed budget is robust and achievable.

Page 81



22

M Public Sector Equality Duty

77 A detailed Due Regard Statement has been produced which summarises the 
impact of the budget proposals on people with protected characteristics and how 
the impact will be mitigated. It also includes the evidence base used and the 
impact on the workforce.  A briefing note outlining Councillors responsibilities will 
accompany the agenda for this meeting.

N Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget 

78 The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2018/19 to 2020/21. The 
proposed detailed budget for 2018/19 is set out within the MTFS, whilst the 
current draft forecast budgets for 2019/20 and 2020/21 are:

2019/20 2020/21
£m £m

Budget 423.52 426.28
88883
921.779 Annex 6 gives outline financial proposals for 2019/20 and 2020/21, and will be 

updated as further information becomes available.

O Capital Strategy 2018-19 & Beyond

80 The Council’s capital strategy is an overarching strategy that supports business 
plans.

81 It reflects the vision of the Council and aspirations of local people for service delivery 
and recognises the potential for others to contribute ideas and resources, through 
consultation with stakeholder groups. It also determines the priorities between the 
various services and looks for opportunities for crosscutting and joined-up 
investment.

82 The capital strategy is a vehicle for achieving the goals and priorities of the 
organisation.

83 The proposed capital programme has been developed in accordance with the 
Capital Strategy which is set out in Annex 7.

P Capital Expenditure

84 The proposed capital programme is set out in Annex 8a, with details of the 
financing of this programme being provided at the start of this Annex.

85 The capital programme provides total investment in the county totalling £504.00 
million.  The main investment relates to Communities and Infrastructure (£266.92 
million), Schools and facilities for children (£153.66 million) Business Support 
(£58.94 million) and Adults (£24.47 million).  Consistent with the Council’s priority 
to reduce the level of long term debt, and the impact of interest and capital 
repayments on the revenue budget, the capital programme for 2018/19 is largely 
“capped” at the level of developer contributions, capital grants received and 
revenue contributions from capital financing budgets with internal borrowing only 
being used for key administration priorities.

Page 82



23

86 The above figures exclude the Renewable Energy Generation - Solar Farm 
scheme under which the Council was to finance the design, build and operation of 
medium-scale ground-mounted solar Photovoltaic (PV) generation facilities on a 
number of sites. The scheme was originally approved in February 2015 funded 
from internal borrowing, subject to further detailed evaluation. 

87 Due to Government changes to renewable energy subsidies (feed in tariffs) the 
sites approved are not currently financially viable and therefore the MTFS 
proposes to remove this scheme from the programme making £12.795 million of 
internal borrowing available to fund investment in infrastructure as outlined further 
on in the report. Development work around opportunities to invest in new projects 
relating to energy supply technologies is ongoing and in the event a viable project 
emerges, it will be presented to Cabinet for approval with a new business case 
including relevant funding options.

New Capital Investment 2018/19 onwards

88 The capital programme for 2018/19 onwards contains £178.99 million of new 
investment on capital schemes, financed from grants, revenue contributions, 
developer contributions and capital financing budget, as set out in the table below.

89 Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions, which are detailed in 
Annex 8b, have been included within the new programme on the basis that they 
can be funded from capital receipts, internal borrowing, revenue contributions and 
contributions from reserves,  thereby avoiding the need for new borrowing. These 
new schemes recommended for approval amount to £67.19 million.

Page 83



24

Funding for New Capital Investment

Grant £000
Adults - Disabled Facilities Grant (indicative) 5,561
Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2018/19 (balance remaining) 18,980
Children and Families – Basic Need Grant 2019/20 12,565
Children and Families – Schools Condition Allocation 2018/19 (indicative) 5,131
Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2018/19 650
Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2019/20 650
Children and Families – Special Provision Fund 2020/21 650
Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2018/19 14,350
Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2019/20 
(indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Block Grant 2020/21 
(indicative) 14,350

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 2018/19 
(estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 2019/20 
(estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Highways Maintenance Incentive Grant 2020/21 
(estimate) 2,994

Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2018/19 2,861
Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2019/20 (indicative) 2,861
Communities & Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2020/21 (indicative) 2,861
Communities & Infrastructure – National Investment Productivity Fund 2018/19 2,696
Communities & Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2018/19 1,435
Total Grant 108,933
Revenue Contributions - Children & Families (estimate) 430
Developer s106 Contributions - Children & Families 2,445
Capital Receipts 12,547
Internal Borrowing 54,000
Other Reserves 638
Total Capital Financing Budgets 67,185
Total New Capital Funding 2018/19 onwards 178,993

Children and Families

90 The Council receives 2 main capital grants for schools from the Department for 
Education: Basic Need and Schools Condition. 

91 The Basic Need allocation of £20.92 million for 2018/19 was approved in the 
2017/18 MTFS for future years’ spend. Of this grant, £1.94 million has been 
allocated to the existing programme, leaving a balance of £18.98 million available 
for new investment. The Basic Need allocation for 2019/20 is confirmed as £12.57 
million. £15.00 million of the above basic need grants has been allocated to the 
new Cheltenham Secondary School scheme.

92 An indicative figure for the Schools Condition allocation of £5.13 million has been 
included for 2018/19 based on the allocation received for 2017/18.

Page 84



25

93 Estimated school revenue contributions of £0.28 million and £0.15 million have 
been included in the Schools Capital Maintenance Programme and Suitability 
Programme respectively.

94 Developer s106 contributions totalling £2.45 million have been included for the 
following school schemes:

Ashchurch Primary School £0.23 million
Tredington Primary School £0.27 million
Fairford Primary School £0.75 million
John Moore Primary School £1.20 million

Communities and Infrastructure

95 The Council receives capital grants for Highways Maintenance Block and 
Integrated Transport Block.

96 The Department of Transport has confirmed the Maintenance Block Grant 
allocation for 2018/19 as £14.35 million and has provided indicative amounts of 
£14.35 million for both 2019/20 and 2020/21. We also anticipate receiving £2.99 
million from the Local Highways Maintenance Incentive Element Fund for 2018/19 
to 2020/21, this has been included in the overall Structural Maintenance figure of 
£17.34 million.

97 The Integrated Transport Block Grant funding arrangements were revised from 
2015/16. In 2018/19 the total Integrated Transport Grant allocation for 
Gloucestershire is £2.861 million of non ring-fenced grant directly from the 
government. The same figure has been provided as the indicative amount for both 
2019/20 and 2020/21.

98 Over recent years the Council has continued to invest in structural maintenance, 
despite austerity, and in its 2017 manifesto the administration committed to invest at 
least £150 million over the next five years.  This requires an additional £40 million of 
investment, the majority of which will be capital. This investment will more than 
double the amount of annual planned resurfacing works over a five year period (May 
2017 to April 2022). In July 2017 Cabinet approved £1 million of Highways 
investment towards costs associated with procurement. The remaining £39 million of 
Highways investment has been included in the MTFS Budget for approval and it is 
proposed that this will be funded from internal borrowing.

Q Borrowing

Total external borrowing requirement at the end of 2017/18 is forecast to be 
£302.1 million, a reduction of £6.7 million compared with the £308.8 million 
outstanding at the end of 2016/17.

99 External borrowing is generally obtained from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB), usually at fixed rates of interest, over a set number of years.

Page 85



26

100 However, in recent years, due to the significant differential between interest rates 
charged by the PWLB and interest earned on invested balances, the Council has 
internally funded borrowing from investment balances (mainly reserves). This 
strategy, currently followed by the majority of local authorities, essentially involves 
lending investment balances to ourselves to reduce overall interest costs.

101 In line with the Council’s aim to reduce the level of external borrowing, capital 
receipts have increasingly been used to fund capital expenditure. The MTC2 
target for capital receipts from the sale of assets was £60 million by the end of 
2017/18. An additional target of £33 million has been set for the 3 year period 
2018/19 to 2020/21. This funding will mainly be used to repay debt or finance 
capital expenditure to avoid new borrowing.   A Disposal Schedule was 
considered by Cabinet in January 2018 in line with the Disposal Strategy.

102 The proposed capital programme includes significant investment – The vast 
majority of projects will be funded from government grants or capital financing 
budgets. Internal borrowing is planned for two major investment projects: 
Cheltenham School (£15 million), where we have a statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school placements and highway investment (£39 million) to fulfil the 
manifesto promise of investing £150 million in highways over the next 5 year 
period. 

R Prudential Code

103 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 the Council needs to comply 
with the “Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities” (The Code).

104 Under the 2003 Act, Council’s have the freedom to determine the level of 
borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital programmes.

105 The Code has been developed as a professional Code of Practice to support local 
authorities making these decisions. Regulations issued under the Act make 
compliance with the Code mandatory.

106 The objectives of the Code are:
 To ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable.
 To ensure treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 

professional practice.
 To be consistent with good local strategic planning, asset management planning 

and option appraisal.

107 To demonstrate that these objectives have been fulfilled the Code sets out 
indicators that must be used and the factors which must be taken into account.

The Council complies with the Prudential Code:

 By having medium term plans (Corporate Strategy, Revenue and Capital 
budgets).

 By having plans to achieve sound capital investment via the Capital 
Strategy, Project Appraisal and Asset Management Plans.

Page 86



27

 By complying with the Treasury Management Code of Practice.
 By producing the indicators for affordability and prudence required by the Code.

S Treasury Management

108 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy (AIS) for 2018/19 are shown in Annex 10.

109 It will be considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 26th January 
2018 and any comments will be reported to Cabinet on 31st January 2018.

110 Annex 10 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 including, borrowing, debt 
rescheduling and repayment options.

 Prudential Indicators.

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement.

 Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives.

 Specified and Non Specified Investments for use by the Council.

111 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy recommends a change in relation 
to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  In 2015/16 the policy was amended 
to a fixed fee for existing debt, totalling £8.2 million.  Following further review of 
the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, and discussions 
with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant 
Thornton) it is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt to 
£6.2 million, releasing £2 million per annum.  This change still allows for a prudent 
provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential 
Indicators are not breeched.

112 The other main changes to the proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 
2018/19, when compared with the 2017/18 strategy, are as follows:

 The lowest risk category approved for use has been raised from BBB+ to A-.

 For non-specified investment limits, the total limit for investment in unrated UK 
Government and local authorities is removed. 

 A section has been added on non treasury management investments, in 
accordance with expected changes to the Treasury Code.

Page 87



28

T Attached Annexes

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions
Annex 2 Budget Movements by Service Area

Annex 3 Budget Summary by Service Area
Annex 4 Medium Term Financial Planning Framework
Annex 5 Reserves and Balances Analysis
Annex 6 Revenue Budget Forward Projections
Annex 7 Capital Strategy
Annex 8a Capital Programme 2018/19
Annex 8b New Schemes 2018/19 Funded from Capital Receipts
Annex 9 Dedicated Schools Grant – Schools Block
Annex 10 Treasury Management Strategy
Annex 11 Risk Management Strategy

Page 88



29

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions

Annex 1.1: Children and Families Commissioning Intentions

Context

The Council has wide ranging responsibilities for children’s services; this includes leading 
and co-ordinating all local partners to ensure outcomes for children and young people 
improve. In 2017/18 the total budget for children’s services excluding Dedicated Schools 
Grant was £97.9 million; this included other grants and funding from formula/Council Tax. 
The strategic direction for children’s services is set by the local Children and Young 
People’s Plan; this together with the current corporate strategy, identifies a continuing need 
to improve outcomes for the most vulnerable.

In March 2017 Ofsted inspected services for children in need of help and protection, looked 
after children and care leavers and graded the overall service as inadequate. Whilst there 
were strengths in our adoption services (graded good) and an improving picture for our 
children in care and care leavers (graded requires improvement), our help and protection 
and leadership and management were inadequate. The Council has developed an 
improvement plan to set out how we are bringing about the necessary improvements to 
services for children and young people across Gloucestershire and to ensure clarity and 
direction for Children’s Services, our partners and everyone who needs to be involved in our 
transformation journey.  Following the recent Ofsted inspection earlier this year, this has left 
Children's Services on a very structured improvement journey. 

Strategic Direction

We are in the process of developing our new “Families" plan, outlining the county’s 
approach to the needs of children, young people and their families for the next 3 years.  The 
plan will be live from April 2018 so there is an element of Transition for 2018/19 as we move 
from a purely child and young person focus to a wider families approach.  The new plan will 
also support and embed our Ofsted improvement journey, both for the short and longer 
strategic aspirations are to improve the outcomes for not only children young people and 
their families but for the wider partnerships and children's services workforce.

Wider drivers for change

The Children and Families Act 2014 seeks to improve services for vulnerable children and 
support families. It underpins wider reforms to ensure that all children and young people can 
succeed, no matter what their background. The changes to the law give greater protection to 
vulnerable children, better support for children whose parents are separating, a new system 
to help children with special educational needs and disabilities, and help for parents to 
balance work and family life. It also ensures vital changes to the adoption system can be put 
into practice, meaning more children who need loving homes are placed faster. Reforms for 
children in care can be implemented, including giving them the choice to stay with their 
foster families until their 21st birthday.

The Care Act 2014 is designed to bring the current laws related to adult social care together 
into one Act. Whilst predominately focused on Adults, the Care Act did introduce new 
legislation to support young people who find themselves caring for a parent or sibling; a 
decision to reconfigure the young carers’ service and disaggregate it from the Adult Service 
is underway.

Page 89



30

Children and Social Work Act 2017 is intended to improve support for looked after children 
and care leavers, promote the welfare and safeguarding of children, and make provisions 
about the regulation of social workers. The Act sets out corporate parenting principles for 
the council as a whole to be the best parent it can be to children in its care. These are 
largely a collation of existing duties local authorities have towards looked after children and 
those leaving care and will now extend our duties up to the age of 25 for all those leaving 
care. We will be required to publish our support offer to care leavers and to promote the 
educational attainment of children who have been adopted or placed in other long-term 
arrangements. The legislation extends the current considerations of the court when making 
decisions about the long-term placement of children to include an assessment of current 
and future needs and of any relationship with the prospective adopter. The Act makes 
changes to the arrangements for local child safeguarding partnerships and the serious case 
review process, including provision for a central Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
for cases of national importance. It also establishes a new regulatory regime for the social 
work profession.

Needs Analysis

The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) identifies a number of areas that require review.

Gloucestershire has a high number of school exclusions in comparison to national, regional, 
and Statistical Neighbour rates. In particular, the permanent exclusions in both primary and 
secondary schools are high, with fixed term exclusions being broadly in-line with 
comparators. The proportion of secondary pupils excluded is the highest among our 
Statistical neighbours, and in the highest quartile among England authorities. A significant 
proportion of these exclusions relate to children and young people with additional needs. So 
work to review appropriateness of placements and the support arrangements that are put in 
place will be required in order to reduce the number of placements in independent special 
schools and out of county.

For the Early Years Foundation Stage in 2015, 64% of children achieved a good level of 
development (GLD), which was an improvement on 2014, but Gloucestershire remains 
slightly below the regional and national averages of 67% and 66% respectively. There is a 
notable gap in gender with 72% of girls, and 56% of boys achieving a GLD (mirroring the 
national gender differences). Children with Black or Chinese ethnicities are less likely to 
achieve a GLD. The proportion of children achieving a GLD split by first language shows 
that children with a first language other than English are less likely to achieve a GLD. More 
work is required to fully implement the 2- 2.5 year integrated check which brings together 
the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Progress Check at age two with the Healthy Child 
Programme (HCP) 2-2½ year health and development  in order to identify those who might 
otherwise struggle to reach a GLD.

Gloucestershire currently has an increasing cared for population which is forecast to reach 
nearly 700 by March 2018 from a previous level of around 550. There are a number of 
possible reasons for this; the current improvement journey shows that our thresholds are 
poor and inconsistently applied so, along with an improvement in practice and assessment; 
this will increase the number of children and young people becoming looked after. The 
Children and Social Care Act has also extended the statutory duties for leaving care up to 
the age of 25 (previously 21), which will automatically increase our care population. 

Page 90



31

The 2014/15 rates of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital for self-harm in 
Gloucestershire (526.0 per 100,000) is significantly worse than England (398.8) and similar 
to the South West (537.9). The Gloucestershire rates increased between 2012/13 and 
2013/14, with the most recent rates showing a slight decrease from 2013/14. Led locally by 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), all key partners have now agreed a 
transformation plan that takes a ‘whole system approach’ to supporting mental health and 
wellbeing of children and young people.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

The MTC targets for 2017/18 totalled £10.07m and are on course to deliver savings of 
£9.9m due to the front loading of some children’s centre restructure costs which will now be 
delivered in 2018/19. 

The MtC savings include further reductions in home to school transport budgets and a 
continuing fall in spend against an historic pension’s budget. The final roll out of SEN 
changes in respect of 16 -19 year olds reduced the need for some services and contractual 
efficiencies were found.

Looking forward

The Ofsted inspection leaves Children's Services on a very structured improvement journey. 
The associated improvement plan will need to be delivered in the next 12 months. This will 
focus particularly on the in care population, which is predicted to rise in part due to the 
Ofsted inspection but also due to the implementation of the Children and Social work act 
2017. Guidance on the act is due to be published shortly and specific commissioning tasks 
will flow from this. The council will also need to continue to respond to changes in 
government funding for core education services as responsibility for school improvement 
continues to transfer to schools and academies.

The Current Children and Young People’s plan is due to expire in March 2018. During 2017 
the Council will be reviewing the needs analysis and working with all partners to develop a 
Children and Families plan. This will take forward the priorities of the partnership with a 
focus on prevention through to providing support for the most vulnerable and keeping 
children safe. The new Children and families plan for 2018 onwards will have a family based 
focus and will frame the longer term commissioning strategy.

Delivering Change

There are four main drivers to the work:

 Delivering against the OFSTED improvement plan
 Commissioning to take forward the priorities identified in the new Children and 

Families Plan including areas identified in the JSNA.
 Implementing the changes in legislation outlined in the children and social care act 

2017 from April 2018.
 Delivering business as usual or on going commissioning arrangements.

Page 91



32

Specific planned activities for 2018/19 include:

1. Development and implementation of a new Placement Sufficiency strategy 
for children’s services this will include the extensive market management and 
development to provide:
 A service which embeds improved practice within Children’s services.
 A fully operational IRIS project.
 The right placement first time - to improve placement stability - this will also need 

to be embedded in practice. 
 Placements are developed in county to support children and young people to 

remain in local schools and health services
 Emergency provision is developed to meet current needs, including the out-of 

hours and PACE placements. 
 Development of the market for young peoples accommodation to meet the new 

Duty for leaving care young people which comes into force from April 2018 -  this 
will include UASC young people. Review of “support and assertive interventions 
“to prevent children and young people coming into care. 

2. Update the current multi agency strategy for CSE and ensure action plans for both 
CSE and Missing are robust and reflect current challenges.

3. Develop a vulnerable young people’s protocol to ensure clear governance 
arrangements are in place. 

4. Continue to work with colleagues across the partnership to implement the Joint 
Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs ensuring seamless 
support for children and young people’s needs.  This will include a focus upon 
improving transitions to adult services for children with additional needs by ensuring 
they are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the age of 16

5. Implement the  new  Statutory  guidance  for leaving care young people, as stated 
within the new Children and Social Work Act  2017 which will be requirement from 
April 2018. This includes:
 To publish information about the authorities “Leaving care Offer”
 Appoint a personal advisor for  care leavers up to the age of 25 years  - 

regardless of whether the young person intends to pursue education or training
 LA’s also will have a duty to carry out an assessment of the young persons needs 

and to  provide the necessary advice and support 

6. Continue to implement ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind- Children’s Mental Health 
Transformation plan with a focus on providing a balance between the need for more 
early intervention and prevention and on meeting the needs of those very vulnerable 
children and young people who achieve poorer outcomes than most of the 
population. This will include extending the Mental Health in schools approach from 
Stroud into Gloucester City, working with partners on the self harm pathway and also 
looking at the mental health needs of children and young people who have suffered 
trauma and abuse.

Page 92



33

7. Review and re-tender carer’s services in two lots to encompass the needs of adult 
and young carers.

8. Update the childcare sufficiency strategy and associated action plan to deliver to the 
anticipated rise in demand following the roll out of the free 30 hours entitlement.

9. Working with Public Health Nursing and Education, ensure the 2 – 2.5 integrated 
checks are fully embedded across the county.

10.Scoping the development of a multi agency safeguarding hub model for responding 
to families with the most complex needs effectively with partners (including the 
development of a problem solving court, Early FDAC, ACES,  PODS to reduce 
recurrent removals of children)

11.Continue to deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities for education.

Page 93



34

Annex 1.2: Adults Commissioning Intentions

Context

Adult social care has a current (2017/18) net budget of £136.9 million, the single biggest 
area of expenditure of the County Council. We support approximately 25,000 people who 
have a disability, are vulnerable, or live with an age-related disorder, as well as 
commissioning services aimed at addressing social care and health inequalities, promoting 
health and well being. We work in partnership with our service users and carers, health, 
housing and the third sector to maximise people’s potential for independence, meeting 
assessed need within a legal framework most notably as set out in the Care Act 2014.

The overall performance of adult services continues to improve particularly in the key policy 
areas of reducing reliance on residential and nursing care and self directed support. We are 
also increasing the numbers of people supported to live independently through the use of 
technology (telecare) and continue to make progress in supporting people with disabilities 
into employment. We have also devoted additional resources to ensuring timely hospital 
discharge, although as a consequence the timeliness of assessment work and reablement 
interventions in the community is an area that needs attention.

Strategic Direction

As indicated our strategic ambition is to support people to live independently. The national 
policy framework created by Think Local Act Personal, builds on the direction set by “Putting 
People First” with its focus on community support and involvement, early intervention, 
prevention and reablement services. This has also been reinforced by the detailed guidance 
released in support of the Care Act 2014. As part of this, and for those people who have on-
going needs, we want to ensure we put each individual service user in control of their care 
and support, offering choice, providing professional advice and enabling their voice to be 
heard, with the ultimate aim of improving outcomes for people.

We are reducing reliance on institutional care, creating innovative alternatives and 
encouraging the use of universal services, whilst recognising that there will always be a 
place for specialists too. We are also addressing the wider responsibilities in the Act for 
carers and notwithstanding that some elements have now been postponed to 2020 for all 
people with care needs and not just those we support. We are also continuing to promote an 
ethos of early intervention and prevention as an integral element to our intentions.

Needs Analysis

The number of adults aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire is projected to rise from 492,300 
to 576,600 between 2015 and 2039, with the 18-64 age group predicted to grow by 1.8% 
and the over- 65s by 66.6% in the same period. The projected increase in older people 
(over-65s) in Gloucestershire, in particular, exceeds the national level (56.4%), and the 
number is predicted to rise from 126,800 in 2015 to reach 206,300 by 2039.

As the population ages, the number of older people with a very limiting long-term illness or 
disability is also predicted to rise, from 25,400 to 39,000 between 2015 and 2030. The 
number unable to manage at least one self-care activity is also predicted to grow, from 
43,000 to 64,000 in the same period. The majority of this increase will be among the over-
75s.

Page 94



35

Moderate or severe hearing impairment, dementia and obesity are among the conditions 
that will see a significant increase in the County’s older population. National estimates 
suggest that 80% of people living in care homes have some form of dementia or severe 
memory problems. In Gloucestershire, the number of older people with a dementia is 
expected to rise from 9,000 to 15,000 between 2015 and 2030. An estimated 12,700 people 
aged 65+ in Gloucestershire feel lonely always or often, and around 3,500 older people 
have severe depression.

The number of older carers aged 65+ is projected to rise from an estimated 18,400 people 
to 25,000 between 2015 and 2030, of which over a quarter are predicted to be over-80s, 
who may require extra support to provide care. One main concern among carers who care 
for older people is social isolation.

An estimated 9,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire have a serious physical disability. 
Many people with a physical disability have complex need. Some of the most common 
conditions that people with physical disabilities also experience are long-term pain, 
depression and mental health conditions. Just fewer than 60% of carers caring for people 
with a physical disability or sensory impairment have a long-standing illness or disability 
themselves.

An estimated 11,400 people aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire have a learning disability, 
of these 2,400 have moderate or severe conditions. The most prevalent type of learning 
disabilities in Gloucestershire is autistic spectrum disorder. While the overall number of 
adults with moderate or severe learning disability is predicted to rise by 3.6% between 2015 
and 2025, the number is predicted to rise most steeply in the older age group, by 19.8% for 
the over-65s in the same period. 

Many people with a learning disability have complex need; they are ten times more likely to 
have a vision impairment compared to the general population and significant proportions 
(40%) have a hearing impairment.

In 2015, an estimated 58,000 people aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire had a common mental 
disorder, and a further 26,000 people had two or more psychiatric disorders. Between 1,300 
and 1,600 people aged 18-64 are estimated to have experienced antisocial personality 
disorder, psychotic disorder or borderline personality disorder. Long-term illness or disability 
can lead to mental health issues, making the needs more complex. It is estimated that 46% 
of people who have a long-term health condition and 30% of people who have long-term 
pain have a mental health condition. An estimated 34% of people who have sight loss suffer 
from depression.

Compared to other carers, carers caring for someone with a mental health condition are 
more likely to experience mental health need themselves, and they are also at a higher risk 
of neglecting themselves.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

In line with the strategic direction set out above, we have a series of projects targeted at 
living within our means and adjusting to meeting demand differently. Most of these are 
designed around the implementation of national policy and good practice – expanding on 
the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary teams whilst increasing our investment 
in the management of the social care function, avoiding crisis, commissioning differently, 
listening to our service users and improving the customer journey. We also continue to look 
at our processes.

Page 95



36

Looking Forward

The proposed budget for 2017/18 includes an additional increase of 2% for the National 
Social Care Levy. In addition to meeting the costs to date of implementing the Care Act, the 
increase will be used to part address the impact of demographic changes and cost 
pressures including the National Living Wage.  It will also help enable the transition to an 
approach based on a higher level of investment in early intervention and prevention. 

Recognising that not all pressures can be addressed within the resources available and in 
the context of our intentions to improve outcomes, we will seek to achieve financial balance 
in adult services by:

 continuing to strengthen our assessment and care management function whilst also 
developing stronger links with primary care as part of the integrated multidisciplinary 
place based model

 supporting more people to live independently in the community
 develop our offer to Carers in line with Care Act requirements.
 improving transitions to adult services for children with special needs by ensuring they 

are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the age of 16
 being more responsive to potential demand through early intervention and prevention
 continuing with our cultural change work which supports both staff and service users to 

reflect on their attitude to managing risk in everyday life
 further improvements in the efficiency and effectiveness of services we commission 

including those commissioned jointly with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 reducing admissions to full time care
 working with the NHS to better case manage people at risk of crisis or in need of urgent 

support, facilitate timelier discharges from hospital and reduce admissions and 
readmissions

 decommissioning services that are no longer peoples’ preferred choice as they opt to 
meet their needs in different ways

 stimulating the market and empowering communities who want to be involved
 working with District Councils and Housing Associations to both enhance the specialist 

housing offer and future-proof new-build homes to enable all lives to be lived as 
independently as possible

 working with partners to develop new opportunities for volunteering
 building on our success with helping people into the workplace by exploring innovative 

employment links to increase the number of disabled people in paid work
 continuing to actively reviewing high unit cost contracts to seek efficiencies including 

tighter management of voids in shared housing
 develop jointly with the CCG the Shared Lives service in the County
 ensuring our Telecare offer promotes helps people to live independently through 

solutions which improve service and cost less than traditional care
 enabling people with a learning disability to live more inclusive and independent lives in 

the community improving quality of life and ensuring each person has a circle of support 
around them

 embedding the use of Electronic Call Monitoring systems and ensuring we use the 
information that flows from the system to improve the quality of care and to inform our 
commissioning

 rolling out an outcomes based approach in the new domiciliary care service

Page 96



37

 partnering with the CCG to ensure people with a learning disability in long stay hospitals 
are returned to independent living in their own community

Delivering Change

Demographic changes indicate a rising demand for support from people with increasingly 
complex needs that requires us to better manage and respond to demand. This will involve 
a range of partnerships, many of which will be new relationships with communities. Whilst it 
will be challenging financially, it will result in investment in local communities and will provide 
opportunities to work with community and voluntary sector agencies in new ways and 
ensure we are sensitive to the communities in which many of our service users live.

The scale and pace of change continues at an unprecedented level and will create 
transitional issues as we all adjust to working in a different way. Communicating our 
intentions and listening to the voice of those we serve will be central to our thinking and will 
assist us to ensure all voices are heard and concerns and questions are actively addressed. 
All activities will be subject to community impact assessments and specific consultation will 
be undertaken where appropriate with stakeholders. We will actively pursue opportunities to 
engage with service users and their carers to continue to build confidence in those 
partnerships.

At the heart of this work is culture change, based on a three tier conversation at the frontline 
in adult services that gives us a simple structure to help focus on helping people to help 
themselves. 

Tier one – Help to help yourself.
Tier two – Help when you need it.
Tier three – Ongoing support for those that need it.

Page 97



38

Annex 1.3: Public Health Commissioning Intentions

Context

The three domains of public health; health improvement; health protection and health care 
public health, became part of local government’s public health function in 2013. 
Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to promote the health of the 
Gloucestershire population, and responsibility for commissioning specific public health 
services, supported by a ring-fenced grant, which was extended to include new 
responsibilities for 0-5 year olds (health visiting) in 2015. 

In 2018/19, the grant available is £24.27m. The allocation is based on a national formula 
linked to health inequality and health need and remains ring-fenced until the end of March 
2019, with reductions to the end of 2019/20.

The grant is spent on activities whose main or primary purpose is to positively impact on the 
health and wellbeing of the local population, with the aim of reducing health inequalities in 
local communities. Specifically, Gloucestershire County Council is required to deliver a 
number of mandated functions:

 appropriate access to sexual health services;
 health protection assurance functions delegated from the Secretary of State;
 ensuring NHS commissioners receive population public health advice (CCG core 

offer);
 the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP);
 ensuring those eligible are invited to receive an NHS Health Check;
 five mandated points of contact through the health visiting (0-5) service.

The conditions of the Public Health grant also identify further requirements, such as 
improving outcomes from drug and alcohol treatment services and oral health promotion.

Strategic Direction

Nationally, the strategy for Public Health in England was laid out in the Government’s White 
Paper Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010). Locally, our system’s strategic ambition is 
reflected in the vision presented in Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Fit for 
the Future; ‘to improve the health of all Gloucestershire residents and protect the most 
vulnerable’ by ‘working with our communities to co-produce health, wellbeing and resilience.’
Public Health has identified the following principles to guide our commissioning intentions, in 
the context of closer working with colleagues commissioning services across the Prevention, 
Wellbeing & Communities Hub:

 We prioritise prevention, self-help/self-care and early intervention, with a view to 
improving health and wellbeing and changing demand for services;

 We take a strengths-based approach, to make the most of assets and resources 
within communities, help build community capacity and develop community 
safeguarding and resilience;

 We work to ensure the best start in life;
 We give equal weight to physical and mental health and wellbeing;

Page 98



39

 We focus resources where the need is greatest, helping to address avoidable health 
inequalities and targeting the most vulnerable;

 We work across GCC and the wider system, with health, social care, housing and 
other partners.

The Local Government Association has identified that investment in public health leads to 
reduced pressure on national and local government and the NHS, saving money that can be 
further invested in prevention and early intervention. This, in turn, through improved health 
and wellbeing and health equality, leads to further reductions in pressure on care services. 
Systematic primary prevention is critical to reduce the overall burden of disease in the 
population. It is estimated that 80% of cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2 diabetes, 
and 40% of cases of cancer could be avoided if common lifestyle risk factors were 
eliminated (WHO, 2005). Secondary prevention, involving detecting the early stages of 
disease and intervening before full symptoms develop (for example through the NHS Health 
Check programme) is often cost effective, and if implemented at scale, would rapidly have 
an impact on life expectancy (Kings Fund, 2013).

Gloucestershire’s Sustainability & Transformation Plan (STP), One Gloucestershire: 
Transforming Care, Transforming Communities, describes the vision for how publically 
funded health and social care services can support a healthier Gloucestershire, that is 
socially and economically strong and vibrant, to achieve an improved and more sustainable 
health and care system. 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Public Health function will continue to play a key role in 
influencing the STP, in particular leading its prevention and self-care plan through both the 
commissioning of services that contribute to the prevention of health and care needs and 
providing systems leadership on key societal health issues.

Needs analysis
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a strategic planning tool that brings 
together the latest information on the health and wellbeing of people who live in 
Gloucestershire and people who use Gloucestershire public services and underpins the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s Strategy. It tells us that overall Gloucestershire is one of the 
healthiest counties in England. Health outcomes are above the national average and deaths 
from the major diseases like cancer, heart disease and strokes are below the national 
average and falling. 

However the picture in Gloucestershire is not perfect. There are areas of Gloucestershire 
where residents experience poorer health than the England average. Additionally, the health 
of people living in Gloucestershire has not been improving over time as seen in other parts 
of the country.  Although life expectancy at 65 years of age is better in Gloucestershire than 
the England, it is not improving in line with the national trends for life expectancy, especially 
for females. The age to which men in Gloucestershire can expect to live with good health 
has been declining since 2010. This, coupled with the fact we have an ageing population, 
presents our biggest challenge.

Page 99



40

The three leading causes of death in Gloucestershire are cancer (26%), circulatory disease 
(28%) and respiratory disease (15%). However, there are differences across the districts of 
Gloucestershire. For example, residents of Cotswold district have significantly lower 
mortality rates than the rest of the county for all three causes of death, whilst residents of 
Gloucester city have a significantly higher mortality rate for respiratory disease.
Lifestyle factors such as smoking, poor nutrition, physical inactivity and alcohol misuse are 
important contributors to most preventable diseases. Unless we take early action to support 
individuals, families and communities to take steps to improve their own health and 
wellbeing now, we will not be able to resource the increases in people with ongoing care 
needs in the future.

Meeting the Challenge 2017/18

Savings were realised in 2017/18 from the recommissioned adult drug and alcohol and 
healthy lifestyles services, which both commenced in January 2017. During 2017/18, Public 
Health delivered two major change projects in the reshaping of sexual health services and 
the public health nursing service (health visiting and school nursing). These will begin to 
deliver savings during 2017/18 and beyond.

These major recommissioning projects make up a significant portion of the allocated public 
health grant and, in 2018/19, the team’s focus will shift from recommissioning and tendering 
activity to overseeing the implementation of new services,  the ‘business as usual’ activity of 
contract management and developing the systems leadership role of public health.  

During 2016 Gloucestershire County Council were selected as one of four local authorities 
to participate in a three year national programme, working with Leeds Beckett University, to 
co-produce guidance for other local authorities to implement a whole systems approach to 
addressing obesity. During 2017/18 this work has informed the refinement of our local 
obesity strategy and plans and we are now developing a specific programme to improve the 
local food environment.   

Looking Forward

The Public Health grant allocation is a ring-fenced grant and the expectation is that it will be 
fully spent. However, the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in 2015 brought about a 
reduction in the Public Health grant over the four-year period to 2019/20. Whilst the four 
major recommissioning projects will be completed or almost completed by 2018/19, further 
reductions will need to be met through the review of individual elements of spend, e.g. in 
drug and alcohol activity outside of the main service.

2018/19 will also see an increased focus in Public Health’s influencing and knowledge 
management and decision-making support roles. Helping people to stay healthy and live 
independently for longer and ensuring children have the best start in life are major 
contributors to reducing cost pressures in the medium and longer term. As such, Public 
Health activity plays a key role in supporting the commissioning intentions of other parts of 
Gloucestershire County Council, including children’s and adult social care, as well as the 
wider system. 

Page 100



41

Delivering Change

Our commissioning intentions for 2018/19 are:

1. Deliver mandated functions
NHS Health Checks, Sexual Health, National Child Measurement Programme, Health
Protection, Core Offer to the CCG & Health Visiting service

2. Deliver our driving change projects
Remodelling of sexual health and Public health Nursing (Health Visiting and School 
Nursing)

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health
4. Develop and embed heath and wellbeing in GCC business
5. Continue to deliver the Active Individuals, Active Communities and Safe, Settled and 

Secure Lives policies

Specific planned activities for 2018/19 include:

1. Delivering our mandated functions

• NHS Health Checks – implement a more targeted approach to the delivery of NHS 
Heath Checks via GP practices

• Sexual Health – embed the reshaped sexual health service 
• National Child Measurement Programme
• Health Protection 
• Core Offer to the CCG – supporting the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 

initiatives delivered as part of the STP
• Health Visiting service – embed the reshaped public health nursing service.

2. Deliver our driving change projects

• Implementation and embedding of the remodelled sexual health service.  During 
2017-18 a system wide redevelopment of Sexual Health services was led by a 
partnership of Gloucestershire County Council Public Health Team, NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and the Gloucestershire Local Medical 
Committee, with input from other partners. This work has seen a refocusing of the 
Specialist service on those with a specialist sexual health or contraceptive need, or 
who are vulnerable to poor sexual health outcomes and innovative service changes 
such as online postal testing, telephone triage service, and online booking among 
other developments. The new system changes are going live during 2017/18 and into 
2018/19. The new sexual health prevention service is due to go live in 2018/19. This 
will see a strengthening of primary sexual health prevention; aiming to reduce demand 
for health and social care services in the medium to long-term. 

• Continue to work with Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust to deliver 2017/18 
changes  to the Public Health Nursing Service in line with the feedback received 
though the Public and stakeholder consultation.  This may include changes to the way 
mandated contracts are provided for some families, moving to a different pathway for 
identifying hearing problems and delivering support through new hubs and bundles. 
Support and oversee planning for planned schemes to be delivered in 2019/20.

Page 101



42

• Continue to embed the new healthy lifestyles service including the implementation of 
new functions to support pregnant women and young children (first 1001 days) and 
healthy workplaces

• Re-commission Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) from General Practices and 
community pharmacy, including a more targeted approach to the delivering the NHS 
Health Checks programme and strengthening sexual health and contraception 
services in Primary Care to support access for those who will no longer be seen in the 
Specialist Service. This will include the delivery of: primary care long acting reversible 
contraception, primary care sexual health clinics and community pharmacy 
emergency hormonal contraception

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health

• Actively working with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners as part of 
the Prevention & Self-Care Plan to ensure that up-stream health improvement 
services are routinely commissioned as part of a broader pathway approach

• Working with community organisations to develop innovative approaches to 
addressing health inequalities in key population groups

• Working across the system to develop and implement a whole systems approach to 
tackling obesity including a partnership approach to creating a healthier food 
environment

• Supporting the development and implementation of Gloucestershire Moves – 
Gloucestershire’s programme to promote active lifestyles

• Supporting the Health and Wellbeing Board as it seeks to explore Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs) and whether an ACEs informed approach should be taken 
forward in Gloucestershire

• Lead the development of a countywide oral health promotion strategy and plan
• Develop a local prevention consensus statement and concordat for better mental 

health, reflecting the national agenda for a system-wide approach to public mental 
health

4. Develop and embed health and wellbeing in GCC business

• To co-ordinate and develop the community offer across the whole care sector.  
Working within prevention and early intervention elements of the operating model and 
being cognisant of how the system works and how changes to the community offer 
can affect demand elsewhere

• Scope a programme of work around embedding health in programmes addressing the 
wider determinants of health and identify priorities for implementation e.g. spatial 
planning, employment, transport and travel, environmental issues and poverty

• Support the implementation of GCCs workplace health and wellbeing plan
• Contribute to the development and implementation of GCCs behaviour change and 

demand management programme.

Page 102



43

Annex 1.4: Communities & Infrastructure Commissioning Intentions

CONTEXT

Place Vision - Place shaping for the future

The County Council, along with its partners, is not only responsible for providing services 
now; we design strategies and invest in infrastructure to enable the future, laying the 
foundations for the economically, socially and environmentally successful communities we 
need to become.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Place priorities – People, Planning & Place  

Places must work for the people that live in them. For the County Council, successful 
infrastructure is more than hard engineering; it provides the social, economic and 
environmental systems that support communities. Our priorities are shaped on 
understanding the different timescales, taking action that recognises the need to deliver over 
the next 3-years up to 2020, to enable already planned growth and change from 2020-2035 
and to facilitate discussion and plan new growth for 2035-2050. Put another way the County 
Council needs to plan for the community and economic needs of 2050, whilst making sure 
someone disposes of your waste and opens your library for business tomorrow morning.

NEEDS ANALYSIS

The future of Gloucestershire

Technological innovation is increasingly shaping our behaviour and how our places operate. 
Our transport, environment and economic systems will become more driven by data and 
technology than they are today, but our most valuable asset is our people. Our services – 
including health, education and skills - will need to function as part of our integrated 
infrastructure to support our communities and businesses.

The County Council will take a long-term view to ensure Gloucestershire is fit for the future 
beyond 2035 – the following is just a ‘snap-shot’ to the illustrate the journey we are on at all 
levels – it is not meant to be exhaustive – there are many futures that the County Council 
will need to try and shape and react to:

 Petrol and diesel cars became obsolete once the cost of electric vehicles dropped 
and their range increased. Most people no longer own or drive their own cars; they 
use shared autonomous vehicles that are available on demand. Welcome to Mobility 
as a Service – the Spotify model of transport.

 Roads are safer, the number and severity of accidents has fallen while residential 
streets have become relatively free of parked cars. However, the electrification of 
transport has increased demand for power; supply is now much more dependent on 
local generation and storage of energy.

Page 103



44

 Councils are smaller and smarter, with most back office functions automated and 
transactions taking place on-line. Staff are mobile; they orchestrate and commission 
networks of partners, providers and community groups, sharing data widely. On-line 
engagement and participation tools involve residents in scenario planning and 
resource allocation. 

 Homes and workplaces have seen great innovation based on fast digital connectivity, 
smarter use of energy and storage, and the re-use of rainwater and sewage. 
Restored front gardens offer benefits in terms of improved appearance, biodiversity 
and drainage as resilience challenges from climate change continue and include an 
unpredictable cycle of flood and drought

LOOKING FORWARD

Gloucestershire 2035-2050

Infrastructure delivery requires long-term planning, but the preparation starts now. Enabling 
the future will require new partnerships, where communities, technology and data come 
together to drive new thinking. The County Council is already building the networks to 
support our changing communities and places.

Food for thought:
 We will be able to evaluate how successful the Vision 2050 process was at shaping 

the County;
 The west coast mainline will use electric trains;
 The West of England and West Midlands Elected Mayor and Combined Authorities 

will be celebrating their 20th birthdays;
 By 2039 only 49.6% of the population will be of working age.
 Britain’s relationship with the European Union will have changed significantly 

impacting on global and national trade; as will the ability to rely on skilled workforce 
through immigration;

Gloucestershire 2020 to 2035

Decision-making has to happen at the most appropriate level. The County Council and its 
partners are clear that localised infrastructure, environment and industrial strategies, aligned 
with national objectives can deliver certainty. Beside long term planning, good infrastructure 
demands clear funding commitments, not competitive bidding processes. Importantly, it also 
provides social and environmental benefits as well as the economic return on investment.

Food for thought:
 HS2 and the 3rd runway at Heathrow will be operational and access to the airport will 

have been improved by Crossrail and the new western access; 
 Hinkley Point will be up and running and Oldbury is coming on line;
 Gloucestershire will have 60,000+ more homes than today and the highway network 

will be at capacity and reliant on technological advancement (i.e. autonomous 
vehicles) to create new capacity;

 The A417 missing link along with smart motorway and junction upgrades to J9, J10, 
J13 and J14 will all have been delivered reducing congestion and enabling 
development in the central Severn Vale.

Page 104



45

Gloucestershire 2017 – 2020

The national landscape is experiencing profound change and uncertainty. The County 
Council and its partners can provide the expertise and leadership needed to transform our 
communities and our localised economies. We will continue to work with Government to 
make the case for Gloucestershire - sharing our best practice to make a positive difference, 
creating solutions, advising and advocating where needed.

Food for thought:

 The Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility will be operational from summer 2019. 
Our reliance on landfill for the disposal of household residual waste will have 
dramatically reduced and instead Gloucestershire’s household waste will be 
generating electricity. The facility will generate enough electricity to power around 
25,000 homes. 

 Gloucestershire’s recycling rate continues to increase. Exceeding 50% for the first 
time in 2016/17 (and already meeting the EU waste framework directive target of 
50% by 2020), recycling levels will reach the joint waste strategy target of 60% by 
2020.

 50% of our highways operatives are over the age of 50.  Addressing the issues of 
developing a skilled workforce will require investment in skills; 

 Through people leaving the workforce and job growth there will be a requirement to 
fill 130,000 jobs between 2012-2022 (all sectors and all levels);

 For every new job there will be a requirement to fill 9 through replacement demand;
 As a major employer in the County, GCC will need to plan for its own workforce to 

work more flexibly, for longer and ensure there is emphasis on continuous skills 
development throughout employment;

 Physical and digital connectivity is a key factor in making Gloucestershire an 
attractive place to live and work for young people 

LOOKING FORWARD

2017 – 2020: Building partnerships and delivering today

Providing Place services* that support thriving communities means getting the basics right 
every day. Our positive relationships with partners, contractors and communities are 
enabling us to deliver and transform our services targeting investment based on need.

(*waste management, highways, Fire & Rescue, Transport; libraries, economic 
development, strategic infrastructure (highways, schools, digital), planning, regulatory 
services).

Economic growth and infrastructure

 We know how important the road network is for business and for us to be able to get 
to work, school and leisure. We will invest £150m over the next five years – our 
biggest ever investment in roads;

 We will deliver superfast broadband to every home by 2021. We have already 
invested over £29m which has brought broadband to over 107,000 homes and 
businesses in the county so far.

Page 105



46

 Complete economic corridor modelling by March 2018 to help position 
Gloucestershire’s economy based on an analysis of which directions it looks and use 
this to inform gfirst LEP economic and GCC infrastructure thinking;

 Work in partnership with Highways England and sub-regional Combined and Local 
Authorities to make sure that Road Investment Strategies 2 and 3 include the 
extension of the smart motorways network south of Worcester through to Bristol is 
implemented and linked to junction improvements in the County, particularly J9, J10, 
J13, J14 

 Work with bus and rail operators to invest in better public transport connectivity 
necessary to deliver sustainable economic growth, by opening modern transport 
interchanges in Gloucester city centre and at Cheltenham Spa station and by 
managing congestion on the road network.

 Work in partnership with Network Rail and regional Combined and Local Authorities 
to make sure that control periods 6 and 7 include projects to improve rail connectivity 
in the County, including the Metrowest extension to Gloucester delivered enabling 30 
minute services to the west of England

 Working collaboratively with partners and developers to create a cycle superhighway, 
connecting communities across the county, extending the range that people will cycle 
and making the outside more accessible. Bringing large scale bike hire (Boris Bikes) 
to the county and maximising the potential of electric bikes to increase the appeal of 
cycling to broader demographic groups and to more rural communities.

 Continue to support the Local Nature Partnership and further develop the Council’s 
approach to enabling ‘Green Infrastructure’, including Sustainable Drainage Systems 
and upper catchment flood alleviation solutions.

 Maximise the resources available for reducing long-term flood risk, in order to meet 
the Council’s statutory responsibilities as the Lead Local Flood Authority and deliver 
its Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

 Continue to enable development and economic growth by providing high quality 
statutory consultee advice to the Local Planning Authorities on flood alleviation and 
Sustainable Drainage systems.

Employment and Skills

 Alongside that, we are committed to helping the County’s young people to develop 
skills and knowledge.  We will work with local employers to create 5,000 new 
apprenticeships, at least 2,000 of which will be in engineering.

 Our partnership working with employers and skills providers via the Gloucestershire 
Employment and Skills Board will strengthen various aspects of the local skills 
system including: apprenticeships; retaining older workers; more effective labour 
market information and careers support; stronger links between businesses and 
schools; improved support for local businesses to close their skills gaps; improved 
employment and skills opportunities for priority areas of the County (e.g. Matson and 
Podsmead, Forest of Dean).

 Continue to invest in employment and skills investment by Gloucestershire Adult 
Education Service in local communities, particularly those most in need. 

 Creating safe and trusted spaces through Library Growth Hub networks to support 
entry level businesses that may not choose to access more formal advice.

 Using apprenticeships to help recruit to public sector roles where there is a skills 
shortage.

Page 106



47

Place Based Services

 Continue to deliver effective regulatory services, including for Public Rights of Way 
and Traffic Regulation Orders, Trading Standards, Fire Safety and Planning 
Enforcement (minerals and waste), and ensure that they continue to be intelligence 
led, proportionate, reasonable, clearly prioritised.

 Maximise the Fire and Rescue Service Prevention Strategy to ensure early 
intervention and protection work is linked to health and social care, in order to deliver 
an effective and efficient service and to help manage demand on other services.

 Capitalise on the wider role of regulatory services to ensure early intervention and 
prevention work in partnership with health and social care is continued and 
expanded. 

 New Highways Contract procured with new structural maintenance resurfacing 
contract in place by April 2018, a professional services support contract and the new 
term maintenance contract operating from April 2019;

 Javelin Park energy from waste facility fully operational from autumn 2019;
 31 Libraries become Tier 3 Growth Hubs with 2 innovation labs to support 

educational and economic growth
 The library service in the local community continues to be the County Councils 

generic face to face customer presence in local places driving digital skills, supporting 
local businesses to innovate, develop and grow as Tier 3 growth hubs and providing 
an access ‘hub’ for a range of other services – concessionary fares, registrars, drop-
ins for people with disabilities, early health intervention, and job clubs

 Continue the journey towards carbon neutrality for the Council’s operations and plan 
and prepare for increasing numbers of severe weather incidents.

 Ensure that Gloucestershire’s roads, based on an objective analysis of the accident 
data, continue to be safe for users and that the number of people killed and seriously 
injured are reduced as far as possible

 Develop a new Fire and Rescue Integrated Risk Management Plan that defines the 
long-term operating model for the service in order to deliver a resilient, affordable and 
strong Gloucestershire presence.

 Improve the customer contact centre and reception experience, through smarter data 
intelligence, digital signposting and self service. Growing digital skills within our 
workforce to harness new technologies for smarter cities that will enhance our quality 
of life and enable Gloucestershire to compete within the global economy.

 Development of a Highways Skills Academy with key partners including local 
educational facilities, Gfirst LEP, highways contractors and wider supply chain all 
working towards the long term development of a skilled construction and engineering 
workforce.

 Completion of LED Street Lighting core investment programme to change all street 
lighting over to LED technology.

Continue to work through the Local Resilience Forum to ensure appropriate emergency 
management arrangements are in place and accord with the requirements of the Civil 
Contingencies Act.

2020 to 2035: Bringing national strategy down to the local level

Creating communities that work for all relies on effective localised decision making aligned 
with national strategy. Our local industrial, economic and environmental strategies must be 
integrated and make the case for Gloucestershire, making a clear our offer to national 
Government and what investment we need to deliver it. 

Page 107



48

Economic growth and infrastructure

 Continue to help UK government push ahead with the improvement work on the A417 
missing link;

 Deliver transport schemes including the Gloucester South West Bypass and A419 
Stonehouse improvements which have been funded through the Growth Deal (rounds 
1-3) and promote new infrastructure projects in future rounds that will support 
economic growth

 Pursue projects that start to earn income from innovative energy supply projects, with 
a particular emphasis on PV, battery storage and electric vehicle charging.

 Designing new developments, retrofitting existing infrastructure and encouraging 
behaviour change to transition from petrol/diesel car ownership towards electric 
vehicles, shared mobility and connected and autonomous vehicles.

 Apprenticeship delivery increased to help local businesses deal with their skills gaps. 
 LED lighting to support sustainable travel, maximising the use of solar for public/cycle 

paths and signage  
 Continued increase in self service options in libraries, with additional digital 

equipment to support increased confidence of the public to access services on line

Placed based services

 Through the Joint Waste Partnership deliver 60% recycling and 92% energy recovery 
from residual waste treated at Javelin Park

2035 - 2050 - Creating the places of the future

Tackling the challenges of climate change, employment, housing and population growth and 
change requires vision, leadership and innovation, harnessing the power of big data and 
people to find creative solutions. The County Council is facilitating and enabling change now 
to shape, plan and deliver the future. 

Economic growth and infrastructure

 Use the Vision 2050 engagement process to help shape the Council’s long term 
thinking.

MTC2 AND DELIVERING THE CHANGE

MTC2 targets for 2017/18 have been delivered. 

Place based services will continue to be under financial pressure as a result of increasing 
demand for social care. 

In response the Council’s Place Based services have been on a transformation journey for a 
number of years:

 Waste management, a key milestone being the commissioning of Javelin Park 
energy from waste facility;

 Transport, reducing spend on subsidised transport whilst maintaining accessibility by 
supporting the commercial network and integration with Home to School transport 
networks;

Page 108



49

 Investment in broadband with around 95% of premises in the county already having 
Next Generation Access (30mbps) and reshaping Libraries to be the digital skills 
hubs for the Council;

 The shift to cashless payment for on-street parking underpinned by more efficient 
enforcement and back office functions

The priorities for transformation, will include

 Continuing the planned journey with waste, transport, digital and libraries.
 Reshaping Gloucestershire Highways to allow it to deliver the £150m+ of investment
 Considering ways to benefit from investment in energy technology at the local level, 

including grid supply and balancing and servicing new technologies such as electric 
vehicles and bicycles.

 Exploiting new approaches to cashless parking and differentiating offers to residents, 
visitors and commuters.

 Getting better at evidencing the value of Place based services in shaping the wider 
determinants of health and working more closely with public health to secure 
investment in improving health and social outcomes in the county.

Transformation will only take Place based services so far into the future as they will need 
continued public subsidy. Investment in economic growth to generate tax revenues will 
therefore be essential. Continued access to revenue resources will be essential to help 
develop a pipeline of capital infrastructure projects. This will allow the Council to 
successfully compete in an ever more competitive bidding environment for Government 
Funding.  The need for strong partnerships with the Local Planning Authorities and gfirst 
LEP will be necessary to ensure that infrastructure investment supports and enables 
planned housing and employment land developments and economic growth. Better 
Business for All is one such programme that shows how Gloucestershire’s regulatory 
services, such as Trading Standards can develop the right skills and culture to support new 
and expanding businesses whilst generating new income streams to compensate for 
reduced public funding. Certainty, over the longer term Business Rate retention and 
devolution will be critical in understanding how the Council can invest in different ways to 
enable critical infrastructure.

Similarly, the Council will need to work in partnership through the new Employment and 
Skills Board to make sure that the economy has the long term workforce necessary to 
sustain the economy in the long term allowing businesses to start and / or grow in the 
County. 

In summary the challenge for the Council will be to continue to invest in enabling the 
economic growth that will generate the revenues necessary to deliver place based and 
wider social care services that are fit for today and also for tomorrow.

Page 109



50

Annex 2 – Budget Movements by Service Area 

2018-19 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 132,104

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Improved Better Care Fund 7,089
Pay Inflation 588
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Increased cost of care of vulnerable adults

Inflation for Adult Social Care 2,061

Demand pressures linked to demographic growth 1,845

Complex Transitional services for Learning Disabilities 1,100

Disabilities - Transforming Care & Associated Discharges 354

Full year impact of NLW decisions in previous year 1,141

National Adult Social Care Levy 5,540

Amount of Additional adult social care levy 18-19 totals £5.540 million

National Living Wage 3,391
Inflationary cost pressure following the introduction of the national living wage
Care Act
To fund, over and above the funding set aside in the Better Care Fund, the on-
going costs of the requirements needing to be undertaken in 2018/19 of the Care 
Act 2014.  This includes continued investment in new ways of working, the 
development of referral centres and enhanced support to self funders.

1,453

Demand pressures linked to demographic growth 696

Page 110



51

2018-19 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy Continued
Cost 

Increases
Cost 

Reductions
£000 £000 £000

Cost Reductions

Adult Social Care  Single Savings Programme 

- Older People
-5,069

- Physical & Learning Disabilities
-2,492

Demand Management Issues Phase 3 -4,000

TOTAL NET CHANGE 12,629 -11,561 1,068

2018-19 Adults Budget  including National Adult Social Care Levy * 133,172

* This excludes the additional ringfenced social care grant funding totalling £7.176 million expected in 
2018-19.( £10.598 million in 2017-18)

The Older People and Vulnerable Adults element of the Programme supports the strategic 
directions of keeping people safe and independent, ideally in their own homes, investing in 
prevention to delay and avoid more expensive care support.  In addition it continues to support 
the integration of Health and Social Care to deliver positive outcomes for individuals.

The Disabilities element of the Programme supports the Building Better Lives Policy for 
supporting people with Disabilities in Gloucestershire.  The savings will be delivered through 
effective enablement, brokerage,  review to ensure needs are met utilising community resources 
and supporting people with disabilities into employment.(Physical Disabilities £0.487 
million/Learning Disabilities £2.005 million)

Projects targeted at living within our means and adjusting to meet the increasing demand 
differently.  Most of these projects are designed around the implementation of national policy 
and good practice - expanding the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary teams but 
also increasing investments in management of the social care function, avoiding crisis, listening 
to our service users and improving the customer journey through the three tier conversations at 
the frontline in adult services.

Page 111



52

2018-19 Public Health Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 24,912

Budget Changes:

Cost Reductions

2.5% national reduction in ring fenced grant allocation and savings achieved 
through remodelling of the sexual health and public health nursing services to 
release efficiency savings

-641

TOTAL NET CHANGE - -641 -641

Public Health Budget 2018-19 24,271

Page 112



53

2018-19 Children and Families Budget - Vulnerable Children

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Budget Changes:

Starting Budget (2017-18 Revised Budget) 57,408
Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 446
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018

National Living Wage 329
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage

External Placement Budget - the increased cost and number of 
placements

7,600

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments - to support increased activity within 
social care

623

Child Protection Conference Chairs - additional staffing to meet demand 
and required standards

121

Community Equipment Budget - to support increased activity due to 
demographic growth

225

Care Leavers - New Legislation to support Care Leavers to age 25 200

Inflation uplift for Adoption, Special Guardianship and Fostering 
Allowances

195

Special Guardianship Orders - Increased Numbers 808

Fostering - In House Fostering Service - additional staff and allowances 607

Children with Disabilities - Demographic Growth 82

DCYP Children with Disabilites - increase in number of Direct Payments 39

Additional investment in Children’s Safeguarding Service to ensure it is fit 
for purpose, supports practitioners in delivering best practice and is 
market competitive to attract staff. It will support a revised career structure 
and allow nationally accepted caseloads for social workers.

3,890

Additional one-off funding to support the implementation of the Ofsted 
Improvement Plan

1,123

TOTAL NET CHANGE 16,288 - 16,288

Children & Families - Vulnerable Children Budget 2018/19 73,696

Page 113



54

2018/19 Children and Families Budget - Other Services

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 29,760

Budget Changes:

Education
Pay Inflation 161
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Home to School Transport 50
To provide for contractual prices inflation.
Home to School Transport 125
Increase in numbers entitled to transport
Home to School Transport -200
Reduce bespoke travel arrangements through Independent Travel Training, 
increased vehicle capacity to Special Schools and the use of individual Personal  
Travel Allowances for CYP with complex needs.
Pensions -150
Reduce the budget based on an assessment of the reduction in no. of pensioners 
and spouses based on age and trends

Commissioning
Pay Inflation 23
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018

Supporting People 
Reduce community based support contract in line with utilisation and reduce 
capacity of accommodation based support in line with demand.

-541

TOTAL NET CHANGE 359 -891 -532

Children & Families - Other Services Budget 2018/19 29,228

Page 114



55

2018/19 Communities and Infrastructure Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 78,014

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 495
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018
Fire Fighters Pay Award (above general provision) 342
To provide for a further 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
National Living Wage 383
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage
Development of Major Transport Schemes 150
Due to the removal of revenue funding options when applying for capital grant funding there 
is a need to fund feasibility costs to enable schemes to be ready for external funding 
applications. 
Waste 2
HRC Maintenance to compactors

Highways LED 408
Street Lighting contract price inflation and increase in electricity consumption due to 
growth in assets
Road Safety Team 220
Ongoing funding to continue to run the Road Safety Partnership 
Customer Programme Shortfall 379

Highways - Additional Highways Costs 30

Cost Reductions

Parking -50
To review charging policy, including the introduction of ‘pay by the minute’ for on-street pay 
and display
Integrated Transport -50
Review charging opportunities & centralisation of budgets
Libraries -50
To re-shape support staffing arrangements
Waste -167
To consider the introduction of ‘winter opening’ hours at household recycling centres
Strategic Planning -50
To refocus spending on flood alleviation
Fire & Rescue Services -160
Reduced costs of new pension scheme.
Rationalisation of software licencing.
Realising the benefits of the introduction of new systems.

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,409 -527 1,882

Communities and Infrastructure Budget 2018/19 79,896

Page 115



56

2018/19 Business Support Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 26,115

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay Inflation 396
To provide for a 2% pay award wef 1 April 2018
National Living Wage 207
Inflationary cost pressures following introduction of the National Living Wage
Cost increases due to increase in child protection cases (extraordinary 
included) 

333

General Data Protection Regulations Compliance 300
E-storage Management Digital Strategy 132
Print Contract 42
HR Scanning System 68

SAP data archiving and support 122
Credit controller role 48
ICT contract inflation 820

Cost Reductions
Efficiency savings across all support services, including digitisation of 
processes

-396

Efficiency savings associated with improved cash flow and expansion of 
the GCC temporary staff register

-250

Efficiency savings from reduced printing through member ICT -20

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,468 -666 1,802

Business Support Budget 2018/19 27,917

Page 116



57

2018/19 Technical and Corporate Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget (2017/18 Revised Budget) 59,389

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases

Pay inflation 6
To provide for a 1% pay award wef 1 April 2018
Contingency to provide for an additional 0.5% pay award wef 1 April 2018 300
Cost Reductions

Removal of 2017-18 one off investments -10,575

MRP Changes
Capital Financing Changes as set out in detail within the Treasury Management 
Strategy

-2,000

Customer - Property Disposals -1,400
Revenue savings generated from the utilisation of the proceeds of property 
disposals to reduce debt and/or support financing of the capital programme

Treasury management -1,000
Increased income from investments

TOTAL NET CHANGE 306 -14,975 -14,669

Technical and Corporate Budget 2018/19 44,720

Page 117



58

Additional 2018/19 One Off Investments to be funded from the Transformation Reserve

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Growing Our Communities Fund – this fund will allow each Councillor to allocate 
£30,000 over a three year period to invest in key community projects.

1,590

Additional investment in the Lengthsman Scheme in 2018/19 until it is 
incorporated in the new Highways contract

530

A transfer to the A417 Reserve to create a total fund of £4.0 million 2740

TOTAL 2018/19 ONE OFF INVESTMENTS FROM TRANSFORMATION RESERVE 4,860 0 4,860

Page 118



59

Annex 3 – Budget Summary by Service Area

Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2018/19 Budget  

Budget Area

2017/18 
Revised Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s
Programme Budget Areas

Adults 132,104 -11,561 12,629 133,172 1,068 0.81%

Children and Families- Vulnerable Children 57,408 0 16,288 73,696 16,288 28.37%

Children and Families- Other Services 29,760 -891 359 29,228 -532 -1.79%

Communities and Infrastructure 78,014 -527 2,409 79,896 1,882 2.41%

Business Support 26,115 -666 2,468 27,917 1,802 6.90%

Technical and Corporate 59,389 -14,975 306 44,720 -14,669 -24.70%

Total GCC 382,790 -28,620 34,459 388,629 5,839 1.53%

Public Health 24,912 -641 24,271 -641 -2.57%

Total Budget 407,702 -29,261 34,459 412,900 5,198 1.27%

P
age 119



60

Adults MTFS 2018/19

2017/18 
Revised Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 Budget

Cash Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Services for Older People 47,965 -5,883 3,193 45,275 -2,690 -5.61%
Services for People with a Physical Disability 12,389 -573 922 12,738 349 2.82%
Services for People with a Learning Disability 47,565 -4,979 6,042 48,628 1,063 2.23%
Services for People with Mental Health Issues 7,317 258 7,575 258 3.53%
Other Services for Adults 16,868 -126 2,214 18,956 2,088 12.38%
Total:  Adults 132,104 -11,561 12,629 133,172 1,068 0.81%

P
age 120



61

Public Health  MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
Revised 

Base 
Budget

Cost 
Movements

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %

Public Health Ringfenced Grant:
      Sexual Health 3,846 -504 3,342 -504 -13.10%
      Health Behaviours 2,084 256 2,340 256 12.28%
      Drugs & Alcohol 6,327 -234 6,093 -234 -3.70%
     Children 0-19 (incl.Health Visiting   9,458 144 9,602 144 1.52%
     & School Visiting)
     Public Mental Health 302 -32 270 -32 -10.60%
     NHS Health Checks 712 -242 470 -242 -33.99%
     Safeguarding 100 100 0 0.00%
     PH function incl.staffing and intelligence 2,083 -29 2,054 -29 -1.39%

Public Health Ringfenced Grant 24,912 -641 24,271 -641 -2.57%

P
age 121



62

Children and Families MTFS 2018/19 

Children and Families  - Vulnerable Children MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
Revised 

Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Vulnerable Children 57,408 16,288 73,696 16,288 28.37%
Total:  Vulnerable Children 57,408 - 16,288 73,696 16,288 28.37%

Children and Families - Other Services MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
Revised 

Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Education 18,729 -350 336 18,715 -14 -0.07%
Commissioning 1,062 - 23 1,085 23 2.17%
Other Children Services 9,969 -541 9,428 -541 -5.43%
Total:  Children & Families Other Services 29,760 -891 359 29,228 -532 -1.79%

P
age 122



63

Communities & Infrastructure MTFS 2018/19 

2017/18 
Revised 

Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Parking -2,864 -50 4 -2,910 -46 1.61%
Strategic Planning 1,772 -50 164 1,886 114 6.43%
Flood Alleviation 1,199 4 1,203 4 0.33%
Highways 17,975 490 18,465 490 2.73%
Integrated Transport Unit 10,045 -50 14 10,009 -36 -0.36%
Unallocated/Corporate Budgets 1,014 432 1,446 432 42.60%
Fire & Rescue Service 15,603 -160 569 16,012 409 2.62%
Libraries 3,315 -50 45 3,310 -5 -0.15%
Road Safety 123 230 353 230 186.99%
Regulatory Services 1,315 45 1,360 45 3.42%
Healthwatch 217 217 0 0.00%
Waste 27,429 -167 12 27,274 -155 -0.57%
Customer Services 1,250 21 1,271 21 1.68%
Customer Programme Savings -379 379 - 379 -100.00%
Total: C&I Including Waste 78,014 -527 2,409 79,896 1,882 2.41%

P
age 123



64

Business Support MTFS 2018/19

2017/18 Revised 
Base Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Support Services 19,294 -646 1,376 20,024 730 3.78%
Strategy & Challenge 6,821 -20 1,092 7,893 1,072 15.72%
Total: Business Support 26,115 -666 2,468 27,917 1,802 6.90%P

age 124



65

Technical & Corporate MTFS 2017/18

2017/18 
Revised 

Base 
Budget

Cost  
Reductions

Cost 
Increases 
(Including 
Inflation)

Proposed 
2018/19 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s %
Corporately Controlled Budgets 17,566 304 17,870 304 1.73%
Capital Financing 29,897 -4,400 25,497 -4,400 -14.72%
Members and Elections 1,351 2 1,353 2 0.15%
One off Investments 10,575 -10,575 - -10,575 -100.00%
Total: Technical & Corporate 59,389 -14,975 306 44,720 -14,669 -24.70%

P
age 125



66

Medium Term Financial Planning Framework 2018/19 to 2020/21 Annex 4

Context

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to 
the Council Strategy for the next three year period. The MTFS sets out the Council’s high-level 
funded plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available financing and spending 
ambitions. It highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and capital), 
and reserves. The MTFS is prepared annually and covers the three year period 2018/19 to 
2020/21. It links decisions on resource allocation with decisions on policy priorities as set out in 
the Council Strategy.

Principles
The principles underlying the MTFS are:

 Stable and sustainable budgets.

 Ensures resources are focused on the Council’s highest priorities

 Demonstrates value for money.

 Recognises risk and ensures an adequate level of financial protection against risk by 
maintaining a prudent, but not excessive, level of financial reserves.

 Secure understanding of sources of potential finance.

 Builds financial capacity for organisational change.

 Is flexible – to allow shifts in spending should circumstances change.

 Does not overburden the Council with future financial commitments, with a key aim 
being to continue to reduce debt over the period of the new MTFS, thereby releasing 
on going debt related revenue savings.

 Aligns on-going financing resources with on-going spending commitments.

Budget Assumptions

The 2018/19 Budget and MTFS has been produced using the following assumptions
 Council tax will increase by 1.99% per annum
 The Adult Social Care Levy of 2% will be applied in 2018/19 and 2019/20
 The Pay Cap of 1% will apply to all Council employees (with the exception of Firefighters) 

during the period of this MTFS. 
 Inflation – budgets will only be adjusted for inflation where there is a contractual 

commitment
 General Reserves will remain at the current level which is within the 4-6% recommended 

level
 External Borrowing will be repaid as it matures and no new external borrowing is 

anticipated during the lifetime of this MTFS
 A limited amount of central contingency will be held to cover potential risk of:

 Pay award over 1%
 Unachieved savings targets 

Page 126



67

Annex 5: Reserves & Balances Analysis 

Balance 
at 31st 

March 
2017

Transfers Out 
2017/18

Transfers In     
2017/18

Projected 
Balance 

at 31st 

March 
2018

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Earmarked Reserves
Capital Fund 14,271 -8,052 6,947 13,166 1
Strategic Waste Reserve 36,005 1,700 37,705 2
Transformation Reserve 6,462 -6,130 5,000 5,332 3
Invest to Save 3,141 -900 2,241 4
Insurance Fund 12,560 12,560 5
Active Communities 1,230 -550 680 6
Public Health 3,641 -3,103 538 7
County Elections 934 -850 200 284 8
Vehicle & Plant Replacement 82 82 9
Fire Service Pensions 127 127 10
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,144 -27 1,117 11
Economic Stimulus Reserve 6,097 -5,465 632 12
Fire PFI Reserve - GFRS 3,048 3,048 13
Revenue Grant Reserves 10,710 10,710 14
Adoption Reserve 163 -163 0 15
Rates Retention Reserve 2,505 -835 1,670 16
Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 500 17
Vulnerable Children Reserve 3,124 -3,124 0 18
Home to School Transport Reserve 468 -100 368 19
A417 Missing Link 1,259 1,259 20
Adult Care 2,903 2,903 21
Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 703 -666 37 22
Traded Services & Shared Audit Service 
Reserves

253 253 23

LED Renewables Reserve 463 463 24
Services to Families with Young Children 
Reserve

300 -300 0 25

Other Reserves 596 -105 0 491 26
Earmarked Reserves ( Non School) 112,689 -30,370 13,847 96,166

Schools Related
School Balances 19,688 19,688 27
Other Schools Related 4,795 4,795 27

School Related 24,483 0 0 24,483

Earmarked Reserves Total 137,172 -30,370 13,847 120,649

General Fund Balances 19,848 -1,295 18,553 28

Total Revenue Reserves 157,020 -31,665 13,847 139,202

Earmarked Capital Reserves  Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2017

Transfers Out 
2017/18

Transfers In     
2017/18

Balance 
at 31st 
March 

2018
Capital Grant & Contributions Reserves 46,017 46,017 29
Capital Receipts Reserve 32,371 32,371 30
Total Capital Reserves 78,388 0 0 78,388

Page 127



68

Notes on Reserves

1. The capital fund balance assumes that £6.95 million will be transferred from the revenue 
capital financing budget to support approved capital programme expenditure. 

2. The strategic waste reserve’s estimated balance as at 31st March 2018 is £37.70 million, 
following a proposed transfer of £1.7 million from revenue. These funds are required to 
meet contract payments due on construction / completion.

3. The transformation reserve was set up in 2009/10 to fund liabilities to pay for 
redundancy and one-off transformation costs associated with the MtC programme. The 
reserve will be reduced by £2.4 million to fund the 2017/18 revenue budget, as approved 
by County Council in February 2017.

4. The invest to save reserve supports projects that are designed to deliver on-going savings 
in the future by providing “pump priming” funding. The transfer out of the reserve relates to 
a £0.9 million contribution to capital for the provision of photovoltaic PV panels for Shire 
Hall.

5. It is anticipated that the insurance fund will remain at current levels in line with 
recommended actuarial valuations and assessment of potential liabilities. 

6. The purpose of the reserve is to provide capacity to engage and build active communities 
as part of the Council’s Strategic Plan. Commitments against the reserve are likely to be 
spread over a number of years. The reserve will be reduced by £0.5 million to fund the 
2017/18 revenue budget, as approved by County Council in February 2017.

7. The public health reserve holds any unused balances from the Public Health Grant 
received by Government. 

8. The county elections reserve acts as a smoothing reserve to fund the costs associated 
with county council elections held every four years.  A budgeted annual contribution of
£0.2 million is annually made to this fund. The costs associated with the 2017 election are 
fully funded from this reserve.

9. The vehicle and plant reserve is intended to support Council procurement of Service 
vehicles and Plant

10.The fire pensions reserve was established to support any potential liabilities under the fire 
service pension schemes. The cost of early retirements due to ill health result in additional 
employers’ liabilities and the intention of this reserve is to offset any impact of these costs 
on the revenue budget if required.

Page 128



69

11.The fire joint training reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue 
implications over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early 
years of the contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the 
contract. Reserve balances are now expected to slowly reduce for the remaining of the 
contract to 2028.

12.The economic stimulus reserve is committed to fund a series of initiatives to support 
economic growth within Gloucestershire i.e. fastershire rural broadband and 
apprenticeship initiative. It is forecast that the reserve will have a balance of £0.63 million 
at 31st March 2018.

13.The fire PFI reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications over 
the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the 
contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. 
Reserve balances are therefore expected to peak in 2025 at £4.77 million, but then 
reduce over the next 13 years to zero in 2038.

14.The revenue grants reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under 
accounting policies, for specific unapplied revenue grants where conditions related to the 
grant have been fully met. 

15.The adoption reserve was established to support costs associated with the adoption 
service. It is anticipated that this will be fully utilised in 2017/18.

16.The way that the Council is funded changed in 2013/14. As a result the Council is subject 
to volatility around Business Rates collections. To minimise this volatility the Council will 
receive a “Top Up” Grant from Central Government, which means that only our “Baseline” 
position will be subject to the volatility. This figure accounts for £20.6 million of our 
funding, and means that if our District Councils collect less business rates this figure could 
be lower. Central Government do have a safety net mechanism, that would mean that the 
Council would receive funding to offset this loss should Business Rates fall, however this 
safety net is set at 7.5%, meaning that our collected Business Rates would need to fall by 
£4.9 million before the safety net would become payable.  Where deficits do occur, the 
reserve will be used to prevent any impact on the revenue budget. The reserve will be 
reduced by £0.88 million to fund the 2017/18 revenue budget, as approved by County 
Council in February 2017. Part of this reserve is Gloucestershire Pool money, ring fenced 
for economic development projects across the County totalling £0.34 million. 

17.The education funding smoothing reserve funds any in-year funding adjustments made in 
relation to Academies. Such adjustments will be funded during the year from the reserve 
with base budget reductions made in the following year’s budget, i.e. if a school transfers 
to Academy status mid-year the Council’s budget will be top-sliced mid-year.

18.The vulnerable children’s reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated 
with the fluctuations in demand led Children Services, such as agency placements, 
fostering allowances, special guardianship and care allowances. It is anticipated that this 
will be fully utilised in 2017/18.

19.  The home to school transport reserve was created in order to smooth out the budgetary 
pressures caused by the fluctuations in school transport days between financial years.

20.This reserve was established to support the upgrading of a section of the A417. 

Page 129



70

21.Adult care reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated with the 
fluctuations in demand led adult services. 

22.This reserve was created to hold a number of small revenue carry forwards for 
Community and Infrastructure services and will be fully utilised in 2017/18 other than 
£0.37 million for Street Lighting LED phase 2 contract mobilisation which will be spent in 
2018/19. 

23.The traded services & shared audit reserve was created to support activities to generate 
further traded income.  

24.This is the smoothing reserve for the repayment of the SALIX/SEELs repayments over 7 
years. 

25.This funding was approved by Cabinet to fund capital works which will enable children 
centre buildings to be adapted and made suitable for the provision of a wider range of 
services. This reserve will be fully utilised in 2017/18. 

26.This relates to a small number of specific reserves.

27. It has been assumed that balances for Schools and the Dedicated School’s Grant will 
remain at similar levels to those held at 31st March 2017.

28.Assuming a balanced outturn position on the revenue budget for 2017/18 general 
reserves are forecast to fall to £18.55 million at 31 March 2018, following the transfer of 
£1.29 million to support the revenue budget approved by County Council February 2017. 
In the event of an over spend position a further draw down on general reserves will be 
required.

29.The capital grants & contributions reserve is a technical reserve established, as required 
under accounting policies, for specific unapplied capital grants & contributions where 
conditions related to the grant have been fully met. These fully committed funds will be 
used to support the capital programme from 2017/18 onwards. 

30.The capital receipts reserve holds capital receipts which have been received from 
approved property disposals. These receipts are held to finance the approved capital 
programme.

Page 130



71

Annex 6 Revenue Budget Forward Projections

MTFS 2018/19 – 2020/21 – Forecast draft budgets based on funding assumptions

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m £m
Base Budget 407.7 407.7 412.9 423.52
Inflation ( Pay,Pensions 
and Prices) 2.43 2.43 2.34

National Living Wage 4.30 4.36 4.48
Other Pressures   
(Estimated) 27.73 20.06 10.20

Savings to be met from 
Transformation 
Programme

-29.26 -16.23 -14.26

Net Operating Budget 407.7 412.90 423.52 426.28

Funded by:-

Core Grant Funding -102.80 -93.60 -84.12 -77.17
Other Non Ring Fenced 
Grant Funding -11.10 -12.23 -18.56 -17.94

Public Health Grant -24.9 -24.27 -23.63 -23.63
Council Tax Surplus -4.08 -5.25 -4.00 -4.00
Reserve Movements -5.20 0.00 0.00 0.00
Council Tax 
Requirement 259.62 277.55 293.21 303.54

Council Tax Calculation

Council Tax Base ( Est) 220,159 225,247 228,625 232,055
Council Tax Band D 
Equivalent) £1,179.26 £1,232.21 £1,281.37 £1,306.87

% Increase in Council Tax 3.99% 4.49% 3.99% 3.99%
This excludes the additional ringfenced social care grant funding totalling 
£10.598 million in 2017-18,  £7.176 million expected in 2018-19 & £3.569 
million expected in 2019-20.

Page 131



72

Annex 7    Capital Strategy - 2018-19 and Beyond

1. INTRODUCTION

Gloucestershire County Council’s capital strategy is an overarching strategy that 
supports business plans.

It reflects the vision of the County Council and aspirations of local people for service delivery 
and recognises the potential for others to contribute ideas and resources, through 
consultation with stakeholder groups. It also determines the priorities between the various 
services and looks for opportunities for crosscutting and joined-up investment.

The capital strategy is a vehicle for achieving the goals and priorities of the organisation.

2. AN OVERVIEW

The Council Strategy is the key high-level document that, along with the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS), sets the Council’s strategic policy direction.  The Council’s 
Strategy sets out the vision and values that will guide the Council, the priorities for 
addressing the challenges and opportunities, and how progress will be demonstrated in 
delivering those priorities.

The priorities set out in the strategy are:
 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our County
 Building sustainable communities
 Investing in vital services and infrastructure
 Growing our economy
 Creating a Council fit for the future

To help deliver this the Council needs access to long-term assets. Long term assets, often 
referred to as ‘fixed assets’, are defined as those that have an economic life of more than 
one year. The provision of long-term assets is further defined as being capital expenditure. 
Capital expenditure therefore has a great bearing on how well the Council achieves its 
overall objectives and the Council’s Capital Strategy is a key element in delivering this.

There are a variety of ways in which capital expenditure can be financed – some will have a 
more direct impact on the revenue budget (and council tax) than others.

Those that should have a largely neutral effect include direct grants, the use of receipts from 
the sale of fixed assets and “invest to save” schemes that more than neutralise the full 
financing impact on the revenue budget.

Other ways of funding capital expenditure include the direct use of revenue financing and 
prudential borrowing. These methods of funding can impact significantly on the revenue 
budget.

Page 132



73

3. THE CAPITAL STRATEGY

 To acquire and retain access to sufficient long-term assets to provide excellent 
services to the people of Gloucestershire.

 To live within our means.

 To leverage and recycle the Council’s long-term asset base - to generate receipts 
for new investment and deliver revenue savings.

 To encourage Invest to Save initiatives to make efficiencies within the Council’s 
revenue budget.

 To have a “fit for purpose” property stock which addresses the service needs of the 
Council.

 To improve the Council’s ICT and communications infrastructure to allow better 
accessibility and greater scope for value for money.

 To maintain all existing Council highway infrastructure and to provide appropriate 
new infrastructure as demand requires.

 To facilitate the extended use of public transport.

 To meet statutory obligations as effectively as possible.

 To empower other organisations to undertake capital expenditure that directly 
affects the delivery of the Council’s goals and priorities.

 To ensure that all investment decisions are based on a robust appraisal process, 
including the evaluation of Value for Money (VFM), affordability and risk.

 To view ownership of long-term assets as a means to an end, not an end in itself.

 To encourage the formulation of solutions that cut across service and partners 
boundaries.

 To fully appreciate the longer-term issues and consequences of growth in general 
population numbers: for example demographic change and variations in client 
numbers.

4. THE MAIN INFLUENCES ON THE CAPITAL STRATEGY
 The ownership and current standard of the Council’s existing assets.

 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

 The Council’s strategic goals and priorities.

 Joint Municipal Waste Strategy.

 The adopted Joint Core Strategy and Local Plans.

 Asset Management Plans, Carbon reduction plans and ICT Strategy.

 Government financing regulations (including the Prudential Guidelines).

 The strategic plans and available resources of partner organisations.

5. THE FUNDING OBJECTIVES OF THE CAPITAL STRATEGY
 Adherence to the Council’s strategic priority of living within its means.

Page 133



74

 To maximise Government grant opportunities (taking into account any future impact on the 
Council’s budgets).

 To maximise of external partnership funding to bridge resource gaps.

 To have an effective strategic external developer contribution protocol against which the 
success of incoming funds can be judged.

 The speedy release of surplus assets and their application in accordance with the Council’s 
capital receipts programme.

 To make appropriate use of prudential borrowing, consistent with the Council Tax levels 
defined by the Council’s priorities and within the Council’s prudential indicators.

 To ensure that investment and disposal decisions are based on thorough option appraisal 
and whole life costing.

 To maximise external contributions.

6. MEANS OF DELIVERY
 A Capital Programme that adheres to the Funding Objectives outlined in Section 5 above.

 An Asset Management Plan approach to the optimal use of existing assets.

 The use of partners and the empowerment of the voluntary sector.

 A planned investment in priorities over the MTFS period.

 A rationalised disposals programme in line with the Council’s goals and priorities.

7.PLANNING & DECISION MAKING PROCESSES 
 The basis of planning will be the Asset Management Plans, the adopted Joint Core Strategy 

and Local Plans and ICT Strategies. These are business led in accordance with the 
council’s plans and strategies.

 Revenue plans for capital schemes will include 5% cost of capital, so that capital and 
revenue priorities can be considered alongside each other at the same time. The 5% charge 
acts as a proxy for the first year cost of new investments.

 The Council’s project appraisal process will be the methodology employed to evaluate 
schemes in the MTFS. The elements are:

o Scheme description
o Fit against the Council’s priorities
o Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
o Available funding and source
o Revenue consequences
o Risk assessment
o VAT issues
o Planning and site issues
o Target dates

 Analysis of existing approved schemes to be carried out at each MTFS refresh to identify all 
“non-committed” schemes. These will be re-prioritised against other priority schemes 
awaiting approval.

 Capital resources will be made available to deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest 
to save” criteria.

Page 134



75

Annex 8a 

Capital Programme 2018/19

MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL SERVICES
FINANCING STATEMENT

------------------    Profiled Budget   ------------------ Total Prior Total 
Future Still Years Scheme

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Years Required Actual Investment
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GROSS PAYMENTS

Adults 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473
Children & Families 29,503 43,444 26,409 5,900 0 105,256 48,405 153,661
Communities:
Highways 40,403 57,665 30,205 30,205 9,000 167,478 65,160 232,638
Strategic Infrastructure 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764
Waste Disposal 866 445 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360
Libraries 520 1,583 0 0 0 2,103 905 3,008
Community Safety 1,384 1,672 2,388 244 1,849 7,537 3,614 11,151
Business Support:
AMPS 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 35,535 6,941 42,476
ICT Projects 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418
Archives & Information Management 2,327 681 0 0 0 3,008 353 3,361
Customer 46 170 0 0 0 216 342 558
Business Support Misc 0 771 360 0 0 1,131 0 1,131
Total 107,505 140,594 68,202 36,799 10,849 363,949 140,050 503,999

AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Revenue Contributions 2,310 666 0 0 0 2,976
Section 106 Contributions 14,637 10,926 258 0 0 25,821
Capital Fund 9,924 7,229 2,026 0 0 19,179
Other External Contributions 575 45 0 0 0 620
External Grant - including Government 60,541 77,699 37,419 26,105 0 201,764
Other Reserves 3,525 2,725 859 0 0 7,109
Capital Receipts 15,993 25,304 8,640 694 1,849 52,480
Internal Borrowing 0 16,000 19,000 10,000 9,000 54,000
Other - including Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 107,505 140,594 68,202 36,799 10,849 363,949

Surplus/deficit (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 135



76

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Summary by Service Area
Adults 24,473 6,078 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 61 0 661 86 17,571 0 16 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473
Children & Families 153,661 48,405 29,503 43,444 26,409 5,900 0 1,405 20,370 1,635 173 66,095 0 578 15,000 0 105,256 48,405 153,661
Highways 232,638 65,160 40,403 57,665 30,205 30,205 9,000 1,078 5,068 1,032 260 109,869 0 11,171 39,000 0 167,478 65,160 232,638
Strategic Infrastructure 18,764 5,288 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 198 0 1,404 0 2,191 5,329 4,354 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764
Waste Disposal 1,360 49 866 445 0 0 0 0 0 431 0 0 880 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360
Libraries 3,008 905 520 1,583 0 0 0 0 373 31 0 220 0 1,479 0 0 2,103 905 3,008
Community Safety 11,151 3,614 1,384 1,672 2,388 244 1,849 67 0 1,377 0 568 0 5,525 0 0 7,537 3,614 11,151
AMPS 42,476 6,941 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 0 10 5,685 0 4,186 900 24,754 0 0 35,535 6,941 42,476
ICT Projects 11,418 2,915 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 100 0 6,361 0 0 0 2,042 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418
Archives & Information Management 3,361 353 2,327 681 0 0 0 67 0 484 101 1,064 0 1,292 0 0 3,008 353 3,361
Customer 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558
Business Support Misc 1,131 0 0 771 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,131 0 0 1,131 0 1,131
Total Capital Programme 503,999 140,050 107,505 140,594 68,202 36,799 10,849 2,976 25,821 19,179 620 201,764 7,109 52,480 54,000 0 363,949 140,050 503,999

Adults
Sandford Park House 360 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 360 0 360
ERIC Replacement 1,580 630 800 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 950 0 0 0 0 950 630 1,580
GIS 1,000 569 371 60 0 0 0 0 0 246 10 175 0 0 0 0 431 569 1,000
Community Capacity Grant 2,168 0 0 2,168 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,168 0 0 0 0 2,168 0 2,168
Disabled Facilities Grant 16/17 4,682 3,382 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,300 0 0 0 0 1,300 3,382 4,682
Disabled Facilities Grant 17/18 5,136 0 4,834 302 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,136 0 0 0 0 5,136 0 5,136
Supported Living Accommodation Fairford 730 0 100 630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 730 0 0 0 0 730 0 730
HOLD Scheme 654 0 80 574 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 654 0 0 0 0 654 0 654
Transitions for Life 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,152 1,497 387 268 0 0 0 61 0 55 76 447 0 16 0 0 655 1,497 2,152
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Disabled Facilities Grant (indicative) 5,561 0 0 5,561 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,561 0 0 0 0 5,561 0 5,561
Total Adults 24,473 6,078 7,872 10,523 0 0 0 61 0 661 86 17,571 0 16 0 0 18,395 6,078 24,473

Children & Families
Alderman Knight sufficiency 1,900 782 1,083 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,118 0 0 0 0 1,118 782 1,900
Paternoster, replace temps 2,848 116 1,784 948 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 2,722 0 0 0 0 2,732 116 2,848
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 5,477 487 2,900 2,090 0 0 0 0 4,890 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 4,990 487 5,477
Beaufort School 1FE expansion 3,940 144 2,800 996 0 0 0 0 3,696 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 3,796 144 3,940
Balcarass School 1FE expansion 364 0 364 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 364 0 0 0 0 364 0 364
Pittville School, increase capacity 2,258 1,534 524 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 724 0 0 0 0 724 1,534 2,258
Severn Vale School 1FE expansion 5,000 31 2,500 2,469 0 0 0 0 1,769 0 0 3,200 0 0 0 0 4,969 31 5,000
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 1,190 73 500 559 58 0 0 0 1,117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,117 73 1,190
Barnwood Park School 1FE expansion 2,500 0 120 1,585 795 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500
Short Breaks Capital Grants 942 388 350 204 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 554 0 0 0 0 554 388 942
Woodmancote Primary, nursery provision 365 0 345 20 0 0 0 0 357 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 365 0 365
Bishops Cleeve Primary, double classroom 334 0 322 12 0 0 0 50 274 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 334 0 334
Bledington Primary Pod Eco Classrooms 380 0 380 0 0 0 0 42 0 0 0 338 0 0 0 0 380 0 380
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, s106 cont 778 24 500 254 0 0 0 0 754 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 754 24 778
Leighterton Primary replace temps 700 53 560 87 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 627 0 0 0 0 647 53 700
Chalford Hill Primary, replace temps 1,283 127 850 306 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,156 0 0 0 0 1,156 127 1,283
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 1,500 83 100 1,192 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,417 0 0 0 0 1,417 83 1,500
Drybrook Primary remodel classrooms 790 18 15 732 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 772 0 0 0 0 772 18 790
English Bicknor Primary Pre-school 332 17 281 34 0 0 0 3 0 20 0 292 0 0 0 0 315 17 332
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 600 0 150 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Grangefield Primary, expansion 2,716 765 1,865 86 0 0 0 0 1,951 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,951 765 2,716
Rissington Primary, pre-school 376 0 315 61 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 346 0 0 0 0 376 0 376
Rissington Primary, classroom extension 250 0 240 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250
Mickleton Primary, double classroom unit 539 0 115 424 0 0 0 0 524 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 539 0 539
Shurdington Primary expansion 1,405 6 499 900 0 0 0 0 1,149 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 1,399 6 1,405
Thrupp Primary, replace temps 811 42 731 38 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 736 0 0 0 0 769 42 811

P
age 136



77

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Springbank Primary garden room 258 1 246 11 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 235 0 0 0 0 257 1 258
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 828 0 676 152 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 823 0 0 0 0 828 0 828
Gloucester Road Primary, SEN/Group Room 350 4 312 34 0 0 0 0 291 3 0 52 0 0 0 0 346 4 350
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 0 0 325 81 0 0 0 0 0 0 406 0 0 0 0 406 0 406
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 271 0 271
School kitchen upgrades 17/18 450 0 163 287 0 0 0 158 0 286 0 6 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Calton Primary, 1FE expansion 4,716 4,464 150 102 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 252 0 0 0 0 252 4,464 4,716
Coney Hill Primary, extension & hygiene 260 0 223 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 0 260
Dinglewell Junior replace classrooms 821 0 40 761 20 0 0 35 0 0 0 786 0 0 0 0 821 0 821
Intensive Intervention Service (IRIS) 1,200 0 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 1,200
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 47,444 39,246 6,900 1,258 40 0 0 567 1,153 126 173 6,179 0 0 0 0 8,198 39,246 47,444
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Basic Need Grant 18/19 791 0 0 791 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 791 0 0 0 0 791 0 791
Special Provision Fund 18/19 - 20/21 1,950 0 0 650 650 650 0 0 0 0 0 1,950 0 0 0 0 1,950 0 1,950
Basic Need Grant 2019/20 2,565 0 0 0 2,565 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,565 0 0 0 0 2,565 0 2,565
Cheltenham New School 30,000 0 0 11,000 14,000 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 15,000 0 30,000 0 30,000
Building improvements to Impact Youth Centre space & 578 0 0 578 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 578 0 0 578 0 578
Capital Maintenance Programme 1,680 0 0 1,680 0 0 0 280 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 0 0 1,680 0 1,680
Health & Safety/accessibility etc. 800 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 0 800
Suitability bid programme 1,650 0 0 650 1,000 0 0 150 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 1,650 0 1,650
Basic Need provision 6,500 0 0 4,000 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,500 0 0 0 0 6,500 0 6,500
Ashchurch Primary replace temporary classrooms 600 0 0 550 50 0 0 0 230 0 0 370 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Tredington Primary additional classroom 265 0 0 265 0 0 0 0 265 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 265 0 265
Cheltenham area additional primary places 4,000 0 0 750 3,000 250 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 4,000
Fairford Primary expansion 2,800 0 0 2,000 800 0 0 0 750 0 0 2,050 0 0 0 0 2,800 0 2,800
Hunts Grove Primary temporary accommodation 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 400 0 400
High Needs Programme Specialist Provision 1,000 0 0 500 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000
Innsworth Infant new reception classroom 300 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
The John Moore Primary expansion 1,200 0 0 1,000 200 0 0 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,200 0 1,200
Total Children & Families 153,661 48,405 29,503 43,444 26,409 5,900 0 1,405 20,370 1,635 173 66,095 0 578 15,000 0 105,256 48,405 153,661

Highways
Metz Way Bus Lane (East of Eastern Ave) 1,856 385 116 1,355 0 0 0 0 1,274 0 0 197 0 0 0 0 1,471 385 1,856
Coopers Hill - Slip 380 115 219 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 265 0 0 0 0 265 115 380
Pothole Action Fund 1,435 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 1,435
Cinderford Northern Quarter Spine Road 6,839 5,887 760 192 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 852 0 0 0 0 952 5,887 6,839
Gloucester South West Bypass - Llanthony 2,635 180 455 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,455 0 0 0 0 2,455 180 2,635
On street parking (Cheltenham Phase 4) 590 318 272 0 0 0 0 212 3 0 0 57 0 0 0 0 272 318 590
Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 770 53 100 617 0 0 0 0 717 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 717 53 770
A419 Stonehouse to M5 4,505 145 310 4,050 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,360 0 0 0 0 4,360 145 4,505
A40 Improvements Over Roundabout 2,465 579 400 1,486 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,886 0 0 0 0 1,886 579 2,465
Elmbridge Major Scheme Bid 13,299 8,340 3,600 1,359 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,959 0 0 0 0 4,959 8,340 13,299
A435 Bishops Cleeve to Race Course Hiway 451 6 75 370 0 0 0 0 445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 445 6 451
LED Streetlighting Major Project 22,217 7,525 6,695 7,997 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,271 0 10,421 0 0 14,692 7,525 22,217
Concrete Column Replacement-LED Project 1,988 1,188 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 1,188 1,988
High Mast Replacement 390 72 318 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 318 0 0 0 0 318 72 390
Street Lighting - General 3,080 2,757 323 0 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 301 0 0 0 0 323 2,757 3,080
Berkeley New And Berkeley Old Bridges 3,306 2,174 1,132 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,132 0 0 0 0 1,132 2,174 3,306
Horsley Hill Landslip Nailsworth 862 237 625 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 625 0 0 0 0 625 237 862
Lydney Level Crossings 500 17 483 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 483 0 0 0 0 483 17 500
Carriageways: A Roads Structural Maintenance 1,352 0 1,352 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,052 0 300 0 0 1,352 0 1,352
Carriageways: B Roads Structural Maintenance 1,774 0 1,774 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,524 0 250 0 0 1,774 0 1,774
Bowbridge Stroud - Community Offer 1,137 667 470 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 178 282 0 0 0 0 470 667 1,137
Bristol Road, Gloucester 590 93 166 331 0 0 0 0 495 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 497 93 590
St Johns Road Slimbridge 378 53 325 0 0 0 0 125 0 150 0 50 0 0 0 0 325 53 378
TS152 - Metz Way/Eastern Avenue design 570 27 24 519 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 543 0 0 0 0 543 27 570

P
age 137



78

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carriageways: C Roads Structural Maintenance 4,822 0 4,822 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 4,619 0 200 0 0 4,822 0 4,822
Carriageways: Unclassified Roads Struct Maint 884 0 884 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 884 0 0 0 0 884 0 884
Footways Structural Maintenance 421 0 421 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 421 0 0 0 0 421 0 421
Minor Works 2017-18 1,519 0 1,519 0 0 0 0 0 5 33 0 1,481 0 0 0 0 1,519 0 1,519
Reactive Works 3,656 0 3,656 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,656 0 0 0 0 3,656 0 3,656
Safety Fencing 600 336 253 11 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 114 0 0 0 0 264 336 600
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 43,621 34,006 6,619 2,996 0 0 0 591 2,094 749 82 6,099 0 0 0 0 9,615 34,006 43,621
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Structural Maintenance (estimate) 52,032 0 0 17,344 17,344 17,344 0 0 0 0 0 52,032 0 0 0 0 52,032 0 52,032
Pothole Fund (estimate) 1,435 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 0 0 0 1,435 0 1,435
Road Maintenance 39,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,000 0 39,000 0 39,000
Integrated Transport (estimated 2018/19) 8,583 0 0 2,861 2,861 2,861 0 0 0 0 0 8,583 0 0 0 0 8,583 0 8,583
National Investment Productivity Fund 2018/19 2,696 0 0 2,696 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,696 0 0 0 0 2,696 0 2,696
Total Highways 232,638 65,160 40,403 57,665 30,205 30,205 9,000 1,078 5,068 1,032 260 109,869 0 11,171 39,000 0 167,478 65,160 232,638

Strategic Infrastructure
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 13,700 4,215 2,785 1,500 5,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,131 4,354 0 0 9,485 4,215 13,700
Priors & Oakley FAS - FDGiA 2,583 239 700 1,644 0 0 0 0 0 166 0 2,178 0 0 0 0 2,344 239 2,583
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,283 834 130 1,180 139 0 0 198 0 1,238 0 13 0 0 0 0 1,449 834 2,283
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Multi Modal Transport Model - SATURN 198 0 0 185 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 198 0 0 0 198 0 198
Total Strategic Infrastructure 18,764 5,288 3,615 4,509 5,352 0 0 198 0 1,404 0 2,191 5,329 4,354 0 0 13,476 5,288 18,764

Waste Disposal
Hempstead HRC 460 49 406 5 0 0 0 0 0 411 0 0 0 0 0 0 411 49 460
Mobile Compactors 460 0 460 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 440 0 0 0 460 0 460
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Mobile Compaction and site works - Phase 2 440 0 0 440 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 440 0 0 0 440 0 440
Total Waste Disposal 1,360 49 866 445 0 0 0 0 0 431 0 0 880 0 0 0 1,311 49 1,360

Libraries
Customer Services Programme 1,519 43 45 1,431 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,476 0 0 1,476 43 1,519
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 1,489 862 475 152 0 0 0 0 373 31 0 220 0 3 0 0 627 862 1,489
Total Libraries 3,008 905 520 1,583 0 0 0 0 373 31 0 220 0 1,479 0 0 2,103 905 3,008

Community Safety
BA Project 700 234 400 66 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 466 0 0 0 0 466 234 700
Operational equipment 270 4 135 131 0 0 0 0 0 266 0 0 0 0 0 0 266 4 270
Appliances & Equipment 17/18 (Vehicles) 600 0 400 200 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Mobile Data Terminals 300 0 50 100 150 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 3,775 3,376 399 0 0 0 0 67 0 211 0 102 0 19 0 0 399 3,376 3,775
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Personal Protective Equipment 600 0 0 300 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 0 600 0 600
Emergency Response Vehicles 4,606 0 0 875 1,788 94 1,849 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,606 0 0 4,606 0 4,606
Upgrade emergency control room mobilising system 300 0 0 0 150 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 300
Total Community Safety 11,151 3,614 1,384 1,672 2,388 244 1,849 67 0 1,377 0 568 0 5,525 0 0 7,537 3,614 11,151

P
age 138



79

Capital Programme 2018/19 Total Scheme Budget Financing for Total Scheme budget

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

Prior Years 
Actuals 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Future Years

Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

AMPS
SH MTFS SH Maintenance 1,096 453 300 343 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 1 0 633 0 0 643 453 1,096
MTFS SH Reorganisation 1,380 1,051 329 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 329 0 0 329 1,051 1,380
Locality Hubs 330 9 50 221 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 321 0 0 0 0 321 9 330
MTFS SH Refurbishment 7,186 1,141 5,645 400 0 0 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 6,010 0 0 6,045 1,141 7,186
Worksmart - Photovoltaic Panels 1,140 0 540 600 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 900 0 0 0 1,140 0 1,140
Area Based Review 7,800 0 2,463 5,337 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,800 0 0 7,800 0 7,800
Blackfriars & Quays Redevelopment 4,130 487 2,243 1,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,643 0 0 0 0 3,643 487 4,130
Shire Hall Maintenance - 16-17 MTFS 1,500 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 1,500 0 1,500
Health & Safety Works 2016/17 - 2018/19 900 0 600 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
Disabled Access Corp 2016/17 - 2018/19 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 450 0 450
Shire Hall - Social Care Hub - MTFS17/18 2,900 0 2,500 400 0 0 0 0 0 2,900 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,900 0 2,900
Shire Hall Office Moves - MTFS 17/18 1,772 0 1,000 772 0 0 0 0 0 1,772 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,772 0 1,772
Locality Solutions (Stroud) 375 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 375
Rural Estates - Farm Investment 1,570 0 0 1,000 570 0 0 0 0 75 0 0 0 1,495 0 0 1,570 0 1,570
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 5,087 3,800 870 349 68 0 0 0 10 279 0 221 0 777 0 0 1,287 3,800 5,087
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Shire Hall - Conferencing Facility 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 0 400 0 400
Health & Safety Programme 750 0 0 250 250 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 750 0 0 750 0 750
Shire Hall - Must Haves 2,810 0 0 2,310 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,810 0 0 2,810 0 2,810
Service Properties Refurbishment 900 0 0 400 300 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
Total AMPS 42,476 6,941 18,040 15,307 1,738 450 0 0 10 5,685 0 4,186 900 24,754 0 0 35,535 6,941 42,476

ICT Projects
ICT Strategy - Telephony 1,809 878 625 306 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 631 0 0 931 878 1,809
ICT Strat - Secure Wi-Fi 744 405 241 98 0 0 0 100 0 129 0 0 0 110 0 0 339 405 744
ICT Strat - Network Strategy Upgrade 1,296 46 464 786 0 0 0 0 0 1,070 0 0 0 180 0 0 1,250 46 1,296
ICT Strat - End User Device O/S 2,100 0 120 230 1,750 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 2,100
ICT Strat - VM Refresh - V6 environmt 353 0 117 236 0 0 0 0 0 353 0 0 0 0 0 0 353 0 353
ICT Strat - Replace NGD recycled devices 762 0 259 503 0 0 0 0 0 762 0 0 0 0 0 0 762 0 762
ICT Strat - Document Storage 273 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 273
Social Work, Not Paperwork 327 0 327 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 327
C&F ICT Systems Rationalisation 500 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 2,974 1,586 776 612 0 0 0 0 0 547 0 0 0 841 0 0 1,388 1,586 2,974
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Audio Visual Conferencing Equipt 280 0 0 280 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280 0 0 280 0 280
Total ICT Projects 11,418 2,915 2,929 3,824 1,750 0 0 100 0 6,361 0 0 0 2,042 0 0 8,503 2,915 11,418

Archives & Information Management
Alvin Street Extension - For the Record 3,142 341 2,312 489 0 0 0 63 0 473 101 1,064 0 1,100 0 0 2,801 341 3,142
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 27 12 15 0 0 0 0 4 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 12 27
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
For the Record’: additional storage and transforming 192 0 0 192 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192 0 0 192 0 192
Total Archives & Information Management 3,361 353 2,327 681 0 0 0 67 0 484 101 1,064 0 1,292 0 0 3,008 353 3,361

Customer
Schemes under £250,000 17/18 onwards 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558
Total Customer 558 342 46 170 0 0 0 0 0 78 0 0 0 138 0 0 216 342 558

Business Support Misc
New Starts 2018/19 onwards
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 0 0 540 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 0 900 0 900
SAP Environment - additional data storage 82 0 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82 0 0 82 0 82
HR Scanning system 149 0 0 149 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 149 0 0 149 0 149
Total Business Support Misc 1,131 0 0 771 360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,131 0 0 1,131 0 1,131

P
age 139



80

Annex 8b 

Capital Programme New Schemes 2018/19 onwards funded from Capital Receipts, Internal Borrowing, Reserves & Revenue Contributions

Scheme Name

Current Total 
Scheme
Budget

£000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20

£'000
2020/21+

£'000
Scheme Description

Community & Infrastructure

Multi Modal Transport Model 198 185 13
To construct a multi modal Transport model to aid with the identification of 
infrastructure requirements for the County.

Road Maintenance 39,000 10,000 10,000 19,000 To improve the condition of the Gloucestershire road network
Mobile Compaction and site works - Phase 2 440 440 Replacement of static waste compaction equipment at the end of its life
Community & Infrastructure total 39,638 10,625 10,013 19,000

Children & Families
Building improvements  to Impact Youth Centre 
space & Lodge building - Lewis Lane

578 578 Property rationalisation - Refurbishment of GCC Youth Centre space

Cheltenham School 15,000 6,000 9,000
A new school build to accommodate growing numbers in the County. Total scheme 
cost is £30m with £15m to be funded from the Basic Need Grant

Children & Families Total 15,578 6,578 9,000 0

Asset Management & Property Services
Health & Safety Programme 750 250 250 250 Surveys and capital works on safety aspects for GCC property portfolio
Shire Hall - essentials 2,810 2,310 500 Capital works to enable property rationalisation
Refurbishment of Service Properties 900 400 300 200 To enable effective service operations
Shire Hall conferencing facility 400 400 To provide an in house conference function
Asset Management & Property Services Total 4,860 3,360 1,050 450

ICT Projects
Audio visual conferencing equipment 280 280 IT solutions enabling collaborative partnership working
ICT Projects Total 280 280 0 0

P
age 140



81

Business Services Centre
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 540 360 Digitising manual procurement through to payment processing
SAP Environment - additional data storage 82 82 System critical data storage
Business Services Centre Total 982 622 360 0

Archives
For the Record’: additional storage and 
transforming archive service

192 192 To ensure the future archiving requirements are made in line with legislation

Archives Total 192 192 0 0

Human Resources

HR Scanning system 149 149
To ensure the Council meets its GDPR requirements in relation to employment 
records

Human Resources Total 149 149 0 0

Community Safety - Fire & Rescue

Emergency response vehicles 4,606 875 1,788 1,943

GFRS has a well established fire engine replacement programme to ensure that its 
fleet remains sustainable and reliable for responding to emergencies. 
Replacement fire engines and light fleet vehicles are included for the period 
2018/19 - 2022/23. One aerial ladder platform is also required in 2018/19. 

Upgrade emergency control room mobilising 
system

300 150 150 Updating the mobilising system to accommodate the Countrywide changes to the 
Emergency Services Network

Personal Protection Equipment 600 300 300
Replacement of Fire Fighting Equipment to ensure firefighters have the 
equipment needed to operate effectively

Community Safety - Fire & Rescue Total 5,506 1,175 2,238 2,093
Total New Schemes 2018/19 onwards 67,185 22,981 22,661 21,543

P
age 141



82

Annex 9

P
age 142



83

P
age 143



84

Annex 10

Treasury Management Strategy Statement
and Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

Gloucestershire County Council

Contents

1. Background

2. External Context

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

4. Local Context

5. Borrowing Strategy 

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

7. Debt Rescheduling

8. Annual Investment Strategy

9. Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

10. Security of Investments

11. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives

12. 2018/19 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (MRP)
 
13. Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

14. Other Items 

Appendices

A. Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

B. Existing Portfolio Projected Forward

C. Prudential Indicators

Page 144



85

1. Background

1.1 In February 2010 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 
Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Council to approve a treasury management 
strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.2 In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) issued revised 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments in March 2010 that requires the Council to 
approve an investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.3 This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance.  In particular this Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement aims to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 
 Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19
 Prudential Indicators for 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21
 MRP Statement 

1.4 The Council has borrowed and continues to invest substantial sums of money and 
therefore has potentially large exposures to financial risks, including the loss of invested 
funds and the effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring 
and control of risk is therefore central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

1.5 In accordance with the CLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to approve a revised 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on which this report is 
based change significantly. Such circumstances would include, for example, a large 
unexpected change in interest rates, or in the Council’s capital programme or in the level 
of its investment balance.

2. External Context

Economic background
2.1 The major external influence on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 

will be the UK’s progress in negotiating its exit from the European Union and agreeing 
future trading arrangements. The domestic economy has remains relatively robust since 
the 2016 referendum, but there are indications that uncertainty over the future is now 
weighing on growth. Transitional arrangements may prevent a cliff-edge, but will also 
extend the period of uncertainty for several years. Economic growth is therefore forecast to 
remain sluggish throughout 2018/19.

2.2 Consumer price inflation reached 3.0% in September 2017 as the post-referendum 
devaluation of sterling continued to feed through to imports. However, this effect is 
expected to fall out of year-on-year inflation measures during 2018, removing pressure on 
the Bank of England to raise interest rates.  

2.3 In contrast, the US economy is performing well and the Federal Reserve is raising interest 
rates in regular steps to remove some of the emergency monetary stimulus it has provided 
for the past decade. The European Central Bank is yet to raise rates, but has started to 
taper its quantitative easing programme, signalling some confidence in the Eurozone 
economy.

Page 145



86

Credit Outlook
2.4 High profile bank failures in Italy and Portugal have reinforced concerns over the health of 

the European banking sector. Sluggish economies and fines for pre-crisis behaviour 
continue to weigh on bank profits, and any future economic slowdown will exacerbate 
concerns in this regard.

2.5 Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue 
failing banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the 
European Union, Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with 
their own plans. In addition, the largest UK banks will ringfence their retail banking 
functions into separate legal entities during 2018. There remains some uncertainty over 
how these changes will impact upon the credit strength of the residual legal entities.

2.6 The credit risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased 
relative to the risk of other investment options available to the Authority; returns from cash 
deposits however remain very low.

3. Interest Rate Forecast

3.1 The Authority’s treasury adviser Arlingclose’s central case is for UK Bank Rate to remain 
at 0.25% during 2018/19. Two of the nine-member Monetary Policy Committee voted for 
an increase to 0.50% in September, and the decision was said to be finely balanced for 
others, although all agreed that any increases would be limited and gradual. But stilted 
progress in the EU exit negotiations, softening consumer spending and a tightening of 
consumer credit are expected to stay the Committee’s hands. The risk of a cut to zero or 
negative rates has diminished and there is now a chance that rates will rise despite the 
economic fundamentals.

3.2 Longer-term interest rates have risen in the past year, reflecting the possibility of 
increasing short-term rates. Arlingclose forecasts these to remain broadly constant during 
2018/19, but with some volatility as interest rate expectations wax and wane with press 
reports on the progress of EU exit negotiations.

3.3 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at 
Appendix A.

4. Local Context

4.1 At 31st March 2017 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £308.8m, while usable reserves 
and working capital which are the underlying resources available for investment were 
£272.1m.

4.2 The Council currently has £285.5 million of external borrowing, a £19.8m PFI lease liability 
and £336.066 million (as at 16th November 2016) of internal investments. This is set out in 
further detail at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the 
balance sheet analysis at Table 1 below. 

4.3 Under the Prudential Code the Council is able to borrow funds in excess of the current 
level of its CFR up to the projected level in 2020/21. The Council is likely to only borrow in 

Page 146



87

advance of need if it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now compared to where 
they are expected to be in the future, outweighs the current cost and risks associated with 
investing the proceeds until the borrowing was actually required. 

4.4 The forecast movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential Indicators 
(PIs). The movement in actual external debt and usable reserves combine to identify the 
Council’s borrowing requirement.

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Closing CFR 302.076 311.188 322.509 321.918
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823

Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Internal (over) Borrowing -3.262 14.401 34.258 42.408
Less:
Balances & Reserves 217.590 211.590 205.590 199.590
Working Capital 36.700 36.700 36.700 36.700
Investments (257.552) (233.889) (208.032) (193.882)

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2017/18 is forecast to be £302.0 million 
(equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £285.5 million, 
and a PFI lease liability of £19.8 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, 
and where possible some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this arise. The 
Council also considers new borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial 
beneficial to do so. In 2017/18 £6.7 million maturing external debt will be repaid.  £6.9 
million is forecast to be repaid in 2018/19 and opportunities to repay debt early will be kept 
under review.  Where funding permits and it is cost effective to do so, additional loans may 
also be repaid.  

5.2 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period 
for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-
term plans change is a secondary objective.

5.3 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates 
currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council 
needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal 
resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  

5.4 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely 
to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to 

Page 147



88

be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored 
regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into 
future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will 
assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. 

5.5 In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to 
cover unexpected cash flow shortages.

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

6.1 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local authority bond issues

6.2 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, 
but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

6.3 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local 
authority loans and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

6.4 The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets 
and lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of 
finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide 
bond investors with a joint and several guarantee to refund their investment in the event 
that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of several months 
between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision to 
borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a separate report to Audit and 
Governance Committee.  

6.5 The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans 
where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, 
following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the 
loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options during 2018/19, however 
lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current low interest rate environment. 
The situation with these LOBOs will be kept under regular review and the Council will take 
the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.  Previously a 
further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as LOBOs, however Barclays have 

Page 148



89

now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These are now classified as fixed 
rate market loans.

6.6 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term 
interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable 
interest rates in the treasury management indicators at Appendix C.

7 Debt Rescheduling

7.1 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or 
receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank 
lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may 
take advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without 
replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. Such 
repayments will only be made after consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.

7.2 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any 
other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

8. Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2017/18 the Council’s internal 
investment balance has ranged between £282.7 million and £357.2 million, and similar 
levels are expected to be maintained in the forthcoming year.

8.2 Both the CIPFA Code and CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, 
and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike 
an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses 
from defaults and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment income.

8.3 Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2018/19, there is a small 
chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to 
feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This 
situation already exists in many other European countries. In this event, security will be 
measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may 
be less than the amount originally invested.

8.4 Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / 
or higher yielding asset classes during 2018/19.  This is especially the case for funds 
available for longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus 
cash is currently invested -  18% is exposed to “bail-in” risk, down significantly on last 
year’s 40% (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the Council will lose a porportion of 
the funds deposited):

Page 149



90

UK Banks
15%

Non UK Banks
3%

Local Authorities
27%

Building 
Societies

0%

MMF+
21%

MMFs
10%

Housing 
Ass
2%

Property Fund
7%

Secured 
Investments -

Bonds/Floating 
Rate Notes

15%

Investments as at 16/11/17

8.5 The Council is committed to moving away from unsecured investments where feasible.  To 
minimise the risk of unsecured deposits the Council has the approved counterparties in 
Table 2 below, subject to the cash and time limits shown.  The minimum credit rating has 
been rasied from  BBB+ to A- in accordance with recommendations from our treasury 
advisors.   

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties (including Non Specified)

£ Unlimited

50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years

£1m £30m £1m £15m

6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years

Pooled funds

None n/a

£30m per fund

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

AAA

Credit Rating Banks 
Unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

Page 150



91

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.  Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made 
solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice 
will be taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks 
and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments 
are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that 
the bank is failing or likely to fail.

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised 
arrangements with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on 
the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, 
and means that they are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific 
credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit 
rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will 
be used to determine cash and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured 
investments in any one bank will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and 
local authorities and multilateral development banks.  These investments are not 
subject to bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency.  Investments with the 
UK Central Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to 
the risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be 
made either following an external credit assessment or to a maximum of £1 million 
per company as part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of Registered 
Providers of Social Housing, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies 
are tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of 
public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above 
investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage 
of providing wide diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a 
professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that 

Page 151



92

offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to 
instant access bank accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market 
prices and/or have a notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal 
after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the 
Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Other Organisations: 
The Council may also invest cash with other organisations, for example by making 
loans to small businesses.  Because of the higher perceived risk of unrated 
businesses, such investments may provide considerably higher rates of return.  They 
will however only be made following a favourable external credit assessment and on 
the specific advice of the Council’s treasury management adviser.

9 Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

9.1 The Council uses long-term credit ratings from the three main rating agencies Fitch 
Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services to assess 
the risk of investment default.  The lowest available counterparty credit rating will be used 
to determine credit quality, unless an investment-specific rating is available. Credit ratings 
are obtained and monitored by the Councils treasury advisers, who will notify changes in 
ratings as they occur.  Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to 
meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments 

with the affected counterparty.

9.2 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it 
may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only specified investments that can be 
withdrawn on the next working day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of 
the review is announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a 
long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating.

9.3 For specified investments: 
CLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:

• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:
o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

Page 152



93

The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations as those having a credit rating of A- 
or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or 
higher. For money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as 
those having a credit rating of A- or higher. 

Ratings as determined for use by the Council:

Long-term
Fitch A-
Moody’s A3
S&P  A-
Sovereign AA+

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and 
market sentiment towards investment counterparties. 

9.4 The Council may lend or invest money using any of the following instruments:
• interest-bearing bank accounts,
• fixed term deposits and loans,
• callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment at any time 

(with or without notice),
• callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before maturity, but 

subject to a maximum of £30 million in total,
• certificates of deposit,
• bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments, 
• shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
• reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Investments may be made at either a fixed rate of interest, or at a variable rate linked to a 
market interest rate, such as LIBOR, subject to the limits on interest rate exposures 
shown in Appendix C.

9.5 Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast 
is compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-estimated and payments over-
estimated to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms 
to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to 
the Councils medium term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

10 Security of Investments

10.1 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the 
credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, 
financial statements, information on potential government support and reports in the 
quality financial press.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are 
substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may meet the credit rating 
criteria.

10.2 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit 

Page 153



94

ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council 
will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the 
maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of security.  The extent 
of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market conditions.  If these 
restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are 
available to invest the Councils cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 
UK Government, via the Debt Management Office for example, or with other local 
authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

10.3 Non-specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified 
investment is classed as non-specified.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited 
to long-term investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the 
date of arrangement, and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition 
on high credit quality.  Limits on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 below.  
The Council has removed the limit for investment in unrated UK Government and local 
authorities.  This is because they are deemed to be secure investments.

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits

Non Specified Investment Limits Cash limit £m

Total long-term investments 200
Total investments without credit ratings or rated below A- 
(except UK Government and local authorities) 150
Total investments (excluding pooled funds) in foreign countries 
rated below AA+ 60

Total non-specified investments

Notes:

1. In determining the period to maturity of an investment, the investment should be regarded 
as commencing on the date of the commitment of the investment rather than the date on which 
funds are paid over to the counterparty.

2. The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (cash backed option) requires a 5 year deposit to 
be placed with the mortgage lender.  The deposit forms an integral part of the mortgage lending, 
and is included on the investment portfolio in accordance with accounting regulations, however 
is in addition to current lending limits specified.

3. The Council has placed funds with Funding Circle, which is a Local Authority Partnership 
Programme.  Following a change in how the programme is run, these funds now form part of 
the Council's investment portfolio.

410

10.4 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will 
be £30 million.

10.5 A group of banks under the same ownership or a group of funds under the same 
management will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be 
placed on investments in brokers’ nominee accounts (e.g. King & Shaxson), foreign 

Page 154



95

countries and industry sectors as below.  Investments in pooled funds and multilateral 
development banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the 
risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Investment Limits

Cash limit 
Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £30m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £30m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £50m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £100m per broker
Foreign countries £30m per country
Registered Providers £40m in total
Unsecured investments with Building Societies £40m in total
Loans to small businesses £1m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £30m in total
Money Market Funds £150m in total

10.6 Non-Treasury Investments: Although not classed as treasury management activities and 
therefore not covered by the CIPFA Code or the CLG Guidance, the Council may also 
purchase property for investment purposes and may also make loans and investments for 
service purposes.  Such loans and investments will be subject to the Council’s normal 
approval processes for revenue and capital expenditure and need not comply with this 
treasury management strategy.  The Council has £1 million invested in Lloyds Bank as 
part of the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMs), which sits outside of the treasury 
management investment limits.

11 Policy on Use of Financial Derivatives 

11.1 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans 
and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward 
deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO 
loans and callable deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of 
standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or 
investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail their policy on the use 
of derivatives in the annual strategy.

11.2 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of 
the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as credit 
exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the 
overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and 
forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they 
present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

11.3 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the 
approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative 

Page 155



96

counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country 
limit.

11.4 The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and ensuring 
officers have the appropriate training for their use. 

12 2018/19 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

12.1 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government 
Capital Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP places a 
duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance has 
been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required to “have regard” to 
such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The MRP 
Statement must be submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever 
proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a revised 
statement would be put to Council at that time.

12.2 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital 
grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital 
programme over the last 7 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of debt 
early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high premiums would need to 
be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt early.  Internal 
borrowing has been fully repaid during 2016/17, and maturing debt will continue to be 
redeemed over the next few years. 

12.3 In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council remains within 
Prudential Indicators, and to reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council 
changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method used is 
similar to other local authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For 
Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

12.4 Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential 
Indicators, and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external 
auditor (Grant Thornton) it is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt 
to £6.2 million, releasing £2 million per annum from 2017/18.  This change still allows for a 
prudent provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential 
Indicators are not breeched.

12.5 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the basis 
of calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going forward.

12.6 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-
based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. 

13 Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

13.1 Treasury Activity is monitored regularly and reported internally to the Strategic Finance 
Director.  The Prudential Indicators will be monitored through the year and reported as 
follows:

Page 156



97

The Strategic Finance Director will report to the Audit and Governance Committee on 
Treasury Management activity / performance and Performance Indicators as follows:

 Outturn report on treasury activity for the prior year will be presented to the July 
meeting.

 A monitoring update report will be presented to the October meeting.
 Consultation on the following year strategy will be presented to the January 

meeting.

14 Other items

Treasury Management Training

CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Strategic Finance Director to ensure that all 
members and staff tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of 
the treasury management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and 
understand fully their roles and responsibilities.  

Requirements for members training, including Audit and Governance Committee, will be 
kept under review.  Senior staff with responsibility for treasury management have a 
professional responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the relevant Codes and 
Guidance which apply to the treasury function, and have access to the skills and 
knowledge to carry out their roles effectively.

Investment Consultants / Treasury Advisors

CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommends that the Investment 
Strategy should state:

 Whether and, if so, how the Council uses external contractors offering information, 
advice or assistance relating to investment, and

 How the quality of any such service is controlled.

In order to ensure that we manage the relationship with our treasury advisors effectively 
we meet on a regular basis, usually quarterly.  At these meetings current market 
conditions are reviewed, as is the strategy in light of this.  We ensure that the information 
provided is current and appropriate to our circumstances.  

The Council maintains the quality of the service with its advisors by holding quarterly 
meetings and tendering periodically.  The current contract was recently retendered and 
effective from 1st December 2017.  

Page 157



98

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.44
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Downside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15

3-month LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.53
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.29
Downside risk -0.10 -0.10 -0.15 -0.10 -0.10 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.17

1-yr LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.15 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.65 0.65 0.32
Arlingclose Central Case 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.60 0.60 0.62
Downside risk -0.15 -0.20 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.10 -0.10 -0.25

5-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 0.55 0.55 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.75 0.80 0.85 0.90 0.95 0.95 0.73
Downside risk -0.20 -0.20 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.35 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.33

10-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.10 1.15 1.20 1.25 1.30 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.18
Downside risk -0.20 -0.35 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15 -0.15 -0.24

20-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.70 0.70 0.57
Arlingclose Central Case 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.90 1.95 1.95 1.73
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.34

50-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.85 0.85 0.60
Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.55 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.85 1.63
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.50 -0.50 -0.37

Underlying Assumptions:

 The Monetary Policy Committee once again voted 7-2 in favour of maintaining bank rate 
at 0.25% in September. However, the Committee meeting minutes suggested that the 
upside risks to Bank Rate had increased, noting that the majority of MPC members 
judged that the withdrawal of monetary stimulus was likely to be appropriate to return 
inflation to target.

 This potential rise in Bank Rate is dependent on policymakers seeing continued erosion 
of economic capacity and a gradual rise in underlying inflationary pressure.

 All members agreed that any prospective increases in Bank Rate would be expected to 
be at a gradual pace and to a limited extent.

 The UK economy faces a challenging outlook as the minority government continues to 
negotiate the country's exit from the European Union. UK Q2 2017 GDP growth was 
0.3%, after a 0.2% expansion in Q1. The initial expenditure breakdown showed 
weakness in consumption, business investment and net trade. Both consumer and 
business confidence remain subdued.

 Household consumption growth, the driver of UK GDP growth, has softened following a 
contraction in real wages. Savings rates are at an all-time low, with little scope for further 

Page 158



99

reduction to smooth consumption. When inflation eventually eases, savings are likely to 
be replenished, further diverting money away from consumption.

 Some data has held up better than expected, with unemployment falling to an all-time low 
and house prices remaining relatively resilient.

 The depreciation in sterling may assist the economy to rebalance away from spending. 
Export volumes will increase, helped by a stronger Eurozone economic expansion.

 Near-term global growth prospects have continued to improve and broaden, and 
expectations of inflation are subdued. Central banks are moving to reduce the level of 
monetary stimulus.

 Geo-political risks remain elevated and help to anchor safe-haven flows into the UK 
government bond (gilt) market. 

Forecast: 
 The MPC have changed their rhetoric, implying a rise in Bank Rate in "the coming 

months". We are not convinced the UK’s economic outlook justifies such a move at this 
stage, but the Bank’s interpretation of the data seems to have shifted.

 This decision is still very data dependent and we are for now maintaining our central case 
for Bank Rate at 0.25% whilst introducing near-term upside risks to our forecasts.

 The Arlingclose central case is for gilt yields and therefore long-term interest rates to 
remain broadly stable in the across the medium term, but there may be near term 
volatility due to shifts in interest rate expectations.

Page 159



100

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Portfolio 
16 Nov 
2017

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-18 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 244.463 5.29 244.463 236.599 228.736 220.773
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.23 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 285.513 5.18 285.513 277.649 269.786 261.823
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Total External Debt 305.338 305.338 296.787 288.251 279.511
Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 175.480 0.50 155.480 135.480 115.480 95.480

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

90.586 1.40 90.586 90.586 90.586 90.586

Managed externally 70.000 1.54 70.000 70.000 70.000 70.000
Total Investments 336.066 1.07 316.066 296.066 276.066 256.066

Net  Borrowing / Investment 
Position 30.728 10.728 (0.721) (12.185) (23.445)

Page 160



101

Appendix C 
Prudential Indicators 2018/19

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to 
have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
“CIPFA Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators. The 
objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the 
capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored each 
year.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits 
and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  The table below shows the 
estimates of capital expenditure, and further detail can be found in the Capital 
Programme Report.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Expenditure 107.505 140.594 68.202 36.799

2.2 Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Revenue Contributions 2.310 0.666 0.000 0.000
Capital Fund and other Reserves 13.449 9.954 2.885 0.000
Government Grants and External 
Contributions

75.753 88.670 37.677 26.105

Capital receipts 15.993 25.304 8.640 0.694
Total Financing 107.505 124.594 49.202 26.799
Internal Borrowing 0.000 16.000 19.000 10.000
External Borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 16.000 19.000 10.000
Total Financing & Funding 107.505 140.594 68.202 36.799

Page 161



102

3. Capital Financing Requirement:

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts 
held in the Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure and its financing.  The CFR is 
forecast to fall over the next three years as maturing debt is repaid and additional 
volunary revenue contributions are made.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Financing Requirement 302.076 311.188 322.509 321.918

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement:

4.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net 
borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that the net 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
increases to the capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years. 

4.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this 
reduction is ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing 
requirement which is used for comparison with gross external debt.

4.3 The Strategic Finance Director reports that the Council is currently experiencing a short 
term issue whereby the level of external borrowing exceeds the Capital Financing 
Requirement. This is due to the current limitations in being able to repay external debt 
early and that the current policy whereby the capital programme is approved and 
largely fully funded without the need for additional borrowing. This doesn’t have any 
adverse impact on the Council’s revenue budget and overall financial position.  It is 
anticipated that this temporary position will be rectified in 2017-18 .  This view takes 
into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals from the approved 
budget.

5. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

5.1 The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy and manages its 
treasury position in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall 
borrowing will therefore arise as a consequence of all the financial transactions of the 
Council and not just those arising from capital spending reflected in the CFR. 

5.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis 
(i.e. not net of investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all 
external borrowing items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, 
overdrawn bank balances and long term liabilities.  This Prudential Indicator separately 
identifies borrowing from other long term liabilities such as finance leases.  It is 

Page 162



103

consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for capital expenditure 
and financing and its approved treasury management policy statement and practices.  

5.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not 
worst case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual 
cash movements. 

5.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).  The 
Council’s Authorised Limit is shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 363.000 380.000 385.000 390.000

Authorised Limit for External Debt

5.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and 
estimates of other cashflow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same 
estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case 
scenario but without the additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

5.6 The Strategic Finance Director has delegated authority, within the total limit for any 
individual year, to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing 
and other long-term liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial 
option appraisals and best value considerations.  Any movement between these 
separate limits will be reported to the next appropriate meeting of the Council.  The 
Council’s Operational Boundary is shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 343.000 360.000 365.000 370.000

Operational Boundary for External 
Debt

6. Actual External Debt:

6.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing 
balance for actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is 
measured in a manner consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and 
Authorised Limit.

31.03.17 
Actual 

31.03.18 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878
PFI liabilities 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688 17.096
Total Debt 305.338 296.788 288.251 279.511 268.974

Debt

Page 163



104

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the 
Prudential Code.

7.2 The estimate for interest payments in 2017/18 is £15.3 million and for interest receipts 
is £1.6 million.  The ratio of financing costs to the Council’s net revenue stream is an 
indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet borrowing costs.  The ratio is based on costs net of investment 
income.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 4.86% 4.76% 4.65% 5.16%

8. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

8.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions 
on Council Tax.  The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue 
budget requirement of the current approved capital programme with an equivalent 
calculation of the revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed capital 
programme.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 1.61 7.03 9.84

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

8.2 The Council’s capital plans, as estimated in forthcoming financial years, will have a 
minimal impact on Council Tax.  This reflects the fact that capital expenditure is 
predominantly financed from grants, contributions, capital receipts, and internal 
resources. 

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

9.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best 
practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at 
its Council meeting on 24th February 2010*.  

Page 164



105

*The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice 
(published November 2011) into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure:

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to 
changes in interest rates.  This Council calculates these limits on net principal 
outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed rate debt net of fixed rate investments).

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not 
exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  
The limit allows for the use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-
term rates on investments.

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made 
for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will 
ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set 
out in the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

10.4 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper 
limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of 
net principal borrowed will be:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
340.000 350.000

Upper limit for Variable Interest 
Rate exposure

0 0 0 0

320.000Upper limit for Fixed Interest Rate 
exposure

320.000

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt 
needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to 
protect against excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in 
particular in the course of the next ten years.  

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each 
period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of 
borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can 
require payment. 

Page 165



106

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing as 
at 31/03/18

LOBO PWLB/Other

under 12 months 25 0 33.050 7.863 14.7 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 0.000 30.009 10.8 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 0.000 29.500 10.6 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 0.000 29.000 10.4 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 0.000 58.671 21.1 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 0.000 81.557 29.4 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 0.000 0.000 0.0 Yes
40 years plus 100 0 0.000 8.000 2.9 Yes

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Maturity Structure of Fixed 
Rate Borrowing

Upper 
Limit %

Lower 
Limit %

% Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

12.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise 
as a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

200.000 200.000 200.000
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000

Page 166



1

Gloucestershire County Council
Risk Management 
Policy Statement & 
Strategy 

2018-2021

Annex 11

Page 167



1

Risk Management Policy Statement

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is 

one of the key principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key 

contributor to a sound internal control environment and the Annual Governance 

Statement.

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 

effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed at acceptable 

levels. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and opportunities and striving to 

create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats effectively we will be in a stronger 

position to deliver our business objectives. By managing our opportunities we will be in a better 

position to demonstrate improved services and better value for money. 

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and develop. As 

an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on our reputation, 

environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is about ensuring that we 

have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient protection from harm, without stifling our 

development. As an organisation, with a range of different stakeholders, each with differing needs and 

expectations, this can be a challenge.  We must ensure that the decisions we take as a Council reflect 

a consideration of the potential implications for all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the 

benefits of taking our actions outweigh the risks.

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, in which 

risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively managed, rather than 

avoided. Risk management therefore needs to be taken into the heart of the Council and our key 

partners. We need to have the structures and processes in place to ensure the risks and opportunities 

of daily Council activities are identified, assessed and addressed in a standard way. We do not shy 

away from risk but instead seek to proactively manage it.  This will allow us not only to meet the 

needs of the community today, but also be prepared to meet future challenges.

The Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team are fully committed to effective risk management 

and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to the communities within 

Gloucestershire. 

Page 168



2

Contents

Risk Management Strategy.......................................................................................................3
What are the real benefits of managing risk?............................................................................3
Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives .............................................................................4
What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? ........................................................................................5
How are our objectives going to be met?..................................................................................5
Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements) ....................6
Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities .............................................................................7
Risk Management Governance Structure ...............................................................................13

Page 169

file://svrshir07/RES_Shirehall$/AuditandRiskManagement/RiskManagement/Policies%20and%20Standards/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202016-2017%20v2-0.docx%23_Toc437424536


3

Risk Management Strategy

This strategy recognises that the next few years will present unprecedented 

challenges for the Council in delivering its services and corporate priorities. 

Risk Management is a central part of the Council’s strategic management. It is a cyclical process 

whereby the Council identifies, evaluates, monitors and controls potential opportunities and adverse 

effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of the organisation. It enables the Council 

to effectively manage strategic decision-making, service planning and delivery, to safeguard the 

wellbeing of our customers and stakeholders. 

The Council should not be afraid of identifying a risk or feel that identifying a risk is a failure. 

Identification of a risk provides an opportunity for improvement and success!

What are the real benefits of managing risk?

Risk Management will strengthen the ability of the Council to achieve its 

corporate objectives and enhance the value of services provided by:

 Informing strategic and operational decision-making;

 Safeguarding all persons to whom the Council has a duty of care;

 Increasing our chances of success and reducing our chances of failure;

 Enhancing stakeholder value by minimising losses and maximising opportunities;

 Increasing knowledge and understanding of exposure to risk;

 Enabling not just backward looking review, but forward looking thinking;

 Contributing towards social value and sustainable development; 

 Reducing unexpected and costly surprises;

 Minimising our vulnerability to fraud and corruption;

 Freeing up management time from ‘fire-fighting’;

 Providing management with early warnings of problems;

 Ensuring minimal service disruption;

 Ensuring statutory compliance;

 Better targeting of resources i.e. focus scarce resources on high risk activity;

 Reducing the financial costs due to, e.g. service disruption, litigation, insurance premiums and 

claims, and bad investment decisions;

 Delivering creative and innovative projects; and

 Protecting our reputation.

Page 170



4

Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives

 Strategic approach to risk management to make better informed decisions which is vital to 

successful transformational change;

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept on our different 

service delivery activities and priorities. Understanding our ‘risk appetite’ and acknowledging 

that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on the context of corporate impact 

and sensitivity;

 Risk management enables us be more consistent in options appraisals and more flexible/agile 

in delivering change. Risk aversion can result in the bar being set much higher for 

commissioning a change compared with maintaining the status quo;

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things can go 

wrong. Where this happens we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from happening 

again;

 Developing leadership capacity and skills in having a clear understanding of the risks facing 

the Council and how we manage them;

 Risk management should be integral to how we run Council business/services. Risk 

management processes provide effective arrangements that identify and achieve successful 

local and national priority objectives;

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, including 

strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational. This includes setting risk 

ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, considering the level 

of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures;

 Ensure that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements in 

relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to Corporate 

Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement;

 Effective monitoring and Board intelligence on the key risks facing the Council; and

 Good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks and opportunities. 

Page 171



5

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils 

down to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take.  The 

HM Treasury definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is 

prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do 

we need to determine our risk appetite?

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are legitimate 

for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that taking on additional 

risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At the other end of the scale 

an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that has a risk-averse culture) is one 

that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit 

opportunities. 

A framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be more explicit, 

transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite we are able to 

raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise standards, improve service 

quality, system reform and provide more value for money. 

This framework is considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery. 

How are our objectives going to be met?

The Council’s objectives will be achieved by:

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 

Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management Standard 

(ISO 31000 - 2009). The application of the standards and principles within it will be reviewed 

annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes;

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for risk 

management;

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic management 

processes;

Page 172



6

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, programme 

and project management, partnerships and procurement processes;

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and 

providing opportunities for shared learning; and

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review arrangements in place to manage 

risk. The framework will ensure that risk management is dynamic and responsive to change.

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management 
Activities (minimum requirements)

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register;

 A quarterly review of service area risk registers;

 A monthly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers;

 An annual review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 An annual report on risk management activity; and

 An annual review and report on the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal 

control by Internal Audit, which feeds into the Annual Governance Statement.

Page 173



7

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities

There needs to be clarity in terms of ‘who does what’ otherwise we will be 

exposed to risks being unmanaged, causing us damage or loss that we could 

otherwise influence, control or avoid. The key roles and responsibilities are 

outlined below:

Cabinet / Portfolio Holders
 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, and 

monitor implementation; 

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions;

 Monitor key performance results including the production of an annual report on strategic risk 

management activity; and

 Nominate a Lead Member Risk Management Champion to be responsible for the 

championing, scrutiny and oversight of the risk management activities.

Scrutiny

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively managed 

through discussions with Directors and Service Heads;

 Facilitate a risk management culture across the council;

 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and being proactive in raising risk from the wider 

Gloucestershire area and community; and

 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions.

Audit and Governance Committee

 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 

management arrangements and associated control environment; and

 Receive an annual report on risk management activity. 

Page 174



8

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the council;

 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and opportunities;

 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant risk 

information;

 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating to risk 

management;

 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of the 

wider council’s performance arrangements;

 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk assessment;

 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance programmes;

 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or failures of 

existing control measures; and

 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of risk 

management activities.

Directors
 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line with the 

council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing an 

assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their service(s);

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 

managed by owning risk registers;

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance;

 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating to their 

areas of responsibility;

 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Portfolio Holders; and

 Nominate a Risk Champion to work alongside the Corporate Risk Management Team, who will 

be the key interface in supporting the application of risk management principles within their 

service.

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads

 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in line with 

the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their areas 

of responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions;

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance;

Page 175



9

 Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing control 

measures;

 Promote and share good practice across service areas;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; and

 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended.

Managers
 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line with the 

council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion;

 Identify training needs and report these to their service Risk Champion;

 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service Head; and

 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their Lead 

Commissioner or Service Head.

Staff/Other Stakeholders

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks effectively in their job and, report risks 

to their manager.

Page 176



10

Corporate Risk Management Team

Strategic and Operational Risk

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk management 

framework, strategy and process on behalf of the council;

 Undertake an annual review of the council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy and update 

accordingly, presenting any revisions to COMT for approval;

 Spread the ethos and, promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout the 

council;

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register;

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and partnership risk 

registers;

 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of risk 

management principles and, support the Risk Champions in delivering their role;

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the support of 

the Risk Champions;

 Ensure that all relevant staff and Members are adequately trained in risk management and risk 

assessment techniques;

 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly;

 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review national 

standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and

 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management.

Risk Financing and Insurance

 Lead on the development and implementation of the council’s insurance programme;

 Provide advice and guidance with regards to insurance requirements, indemnities and legal 

liabilities;

 Lead on claims management and investigation services for claims made against the council; 

and

 Provide an insurance programme to maintained schools, who buy-back the traded service.

Page 177



11

Corporate Risk Management Group

The group is made up of senior officers within the following:

 Corporate Risk Management;

 Performance and Improvement;

 Information Management;

 Health and Safety;

 Civil Protection;

 Risk/Insurance Services;

 Commercial Services; 

 Asset Management and Property Services, and

 Service area risk champions.

The key aims of the group are to:

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 

corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service areas and 

that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to be taken by the 

Corporate Risk Management Team i.e. ‘top down – bottom up’ approach;

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy and 

Strategy;

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 Support the development of and advise on the adequacy of the service, programme, project 

and partnership risk registers;

 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers within 

their service area;

 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas;

 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the Corporate Risk Management Team;

 Maintain, on behalf of their services, risk registers that comply with corporate guidelines;

 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas; and

 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the council.

Page 178



12

Internal Audit
The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to:

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of the risk 

management and control processes operating within the council which feeds into the council’s 

Annual Governance Statement;

 Provide advice and guidance on risk and control; and

 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council.

Page 179



13

Risk Management Governance Structure

Corporate Risk 
Management Team

Corporate Risk 
Management Group)

Performance 
and Improvement

Internal
Audit

Support Functions

County Council

Staff/Other Stakeholders

Cabinet/CoMT

Scrutiny Committees

Audit and Governance 
Committee

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project and Programme Boards

Cabinet
Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

Commissioning Board

Civil Protection Team

P
age 180



14

Audit Risk Assurance & Insurance Services
Shire Hall

Westgate Street
Gloucester

Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

December 2017
Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX 3

2018-19 BUDGET CONSULTATION

FINDINGS AND REPORT

19 January 2018

Page 183

Agenda Item 8d



2

Contents

        Page
1. Executive Summary of Public Consultation
1.1 Background............................................................................................................3
1.2 Key Findings..........................................................................................................3

2. Findings from the Public Consultation on the 2018/19 Budget 
2.1    Survey Method...................................................................................................4
2.2.1 Council Priorities................................................................................................5
2.2.2 Council Budget  ...............................................................................................11
2.2.3 Comments …………………………………………………………………………..12

3. Consultation with Trade Unions...........................................................................14

4. Schools Forum consultation.................................................................................16

Appendix A
Data tables of survey respondents 

Appendix B
Online and Paper Questionnaire

Page 184



3

1. Executive Summary of Public Consultation

1.1 Background

The proposed budget which stakeholders have been asked to comment on through 
the budget consultation totals £407million which includes an extra £11 million 
funding to help the most vulnerable children in Gloucestershire and an investment of 
£39 million will go into roads over the next four years. This budget also proposes a 
1.99 per cent council tax increase and an adult social care levy of 2 per cent on top.

The council’s draft budget proposals for 2018/19 are based on the following 
emerging priorities:

 Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county

 Building sustainable communities (ensuring areas can thrive for years ahead)

 Investing in vital services and infrastructure (things like good roads)

 Growing our economy

 Creating a council fit for the future (ready to meet all future demands well)

Consultation on the 2018-19 draft budget took place between the 14th December 
2017 and 17th January 2018. 

The consultation outlined our budget proposals and also sought feedback on the 
council’s draft priorities. 

Stakeholders were also encouraged to give us their general feedback on our draft 
budget through a link to the full Medium Term Financial Plan.

This report outlines the key findings from the consultation.

1.2 Key Findings 

 In total we received 784 responses to the public consultation 

 There was strong endorsement of the draft priorities outlined in the draft council 
strategy.                

 74% agree with our budget proposals including the 1.99% increase in council tax 
and 2% national adult social care levy.  

 Overall the comments received supported the council’s budget proposals 
particularly the investment in services for children and young people, our most 
vulnerable people and in our roads and other infrastructure. The main comments 
on our draft budget were:

Page 185



4

 Invest in services for the most vulnerable 

 Supportive of proposals 

 More investment in roads and other infrastructure 

 Not enough detail in consultation  - and needs a simplified version of the 
budget to make it easier to comment on  

 Invest in services for children and young people including education 

2. Findings from the Public Consultation on the 2018-19  Budget 

2.1 Survey Method

The consultation comprised of a self selecting online survey which was also 
available in hard copy at all local libraries. Consultation information was circulated to 
contacts within Leadership Gloucestershire network, and stakeholder organisations 
and large employers in the county. The Federation of Small Businesses cascaded 
consultation information to their members in Gloucestershire, and large employers.

Partners approached included Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust, 2gether NHS 
Foundation Trust, Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Police and Crime 
Commissioners Office, Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire CCG and all 
district and borough councils. 

Consultation information was sent to all county councillors and trade unions and 
voluntary sector organisations across the county. The minutes of the discussion with 
Trade Unions and Schools Forum appear further in this report.  

Young people were one of the target audiences this year. The consultation was 
promoted through the Youth Parliament; Gloucester College; the University of 
Gloucestershire and South Glos and Stroud (SGS); Gloucestershire Young Carers 
and Young Gloucestershire as well as the council’s Young Ambassadors and Young 
Employees Network. 

The consultation was promoted to key organisations representing the protected 
characteristics including the county council’s Disability Network and PRISM. 

Media coverage was achieved through press releases and a social media campaign. 
On social media we placed 24 Tweets and 22 Facebook posts (organic). Organic 
posts received 27 likes, 59 retweets and 11 replies on Twitter. Facebook posts 
received 27 reactions (likes etc), 16 shares and 3 comments.

Page 186



5

We also carried out a paid for social media advert through Facebook & Instagram 
that reached 30,748 people in Gloucestershire. It received 1,866 outcomes as a 
result of the advert  and was seen on screen 74,405 times. We had 148 reactions 
(likes etc), 56 shares and 169 comments.

We sent out a digital newsletter of the consultation to the People’s Panel who fully 
represent the geographical distribution of the population of Gloucestershire as well 
as the age, gender and ethnic diversity of the county, and also to people who have 
signed up to receive our news bulletins. This reaches around 3,000 people and as a 
result of this we have had 380 unique clicks from the newsletter to the consultation 
and 825 clicks from our website to the consultation.

We received 183 comments via organic and paid for social media.

In total, 784 responses to the public consultation survey were received. We included 
more opportunity for people to give us their views through more text box questions 
which resulted in 1,756 individual comments. 

We received a good mix of respondents from a cross section of the community, 
particularly amongst younger people.

Profile questions on gender, age, ethnicity, disability and sexual orientation were 
also included in the survey and the responses have been analysed to ensure that the 
equality objectives of the council have been adhered to.

A copy of the online/paper questionnaire has been included in Appendix B.

2.2.1 Council Priorities

Respondents were asked the extent to which they agreed with the council’s draft 
overarching priorities and for any comments which they had on each one.

Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county

Question: To what extent do you agree with the priority ‘Protecting the most 
vulnerable in our county’?

780 people responded to this question. 89% Strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

Page 187



6

54%

35%

7%

4%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Please tell us to what extent you agree with the priority 
‘Protecting the most vulnerable people in our county?"  

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Sexual orientation and Ethnicity. 

Sexual Orientation Percentage who agree
Heterosexual 92% (554)
LGBT 80% (28)

Ethnicity Percentage who agree
White 92% (588)
BME 81% (25)

We received 266 comments on this priority. All comments were analysed and 
themed. The top themes were:

 We need to provide more support to vulnerable people, including homeless 
people, to help them build their confidence. There is a need for more day 
centres and respite services. (279 comments)

 The most vulnerable people, children and families need to be the priority. We 
need to focus on early intervention and making sure that people know that 
they are entitled to receive the right support and services that they need and 
deserve. (150 comments)

Building sustainable communities

Question: To what extent do you agree with the priority ‘Building sustainable 
communities’? 

Page 188



7

773 people responded to this question. 85% Strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

36%

49%

12%

3%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Please tell us to what extent you agree with the 
priority‘Building sustainable communities? 

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Age, Sexual orientation and Ethnicity. 

Age Percentage who agree
Under 25 97% (47)
25- 55 85% (362)
55+ 86% (221)

Sexual Orientation Percentage who agree
Heterosexual 89% (524)
LGBT 78% (27)

Ethnicity Percentage who agree
White 88% (561)
BME 71% (22)

We received 238 comments on this priority. All comments were analysed and 
themed. The top themes were:

 We should focus on helping communities grow to become thriving 
communities. We can support them by spending money on the basic statutory 
services eg: a reliable joined up public transport service, resource centres, 
libraries and play areas. But this should not come at a cost to the community. 
(83 comments)

 Need to define “Sustainable”, and how are you going to achieve this (66 
comments)

Page 189



8

Investing in vital services and infrastructure

Question: To what extent do you agree with the priority ‘Investing in vital services 
and Infrastructure’? 

771 people responded to this question. 93% Strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

56%

37%

5% 2%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

To what extent do you agree with the prosed 
priority‘Investing in vital services and infrastructure? 

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Ethnicity. 

Ethnicity Percentage who agree
White 95% (607)
BME 80% (24)

We received 269 comments on this priority. All comments were analysed and 
themed. The top themes were:

 Vital services need ongoing investments to be able to work efficiently and 
ensure they are sustainable. We need to invest more into our roads and 
footpaths, public transport, schools, broadband and in keeping our towns and 
villages clean (158 comments)

 Infrastructure is key as long as the finances are used in a transparent and 
economic way (46 comments)

Growing our economy

Question: To what extent do you agree with the priority ‘Growing our economy’? 

Page 190



9

772 people responded to this question. 86% Strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

31%

55%

10%
4%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

To what extent do you agree with the prosed 
priority‘Growing our economy? 

There was no variation in responses between the protected characteristic groups.

We received 218 comments on this priority. All comments were analysed and 
themed. The top themes were:

 A strong economy will provide employment and taxes for investment into our 
services; this will encourage businesses to come to Gloucestershire which will 
create more jobs and apprenticeships for young people, creating a better 
standard of living. (76 comments)

 We need to invest in good infrastructure to help grow our economy and attract 
people/ businesses to stay/move to Gloucestershire. We need to have good 
transport, internet, car parking and affordable homes. (43 comments)

Creating a council fit for the future

Question: To what extent do you agree with the priority ‘Creating a council fit for the 
future’? 

758 people responded to this question. 85% Strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

Page 191



10

39%

46%

10%
5%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

To what extent do you agree with the prosed priority 
‘Creating a council fit for the future?  

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Gender and Sexual orientation. 

Gender Percentage who agree
Male 80% (267)
Female 92% (331)

Sexual Orientation Percentage who agree
Heterosexual 88% (515)
LGBT 75% (26)

We received 281 comments on this priority. All comments were analysed and 
themed. The top themes were:

 Need to define what this means, and how you are going to achieve this. (58 
comments)

 We need a council that is looking ahead and planning for the changes that 
need to happen. You need to change the culture in ways of working, such as 
effective contract management. We need to make these changes and 
address the problems we face and use what we already have more efficiently 
to look at promoting new ways of working. (58 comments)

 We need a strong council that will make positive decisions for the county. We 
need more investment in infrastructure, public transport, better technology 
systems, libraries and affordable housing. We need to invest more in 
rural/deprived areas and create a council that works for the public (36 
comments)

Page 192



11

2.2.2 Council Budget

Question 2 asked respondents to indicate the extent to which they agreed with the 
council’s proposed budget. They were given information about the key areas to raise 
additional income to support the most vulnerable through a rise in council tax of 
1.99% and an additional 2% levy to support vulnerable adults. They were also given 
information about proposed investment and were provided with a proposed budget 
breakdown.  

74% agreed with our budget proposals. 

10%

64%

20%

6%

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

To what extent do you agree with the council's budget 
proposals?  

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Age, gender and Sexual orientation. 

Age Percentage who agree
Under 25 85% (45)
25- 55 76% (305)
55+ 82% (171)

Gender Percentage who agree
Male 69% (218)
Female 81% (286)

Sexual Orientation Percentage who agree
Heterosexual 80% (449)
LGBT 51% (17)

2.2.3   Comments on our proposed budget

Page 193



12

Questions 3 and 4 asked respondents to explain the reasons for their answer and for 
any additional comments they had about the proposed budget. 281 comments were 
received for question 3 and 203 for question 4. Overall the comments received 
supported the council’s proposals particularly the proposed investment into our 
infrastructure and  in services for the most vulnerable people in our county. We also 
received a number of comments regarding the consultation, where respondents felt 
that a simplified version of the MTFS report in an easily accessible location on our 
website could allow for a more informed response. 

Question 3: Please explain your answer
The most common themes were:

 Invest in services for the most vulnerable (27 comments)

 Supportive of proposals (26 comments)

 More investment in roads and other infrastructure (19 comments)

 Not enough detail in consultation  - and needs a simplified version of the 
budget to make it easier to comment on  (18 comments)

 Invest in services for children and young people including education ( 14 
comments)

There was also a strong feeling that although we should invest in our most 
vulnerable people, we should continue to invest in services which affect the lives of 
everyone. Objections to cuts from Central Government also featured as one of the 
recurring themes. 

Question 4: Our full 2018/19 budget proposals can be found by going to 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mtfs Do you have any other comments to make 
about our proposed 2018/19 budget

The most common themes were:

 Support budget proposals (22 comments)

 Not enough detail in consultation – need summary of budget proposals (26 

comments)

Page 194

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mtfs


13

 Protect the most vulnerable (18 comments)

 Invest more in infrastructure including roads and footpaths  (17 comments)

 Oppose Central Government cuts (10 comments)

 Invest in our young people including schools (7 comments)

 Disagree with council tax increase (7 comments)

We also received a total of 183 comments on Facebook. 

Many of the comments were around roads including repairs to potholes and some 
felt that money spent on larger road schemes meant that money was taken away 
from other areas of the county. 

Specific improvements called for were around  the A417 and congestion at the Air 
Balloon roundabout.

Other priorities mentioned were around the call for extra investment on adult social 
care and ‘people services’.

3. Trade Unions and Professional Associations - Budget 
Consultation 2018/19

This meeting took place on Wednesday, 8th January 2018, when the following people 

attended: 

Jayne Jackson UNISON 
Wayne Powell GMB 
Lesley Bishop GMB 

Page 195



14

John Pemberthy NUT
Roger Hunt GMB
Nick Bailey UNITE

Cllr Mark Hawthore, Leader of the Council
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change

Officers in support: Jo Walker, Director, Strategic Finance; Mandy Quale, Head of 
HR Nick Lerry, Employer Relations Manager, Amy Davies, Senior Consultation 
Officer

The meeting was structured in two parts: (1) an informal briefing with officers and (2) 

with Cllr Mark Hawthorne (Leader of the Council) and Cllr Ray Theodolou (Cabinet 

Member for Finance and Change).

Part One: informal briefing with officers

Jo Walker introduced the headline details of the budget proposals contained in the 

MTFS 2018-19 to 2020-21. The proposals have been agreed by Cabinet and are 

now subject to stakeholder consultation. Following the consultation process the 

MTFS, Council Strategy and supporting policy documents will be considered again 

by Cabinet on 31st January, with the recommended budget being considered by Full 

Council on 14th 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne (Leader of the Council) and Cllr Ray Theodolou (Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change). Answered Trade union representative’s 
questions on the following:

 Partnership working has had some  challenging issues to address arising from 

different organisational cultures, with decisions having ultimately been made 

that elements of service are more effectively delivered by being brought back 

in to the Council. Integration is therefore seen as being most effectively 

exercised at the strategic level, rather than through a full integration of 

operational staffing structures.  

 In respect of High Needs provision in children’s services Mark advised that he 

was not specialist in this area but solutions to the various challenges are 

actively being sought through Schools Forum, at which the teachers’ trade 

unions are represented. MH agreed with JP’s suggestion that it might helpful 

for trade union representatives to meet with Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet 

Page 196



15

Member for Children & Young People) and Stewart King (Lead 

Commissioner: Education & Skills). It was agreed that arrangements would be 

made to set up a meeting in this regard with representatives of the teachers 

and Local Government Services (Green Book) trade unions.  

 Mark has acknowledged that this needs to be set in the context of what 

continues to be a difficult settlement; in particular there are cost pressures 

associated with the two principal elements of adult social care: services for 

the elderly and long-term conditions (including physical disability services). In 

this regard the Council has never received any additional funding for 

increased costs faced by contracted providers in respect of meeting the 

National Living Wage. There are also issues around the increasing numbers 

of children coming into care and complex cases. 

 Contracted services – Mark advised the Council takes a balanced view on this 

and seeks to achieve the best outcomes for service users and council tax 

payers, having regard to what the market can deliver. For example, Highways 

services are currently subject to procurement (with some elements to return 

in-house), but the Council would wish to retain control on key services such 

as children’s social care.

 What is  the position regarding back-dated payments for sleeping-in shifts 

worked by contracted social care providers and if (and how) this would be 

accommodated through the Council’s budget? Mark advised that the case in 

question is now to be reconsidered by the Court of Appeal in March, following 

which it is hoped that the legal position in respect of sleeping-in shifts will be 

clarified. However, it is difficult to envisage a situation whereby the Council 

could fund any back pay that contractors may be required to make: 

essentially, this is a national problem that requires a national solution.

4. Schools Forum Consultation - Budget Consultation 2018/19

The Schools Forum met on 11thJanuary 2018. Feedback for incorporation into the 
Budget Consultation is detailed below. 

GCC Budget Consultation 2018/19

Page 197



16

Feedback from Schools Forum – 11th January 2018

1. The amount allowed in the investment for increases in children in care and the 
provision of external placements allows little flexibility for numbers to increase 
further and the cost of this to be covered. It was explained that investment 
and changes in practice elsewhere within social care e.g. in-house fostering 
capacity, IRIS  should assist in mitigating this risk.

2. They would have expected to have seen funding made available to pick up 
the continuing costs of the impact of the Ofsted judgement even if this was 
just one-off costs in 2018/19.

3. The question was asked as to whether additional funding was being made 
available to fund what was likely to be a 2% pay award in addition to the 1.5% 
already allowed for.

Appendix A – Data Tables – Respondent breakdown

Age

774Total

99%
9No response

 1%
Under 25 54

Page 198



17

7%

12425-34

16%

13535-44

17%

16945-54

22%

13555-64

17%

10365-74

13%
2275 or over

3%
32Prefer not to say

4%
  

Gender  
  

762Total

97%

21No response
 3%

342Male

45%

372Female

49%

48Rather not say
 6%

  
 

Page 199



18

Q16. Do you have any kind of disability?  
  

762Total

97%

21No response
 3%

66Yes
9%
632No

83%

64Prefer not to say

8%

  
 
Ethnic Origin 

757Total

97%

26No response
 3%

643White British

85%

11Mixed/ multiple ethnic groups

1%
9Asian/ Asian British

1%
5Black/African/Caribbean/ Black British

1%
6Other ethnic group 1%

83Prefer not to say 11%

Q19. Do you identify yourself as...?  
 

760Total

97%

23No response
 3%

601Heterosexual/Straight

79%

22Gay or lesbian 

3%

10Bisexual

1%

124Prefer not to say

16%

Page 200



19

  
Religion or Belief 

758Total

97%

25No response

3%

299Christian

39%

2Buddhist

0.26%

11 Muslim

1%
2Hindu

0.26%

2Jewish

0.26%

331Non religious

 44%
16Other

2%
95Prefer not to say

13%
  

 
  

Page 201



20

Appendix B – Online and paper survey questionnaire e online 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/budget2014

Page 202



21

Page 203



22

Page 204



23

Page 205



24

Page 206



25

Page 207



26

Page 208



27

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

Report to Cabinet on Draft 2018/19 Budget

1. PURPOSE

To report observations from the committee following its process of gathering 
evidence in order to advise Cabinet on council and budget priorities for the 
draft 2018/19 budget.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee has the lead role in terms of 
budget scrutiny. It produces a response to the Cabinet’s draft budget on 
behalf of the scrutiny function as a whole. A ‘Budget Scrutiny’ day was held on 
10 January 2018, where sessions were held with Cabinet Members and 
Directors for each scrutiny committee to discuss the budget. OSMC members 
were in attendance throughout the day in order to identify any recurring 
themes and trends. 

2.2 This response draws out the key observations and comments made in 
response to the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy which goes to Cabinet 
on 31 January and is to be approved at full Council on 14 February 2018.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 Cabinet on 13 December 2017 approved for consultation and scrutiny the 
detailed draft budgets for 2018/19, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS), which includes the Treasury Management Strategy.

3.2 Members recognise that the draft MTFS proposes a budget totalling £407.16 
million and is based on a 1.99% Council Tax increase plus the continuation of 
the ‘social care precept’ of 2% specifically to fund Adult Social Care services. 

3.3 The proposed revenue budget for 2018/19 is a net reduction of £0.54 million 
from 2017/18. Investment of £28.72 million is included, offset by savings and 
efficiencies of £29.26 million.

Page 211

Agenda Item 8e



4. OBSERVATIONS

4.1 Scrutiny Members were provided with background regarding funding 
announcements since the publication of the draft budget. There were a 
number of headlines:

• Increased council tax referendum principle from 2% to 3% for 2018-19, 
with the maximum £5 increase maintained for district councils.  1% for 
GCC = £2.7m

• New Homes Bonus confirmed, £0.431 million higher

• Confirmation of other funding streams – in line with assumptions, which 
include no continuation of Transition Grant

• Gloucestershire was announced as one of the ten successful pilots for 
100% Business Rate Retention. 

•  Announcement of the Government’s “aim” to localise 75% of business 
rates from 2020-21 and implementation of the new needs assessment.

4.2 Adults & Public Health

4.2.1 The Adult Social Care budget is the single biggest area of expenditure of the 
County Council. Members understood that the proposed budget included an 
additional increase of 2% for the National Social Care Levy. In addition to 
meeting the costs to date of implementing the Care Act, the increase will also 
be used in part to address the impact of demographic changes and costs 
pressure including the National Living Wage. Alongside this, demographic 
changes indicated a rising demand for support from people with increasingly 
complex needs that requires the Council to better manage and respond to 
demand.

4.2.2 The focus on Demand Management was a key theme expressed throughout 
the day. It was suggested that over time, the Council was becoming more 
demand led in many service areas particularly Adult Social Care. Members 
understand that a Members Seminar will be held which will provide an outline 
of the work taking place to manage demand. Scrutiny Members welcome that 
and ask that this seminar is arranged as a priority.

4.2.3 One member expressed the importance of the Council prioritising early 
intervention for vulnerable adults and children. He suggested that by ‘nipping 
issues in the bud’ this could prevent more acute services being required in the 
future and help prevent costs from rising uncontrollably.  

Page 212



4.2.4 In response to questions, Cabinet Members stated that they were confident 
that the budget was sufficient, recognising that demand can be difficult to 
predict. A significant amount of work had taken place to look to analyse the 
factors involved and to ensure resources were best allocated to meet that 
demand.

4.2.5 Members understand that at the heart of the work taking place to deliver 
change in Adult services there is a focus on culture change. This takes the 
form of a three-tier conversation at the frontline that gives a simple focus on 
helping people to help themselves:

Tier one – Help to help yourself

Tier two – Help when you need it

Tier three – Ongoing support for those that need it

One member explained that for this to be successful there needs to be the 
community support in place, otherwise people will immediately resort to ‘Tier 
three’.  It was important for the Council to engage with communities to help 
stimulate the services provided by voluntary organisations. This engagement 
with the community would help individuals to make good choices around their 
wellbeing.

4.2.6 In considering the importance of looking to invest at an earlier stage, as well 
as helping individuals to make good decisions, members highlighted the 
importance of Public Health and in particular Mental Health Services. 
Members welcomed the continued investment in Adult Social Care as 
identified within the budget, but some members expressed concern about the 
£32,000 reduction in the Mental Health budget within Public Health. Those 
members suggested that the budget should not be reduced. Members were 
informed that it had been felt that this level of saving would not have a 
significant impact as services were also provided within other areas of the 
Council as well as by partners.

4.2.7 Members noted the reduction in the sexual health budget of 13.1%. In 
response to questions it was explained that this was about updating the model 
to take advantage of technology and positioning the service at those with the 
most need. In addition there was close working with partners who carried out 
a lot of work in this area. Some members commented that given the reduction 
in the budget this was an area that needed monitoring.  

4.3 Communities and Infrastructure 

4.3.1 Members were informed that there was a real focus on investing in the future 
of Gloucestershire. Infrastructure relates to social, economic and 

Page 213



environmental systems to support growth and communities. The key drivers 
behind this are the changing demographics within the council and the 
technological changes that can allow for greater connectivity.

4.3.2 Members note the one off investments planned for 2018/19 involving the 
introduction of a Member led communities grant programme at a cost of 
£1.59m which would provide for £30,000 per councillor over a three year 
period. This would be in addition to the £10,000 per member Highways Local 
allocation which had been retained at its base budget position.  In addition the 
Lengthsmen Scheme would continue for a further year before being 
incorporated into the new Highways Contract. 

4.3.3 Some members felt that the Highways Local allocation needed to be higher 
and that members had used this money in positive ways in the past. One off 
additions to the 2017/18 budget at full Council had led to a £30,000 allocation 
per member for that year and some members would welcome a return to that 
amount. One member suggested that Cabinet should consider the views of all 
members when evaluating the future of Highways Local, while other members 
suggested that a review could be undertaken at scrutiny as to the 
effectiveness of the work that had been carried out under the Highways Local 
scheme. 

4.3.4 Some members commented on the Lengthsmen scheme, stating that while 
some members saw the benefit of the scheme in their area, results were 
inconsistent in other areas. It was recognised that there were opportunities to 
feedback on the scheme ahead of it being incorporated into the new contract. 

4.3.5 Clarification was sought regarding the commitment from the Administration to 
invest £150m over a 5 year period. It was explained that this included grants 
from government and £40m of additional funding from the Council. This longer 
time horizon provided greater stability and security around funding on 
maintenance on the County’s roads over that period. 

4.3.6 Some members raised questions regarding employment and skills in places of 
high need. It was suggested that some areas of the County were 
disconnected and didn’t have the same access to services and opportunities. 
It was suggested that support needed to be targeted in those areas, perhaps 
through adult education and training, to ensure vulnerable people have the 
help and support they need to get into employment.  

4.4 Children and Families

4.4.1 In setting the budget for Children and Families there are a number of key 
considerations. The headline issues included the impact of the Ofsted 
inspection and the importance of the improvement plan alongside the rising 

Page 214



number of children in care. In addition changes in legislation including the 
requirement to support care leavers until the age of 25, ensuring the local 
education system is meeting the needs of children and young people and the 
management of the high needs budget is all putting pressure on this service 
area’s budget. As well as reflecting on the considerations above, members 
discussed the challenges relating to the recruitment and retention of children’s 
social workers. 

4.4.2 In considering the Council’s budget as a whole over the course of the day, 
members felt that the area exposed to greatest risk was the Children and 
Families Budget. 

4.4.3 Members welcomed the additional investment of £10.985m for vulnerable 
children particularly within the external placement budget to meet cost and 
demand pressures, but discussed whether this was enough given the 
increased demand. 

4.4.4 Members note the in year overspend within the service and highlighted how 
important it is that the budget is sufficient to take into account these risks and 
ensure we are delivering for children in Gloucestershire.  Members were 
assured by the Cabinet Member that at the end of the budget process there 
would be a budget which would be sufficient to deliver the services required 
for children going forward. Members anticipate that this is a budget area that 
will be further amended in order to mitigate the risks.   

4.5 Core Council

4.5.1 One member asked that in future a more detailed budget  (MTFS) was 
produced for consultation and scrutiny  that provided further details into 
specific services. Importantly as the Council looks to generate income and 
establishes traded services, it would be useful to have the income projections 
identified within the MTFS against the individual budgets so that members 
could understand how significantly this affected budgets and how reliant 
budget areas were on income.

4.5.2 Another member suggested that the draft budget did not easily identify the 
areas in which the council were looking to invest to save and how that would 
impact budgets over the longer term. Members recognised that this was an 
area where the council had been successful in the past and that these 
projects needed to be more visible within the budget.

4.5.3 Gloucestershire had been named as one of ten 100% business rates retention 
pilots that had been accepted for 2018-19; one member suggested that the 
one off funding from this should be targeted at the most vulnerable within 
Gloucestershire. 

Page 215



4.6 Summary

4.6.1 Over the course of the day members identified a number of key themes and 
suggested areas for Cabinet to consider further as they formulate the budget 
for full Council:

a) The Children and Families budget stood out as an area of high risk. While 
welcoming the investment in this area, Members ask that the Cabinet further 
consider whether the budget is sufficient to meet the additional demand and 
to ensure the continuation of the Improvement Plan.

b) Members welcome the focus on demand management alongside early 
intervention for vulnerable adults and children.

c) Members felt that the success of this demand management depended upon 
work to stimulate communities to ensure that local services were there to 
help people when they needed additional support, before they required 
ongoing support provided by the Council or NHS.

d) Some members asked that the Mental Health budget within Public Health be 
protected and not reduced by the £32,000 outlined within the Draft budget. 

e) Some members asked that the allocation per member of Highways Local 
funding be increased from the base budget position of £10,000 per member 
to reflect the allocation provided in previous years.

f) For future budgets, Members requested that a more detailed budget be 
created for consultation and Scrutiny that included the income by department.

g) In future budgets, Members would like to see more clarity around where the 
Council was investing to save and the impact of those savings in future 
years.

h) Some members suggested that spending from the one off funding from 100% 
Business Rates retention pilot should be targeted at the most vulnerable 
within Gloucestershire.

4.6.2 Members recognise that the Council faces a large amount of cost pressures 
around predominately demand led services within the context of reduced 
national funding and that setting the budget is about identifying the right 
balance with limited resources. The aim of the budget scrutiny process is to 
help advise Cabinet in the formulation of that budget and to act as a critical 
friend. Feedback from the budget scrutiny process has been positive and 

Page 216



Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee members feel that this ‘one 
day’ approach allows for themes to be more easily identified. Members wish 
to thank the Cabinet Members and Senior Officers who attended the 
sessions. 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee  

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5
Council Strategy and MTFS – implications of the Public Sector Equality Duty

Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers must show ‘due regard’ to the need to:

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation

• advance equality of opportunity between those who share a protected 
characteristic and others who do not share it; and

• foster good relations between these groups.

The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender, race, religion and belief, 
sexual orientation, gender re-assignment, pregnancy and maternity, and marriage 
and civil partnership.

Having “due regard” is a legal term that requires Members to consider what is 
proportionate and relevant in terms of the decisions they take. The policy and budget 
framework is a decision for all Members of the County Council.

Members have been provided with, and should read, the Due Regard Statement 
which accompanies the Council report. It notes the potential impact of the proposals 
for each major service area.

To meet the legal obligation Members should first be content that they have sufficient 
information to enable them to consider the equality impacts and that they can 
consciously and actively consider the relevant matters. The detailed Due Regard 
Statement sets out the key issues in relation to the MTFS and the budget.  The 
Statement sets out the evidence base across the protected groups. 

As decision makers, Members must weigh up all the factors and reach a 
balanced view, ensuring that there are mitigating factors wherever possible. 
Again, these are set out in the Due Regard Statement.

The Due Regard Statement will continue to be monitored and updated as our plans 
are implemented.

Page 219

Agenda Item 8f



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 221



P
age 222



P
age 223



P
age 224



P
age 225



P
age 226



P
age 227



P
age 228



P
age 229



P
age 230



P
age 231



P
age 232



P
age 233



P
age 234



P
age 235



P
age 236



P
age 237



P
age 238



P
age 239



P
age 240



P
age 241



P
age 242



P
age 243



P
age 244



P
age 245



P
age 246



P
age 247



P
age 248



P
age 249



P
age 250



P
age 251



P
age 252



P
age 253



P
age 254



P
age 255



P
age 256



P
age 257



P
age 258



P
age 259



P
age 260



P
age 261



P
age 262



P
age 263



P
age 264



P
age 265



P
age 266



P
age 267



P
age 268



P
age 269



P
age 270



P
age 271



P
age 272



P
age 273



P
age 274



P
age 275



P
age 276



P
age 277



P
age 278



P
age 279



P
age 280



P
age 281



P
age 282



P
age 283



P
age 284



P
age 285



P
age 286



P
age 287



P
age 288



P
age 289



P
age 290



P
age 291



P
age 292



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY UPDATE

14 February 2018

1 Introduction  
This report summarises the activities of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
during January.  Individual reports from the scrutiny chairs are referenced as 
follows:  

Section 2 Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee

Section 3 Cllr Brian Robinson, Chair of the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 4 Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Chair of the Health and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 5 Cllr Robert Bird, Chair of the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 6 Cllr Dave Norman, Chair of Economic Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Section 7 Cllr Will Windsor Clive, Gloucestershire Police and Crime 
Panel

2 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (24 January)  – Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 

2.1 Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy

 On 10 January, the Committee held a ‘Budget Scrutiny day’ where Cabinet 
Members and Directors for each scrutiny committee were invited to discuss the 
budget. OSMC members were in attendance throughout the day in order to 
identify any recurring themes and trends. Following that day, a report was 
compiled and circulated to Members for their comments and amendments. This 
report aimed to draw out the key observations and comments made in response 
to the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy. Cabinet would agree a proposed 
budget on 31 January to be approved by full Council on 14 February 2018. The 
Committee were asked to agree their report to be presented to Cabinet. 

Members noted that the Cabinet papers had been published with an updated 
MTFS and Council Strategy. The Committee stated that they were pleased that 
the comments made by OSMC during the Budget Scrutiny day on the need for 
investment in Children’s Services had been taken on board by the Cabinet.

Page 293

Agenda Item 10



The Committee agreed that the draft report was an accurate record of the 
Budget Scrutiny day. It was therefore resolved that the Committee agreed the 
Budget Scrutiny Report to go to Cabinet. (The report can be read within the 
annexes to the Medium Term Financial Strategy in the Council papers).

In addition to the report the Committee agreed that they would recommend to 
Cabinet that the funds received as a result of the Business Rates Retention Pilot 
be displayed clearly and transparently within the budget. They requested a 
briefing at a future Committee meeting on the Pilot.

3 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (11 January) - 
Cllr Brian Robinson

3.1 Children’s Services Improvement Board Update

The committee engaged in a robust discourse with the Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People. Whilst informative committee members did not feel 
that the report had given a clear picture of whether we were already seeing 
improvement in performance/practice.

The Cabinet Member reported that previously some agencies had 
misunderstood the thresholds. Before the Ofsted inspection there had been an 
80% attrition rate in the number of contacts received. This had been due to a 
misunderstanding by some partner agencies as to our thresholds and how they 
were applied. Workshops had been held with partners to help with their 
understanding. Liquid Logic has also been reconfigured to enable better tracking 
of referrals through the system. Contacts are down from 2314 in March 2017 to 
929 in December 2017.

The number of children in need is coming down; the number of children in care 
is going up; and the number of children subject to a child protection plan has 
also gone up. These are positive indicators as this means that children are not 
languishing in the system inappropriately but are where they should be. There 
are also no cases being managed by managers, and as of December 2017 
individual Social Worker caseloads had reduced to the target figure of 18. 

The DfE had visited the council in December 2017. They recognised that there 
have been improvements in some areas but also identified the areas where 
work was still required. This report has not been shared with the committee as it 
has not as yet been released by the Improvement Board Chairman.

The committee was also updated on workforce issues. It was also explained that 
work was in place to re-design children’s services to enable better delivery of 

Page 294



services. This would be more expensive, but would enable a better 
management structure, but more importantly a more effective service for our 
children and young people. 

The committee would continue to closely monitor this work.

3.2. Quality Audit Framework: Progress Update Report

The committee had received an initial update on this area at its meeting in 
November 2017. Members had been disappointed with the picture of practice 
that that report had described and were disappointed that quality audits were not 
embedded within practice. 

The report received this month demonstrated that there has been a lot of activity 
to improve this position. There is now a core group of 11 auditors, and 
Consultant Social Workers are working directly with front line social workers. An 
external consultant is moderating audits, and has identified that these were 
good or satisfactory. However, it also identified variable practice and that more 
developmental work is required. 

The committee noted the next steps identified in the report and will want to see 
improvement in practice identified in future reports.

3.3. Adoption and Fostering Services

The committee received a detailed presentation from the Head of Service – 
Permanence. The presentation slides are available on the council’s website.

The Ofsted Inspection report classified the Adoption Service as Good. It was 
clear from the discussion at the meeting that this service is committed to 
delivering the best placements for our children. It is important to understand that 
adoption is not the only route to permanence planning. Courts required that 
precedence be given to permanence in kinship arrangements wherever 
realistically possible. This means that there has been an increase in Special 
Guardianship Orders.  

Members were informed that the early permanence programme was making a 
real difference to both children and foster carers, as was effective use of the 
Adoption Support Fund. It was concerning to hear that there is uncertainty with 
regard to the Adoption Support Fund post 2020. It was also disappointing to 
hear that each year the criteria for this fund had been tightened.

Page 295



The regional adoption arrangements, Adoption West, were explained, and the 
committee agreed to receive an update later this year to see how the new 
arrangements were working.

The Fostering Service is also a service committed to delivering the best 
outcomes for our children and young people. Recruitment of foster carers is a 
challenge. In particular, the service struggles to find enough placements for 
teenagers, parent and baby placements, children with very complex needs and 
those with high risk behaviours. 

Following consultation with foster carers changes to the payment structure will 
come into effect from April 2018. These changes will make the process fairer, 
less bureaucratic and more efficient. 

The Head of Service informed the committee that she was aware that a Foster 
Carer union had been established and in relation to this was working with the 
Fostering Network. The service had also been mindful of this when looking at 
the payment structure. She informed members that at a recent meeting with 
Foster Carers they had indicated that they were satisfied with their current 
remuneration package.

4 Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (9 January) – Cllr 
Carole Allaway Martin

4.1 Health and Wellbeing for the future: Community Hospital Services in the Forest 
of Dean - Consultation Outcome Report

Committee members engaged in a detailed debate on this issue. The summary 
below has been sent to the Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust and 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Boards to inform their decision 
making process on this matter. 

The committee is a statutory consultee on any substantial development of the 
health service in Gloucestershire. The consultation on Health and Wellbeing for 
the future: Community Hospitals in the Forest of Dean was launched at the 
meeting of the committee on 12 September 2017, and the outcome report of this 
consultation was received at the committee meeting on 9 January 2018.

The preferred option that was consulted on was to invest in a new community 
hospital in the Forest of Dean which would replace the Dilke Memorial Hospital 
and Lydney and District Hospital. The committee’s role in this stage of the 
development of this proposal was:-

Page 296



 to confirm whether it was satisfied that the consultation process was 
undertaken in line with statutory requirements and was appropriate and 
proportionate; and, 

 to feedback on key issues that it would wish to have fully considered by 
the Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCS) and Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (GCCG) Boards within their decision 
making process.

The committee received a detailed presentation from the GCCG and GCS on 
the consultation process (including the engagement activity) and the main 
findings from the consultation. 

The concerns raised by committee members during the debate reflected those 
identified in the consultation outcome report:-

 The number of beds
 Transport issues
 Housing developments (including the impact of the removal of tolls on the 

Severn Bridge by the end of 2018)
 Insufficient detail overall
 A lack of clarity as to why the shared investment suggestion is not viable

The committee agreed that it was satisfied that the consultation process was 
undertaken in line with statutory requirements. 

However, whilst agreeing that the consultation process was appropriate and 
proportionate, committee members were clear that they had serious concerns 
with the wider aspects of the consultation, as listed above, and that they expect 
the GCS and GCCG Boards to give these matters due consideration during their 
decision making process. The committee is also clear that it expects to be kept 
informed of progress.

4.2 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - Performance 
Report

The committee was updated on the Ambulance Response Programme (ARP), in 
particular the new ambulance response standards. Members will recall that the 
Trust was part of the initial pilot of the ARP. The committee was informed that 
the Trust has seen improvements in productivity and efficiency, from the initial 
pilot, with, on average, less vehicles being sent to each incident, freeing up 
resources to attend more patients.

Five committee members had recently visited the Trust’s Clinical Hub at Bradley 
Stoke. These members had been impressed with the professionalism of the 
emergency call handlers and clinicians. They had also been impressed with the 

Page 297



resilience measures that had been built into the design of the building; these 
measures had proved their worth when there had been a power outage at the 
Trust’s Exeter hub. Additional measures have now been put in place at Exeter. 
Committee members will receive the outcome report from the official 
investigation into this matter. 

4.3. Quarter 2 Adult Social Care Performance Report

The committee was pleased to hear from the Deputy Director Adult Social Care 
that he had taken steps to get the reporting line for these reports to be in line 
with other performance reports. 

The Deputy Director informed the committee that the use of residential care had 
stabilised in this quarter. The committee reiterated its concerns with regard to 
performance against targets related to the reassessment of needs. Members 
were informed of the activity that is in place to address these issues and the 
challenges around how these metrics were measured. It was agreed that more 
detail on this work would be included in the performance report to be received 
by the committee in March 2018.

4.4. GCCG Chair/Accountable Officer Report

The committee questioned whether the Winter Plan was working. Members 
were informed that it has been challenging, particularly between Christmas and 
New Year, but this was the most robust winter so far for Gloucestershire. The 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) informed 
members that the Trust was the last in the region to escalate to level 4, and 
were back to level 2 in 2 days. The 4 hour A & E standard had been met in 
November 2017, and this continued into December 2017. 

Members will be aware that NHS England had issued a directive for the 
cancellation of all non-urgent operations. The committee was informed that 
GHNHSFT had been allowed to apply local discretion and had therefore 
continued to perform operations; out-patient clinics had also continued. 80 
routine operations had been performed every day. This did mean that 14 were 
cancelled but due to winter planning patients had been given advance notice. 
GHNHSFT was also the only major centre undertaking trauma and orthopaedic 
operations on 2 January 2018.

5 Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (17 
January) - Cllr Rob Bird

5.1 Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood and Community Resilience

Page 298



David Parish, Strategic Flood Risk Management Officer, and John Beard, 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented a report to the Committee on 
Gloucestershire flood and community resilience. The report can be accessed at 
the following link: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=874
2&Ver=4

Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood and Community Resilience was referred to 
the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee by full Council at its 
meeting in September 2017. The Committee considered the motion and agreed 
that a report outlining Gloucestershire’s flood resilience, Gloucestershire’s role 
as lead local flood authority, and how the flood levy has been used, would be 
brought to the Committee meeting in January 2018. 

Cllr Kate Haigh attended the meeting, as the proposer of the motion, to 
contribute to the debate.

The Committee was informed how flood risk has been managed since the 
extreme flooding event experienced in Gloucestershire in July 2007, and 
recognised that there has been over £98 million of public and private investment 
in Gloucestershire flood alleviation projects over the last 10 years.

A number of current and proposed Gloucestershire County Council flood risk 
management schemes were highlighted to the Committee, particularly that flood 
alleviation schemes at Podsmead and Hucclecote are being investigated. 

The Committee noted the strategies that have been implemented to improve 
local resilience to flooding, including improvements to the Emergency 
Management Centre and rest centres, and promoting community resilience by 
providing guidance in the form of a booklet and a website.  

Members discussed the report in depth, and recognised that Gloucestershire’s 
flood resilience had improved significantly since 2007. It was felt that 
communities are better prepared and more aware of flooding now than in 2007, 
and several members thanked officers at Gloucestershire County Council and 
across partner agencies for their work to develop schemes to protect local 
communities from flooding. 

Although significant progress has been made to improve the County’s resilience 
to flooding, the Committee also acknowledged that further measures are 
required to protect homes that are still at risk from flooding. The Committee 
noted that there is an increasing interest in the development of upper catchment 
soft flood alleviation schemes, and noted that the Stroud Valleys Rural 

Page 299

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8742&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8742&Ver=4


Sustainable Drainage project has received national recognition as a model of 
best practice.

Cllr Haigh expressed her concern regarding the reduction in employees at both 
the district and county councils to support local communities in the event of 
another extreme flooding event, and where communities without parish councils 
can seek support on flooding.

It was explained that in the case of an extreme flooding event, Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service can have up to 300 boots on the ground within 30 
minutes and that all firefighters are trained in water awareness. It was also 
explained that in the absence of parish councils, the district councils have a 
responsibility to support local communities, and that there are other local 
community groups that can assist in a response to a flood.

It was agreed that these points of clarification to Cllr Haigh’s concerns will be 
included in the report and attached to the minute book. 

The Committee noted the report.

5.2 Road Safety Review

The Committee received an update from John Beard on changes being made to 
the delivery of road safety initiatives. Following the withdrawal of the Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner from the Road Safety Partnership in 2017, 
a review of road safety and related activities was carried out. The review was 
also an opportunity to consider the challenges facing Gloucestershire over the 
next five to ten years and to ensure road safety functions are integrated 
effectively to address these challenges. 

Changes to the delivery of road safety initiatives include mainstreaming road 
safety functions within the core work of the Council by relocating staff into the 
teams responsible for highways, integrated transport and development 
management. A new ThinkTravel Coordinator post will also be created to ensure 
that work streams across the team are effective, and Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service will continue to work with partners to explore and deliver 
educational packages. 

The Committee discussed the report. It was noted that blue light collaboration 
will continue moving forward, and noted that a Gloucestershire Emergency 
Services Collaboration Governance Board has been set up.

The Committee noted that the review and all subsequent changes will be fully 
implemented by the end of the 2017/18 financial year. 

Page 300



5.3 Chief Fire Officer Report

The Committee received a report from Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, 
detailing information on the portfolio of services provided by the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. 

In particular, members were informed that the Service is currently undertaking 
recruitment for retained and whole-time firefighters. It was explained that the 
Service is hoping to recruit between 10 and 14 whole-time firefighters, and that 
they are currently at the final interview stage. 

The Committee was also informed that the Food Standards Agency has 
indicated that funding for inspections to determine the level of compliance at 
animal food manufacturers and production facilities is likely to be reduced in 
2018. It was clarified that this will not affect the base budget for Trading 
Standards. 

Members noted that the consultation on a revised Fire and Rescue National 
Framework document was launched on 27 December 2017 and ends on 14 
February 2018. It was agreed that the submission by Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service will be circulated with the Committee.

Members were informed of several recent fire incidents, which included a house 
fire at Cirencester and at Coney Hill Road in Gloucester. The Committee also 
discussed the Severn Trent water leak which affected homes in Tewkesbury on 
15 December 2017, and was informed that a de-brief of the incident is being 
arranged. 

5.4 Commissioning Director’s Report 

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, updated 
the Committee on current issues. 

In particular, members asked questions regarding the A417 Missing Link, the 
procurement of Euro 6 lower emission buses for a replacement Park and Ride 
Service in Cheltenham, Traffic Regulation Orders, and the impact of the 
collapse of Carillion in Gloucestershire.

Following a discussion on the Great Western Rail franchise consultation, it was 
agreed that the draft response from the Council to the consultation will be 
circulated with the Committee for comments following the Lead Cabinet Member 
meeting on 5 February 2018.

Page 301



Members were also updated on the Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health 
Task Group, noting, in particular, that a positive and informative Air Pollution 
Stakeholder Workshop had taken place on 16 January 2018, the outcomes of 
which will inform the recommendations of the Task Group.

5.5 Work Plan 

At its meeting on 7 March 2018, the Committee will receive a report from the 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood on measures to improve the 
inspection and fixing of pavements, as part of the Committee’s consideration of 
Motion 787: Pavements, and an update on progress with the A429 Task Group 
recommendations.

It was proposed that items on the A417 Missing Link and on the libraries review 
be considered at one of the meetings in the upcoming months, and that an item 
on the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport be added to the work plan for 
consideration at a future meeting. The Air Pollution and its Impact on Public 
Health Task Group will also be reporting at either the May or July 2018 meeting.

6 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (29 November 
2017) – Cllr Dave Norman 

6.1 District held meetings

Reflecting on the outcomes of the meeting held at Tewkesbury Borough Council 
on 22 October 2017, the committee noted that the next ‘district’ based meeting 
would be held at the Cotswold District Council Offices on Thursday 22 February 
2018. This would be followed by a meeting at Cheltenham Borough Council on 
31 October 2018. . 

6.2 Gloucestershire Connects Study 

The committee received information on the Gloucestershire County Council 
commissioned study of ‘What is the future role for road and rail to support 
strategic connectivity in Gloucestershire by 2050’. 

Project Director at SYSTRA Consultants, Martin Revill, gave a short overview on 
the background and aims of the study and invited scrutiny members to discuss 
initial themes and potential challenges emerging from the first phase of the 
work. A detailed presentation was delivered to the Economic Growth Joint 
Committee earlier that day, at which scrutiny committee members had been 
encouraged to attend. 

Page 302



Key issues highlighted during the discussion included, access to the Forest of 
Dean, ongoing improvement works on the A417, rail links, and improvements to 
key junctions on the M5 Motorway. Focussing on the impact of housing and 
commercial development across the county, the committee suggested 
considering Gloucestershire’s river network as part of the study.   

6.3 Education, Employment and Skills

The committee considered the ESF Skills and Employability Update Report 
presented to the Economic Growth Joint Committee meeting earlier that day. 
Members were asked to refer any questions to Pete Carr, Lead Commissioner - 
Skills and Employment. 

To aid member’s understanding of progress on some of the LEP European ESF, 
(European Social Fund), Funded Projects currently underway in 
Gloucestershire, the committee received detailed presentations on the Learn 
Direct, (Work Start Gloucestershire), Project and on the South Gloucestershire 
and Stroud College EDGE and GOAL Projects. 

The presentations received mixed responses, with robust questioning from the 
committee on some of the financial and operational aspects of the projects. 
Since the meeting, the committee has received open invitations to visit both 
organisations. 

6.4 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee/GFirst LEP Update 

Having noted the reports considered at the Economic Growth Joint Committee 
meeting held earlier that day, the committee made specific reference to 
concerns about the impact of Brexit on the economic growth for Gloucestershire, 
and the award of European Funding.

Requesting information on the consequences of leaving the European Union, 
and having considered a proposal that the committee write to Gloucestershire 
MP’s to lobby the government on promoting continued funding, post EU 
departure, the committee was advised that, until a comprehensive assessment 
of the financial position could be made in March 2019, it would be very difficult 
to consider the likely outcomes. 

David Owen, Chief Executive of Gloucestershire GFirst LEP and Nigel Riglar, 
Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, noted the committee’s 
concerns and agreed to produce a briefing note on suggested key lines of 
enquiry for consideration at the committee meeting on 14 March 2018.

Page 303



At the Group Leader’s meeting on 1 December 2017, it was suggested the 
Economic Growth Joint Committee lead on this aspect of work, with input from 
the Scrutiny Committee. A report will be presented at the Joint Committee 
meeting on 14 March 2018.
 

7. Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel (18 December 2017) – Cllr Will 
Windsor Clive

7.1 Introduction

The Panel understood that the confirmatory hearing for the appointment of the 
Chief Constable was required by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011. The Police and Crime Commissioner would be invited to speak to the 
Panel to outline the selection process and to introduce the candidate. The 
candidate would then have the opportunity to address the Panel, and members 
could ask questions of the candidate relating to professional competence and 
personal independence. The Panel would then go into exempt session to make 
its decision on whether to recommend the appointment, recommend against the 
appointment or to use its power of veto.

7.2 Understanding the recruitment process

The Commissioner explained that this was an important day for the 
Constabulary, and introduced Rod Hansen as his preferred candidate for the 
position of Chief Constable. Mr Hansen had been fulfilling the role on a 
temporary basis for the previous ten months. The Commissioner outlined the 
selection process as detailed in the report provided to Panel members. He 
informed members that the process had followed the guidance of the College of 
Policing and the papers included a report from an Independent Member. 

One candidate had applied for the position; this reflected that the pool from 
which an appointment could be made from was very small. There had been a lot 
of interest from Deputies from other Forces who had asked questions on the 
process and about Gloucestershire Constabulary. The Commissioner suggested 
that the fact that only one individual had applied could be due to an awareness 
that there was a strong internal candidate. 

The preferred candidate had gone through a written application process and met 
all the criteria. He had met with a staff forum to answer questions and had faced 
a very testing media interview that he had performed strongly in. In addition, he 
had appeared before the Commissioner’s Forum. 

Page 304



7.3. The Preferred Candidate

Mr Hansen answered questions from the Panel on operational independence, 
the recent HMIC reports and his vision for the Constabulary going forward. Mr 
Hansen spoke at length about the measure he was taking to help support staff 
and improve wellbeing. Ultimately he was looking to bring stability to the 
Constabulary. 

Panel members commented on their disappointment that there had not been a 
wider pool of applicants but felt that the correct process had been followed.

Members discussed recent HMIC reports which had criticised senior 
management oversight, but noted the responses made by Mr Hansen in relation 
to recent challenges. One member stated the importance of ensuring that in 
future appointments there was encouragement of applications from candidates 
outside of the Constabulary in order to allow the opportunity for ‘new blood’. 

Members stated that the candidate had demonstrated professional competence 
and personal independence. They welcomed the full answers provided by the 
candidate to their questions and commented that he had given an excellent 
account of himself.

It was therefore agreed that:

The Panel unanimously recommend the appointment of Rod Hansen as Chief 
Constable and congratulate him on his presentation.  

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT 

14 February 2018 

Presented by Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Chairman of the Constitution Committee 

1 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

1.1 The Committee considered a report from the Independent Remuneration Panel 

(IRP), which outlined the IRP’s recommendations for members’ allowances for the 

2018-19 financial year. 

1.2 The IRP interviewed seventeen members, including fourteen newly elected 

members, in October 2017 and undertook a review of the allowance schemes for 

the other 27 county councils in England as part of its review of members’ 

allowances at Gloucestershire County Council. The Chair of the IRP also met with 

Group Leaders in June 2017 to discuss members’ allowances. 

1.3 The Committee noted that the current special responsibility allowance (SRA) for 

committee and scrutiny chairs is low in comparison to other councils. The SRA for 

the Leader of the Council is also lower than at the majority of other county 

councils, however it was noted that a formal recommendation is not being made to 

address this due to the reluctance of the current Leader to accept an increase. 

1.4 The Committee discussed the SRA for the Leader of the Council in detail. Several 

members expressed an opinion that the SRA should be increased as the Leader 

of the Council is a significant position, overseeing a budget of over £400 million, 

and in order to attract the right calibre of person to the position. It was suggested 

that the Leader has the right to waive their allowance if it is increased. It was 

therefore suggested that the IRP consider the SRA for the Leader of the Council in 

their next review in a year’s time. 

1.5 The Committee thanked the IRP for its report, and supported the IRP’s 

recommendations. 

1.6 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL 

a) To increase the special responsibility allowance for committee chairs and

group leaders to £6,000 for the financial year;

b) To increase the basic allowance from £10,000 to £10,100 (1%) for the 2018-19

financial year;

c) To increase all other special responsibility allowances by 1% in line with the

recommendation for the basic allowance; and

d) To note the revised members’ allowances scheme for 2018-19 at Annex C to

the report.

Page 307

Agenda Item 11



2. Arrangement for the Chair of Audit and Governance Committee

2.1  At full Council on 6 December 2017, the following recommendation from 

Constitution Committee was considered: 

That the Constitution be amended to include the arrangement for the Chair of 

Audit and Governance Committee to be a member drawn from outside the group 

or groups forming the administration. 

2.2  The Committee was asked to reconsider the recommendation following its 

withdrawal at the full Council meeting. 

2.3 Following a discussion as to whether the Constitution should include the 

arrangements for opposition groups to determine the nomination for the Chair of 

Audit and Governance, the Committee agreed that Democratic Services would 

facilitate a conversation between opposition groups to agree a nomination, and 

would provide the guidance that opposition groups should endeavour to reach 

agreement on a single nomination but will not fetter voting by individual members 

at full Council. 

2.4 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the Constitution be 

amended, as set out in Annex D, to include the arrangement for the Chair of Audit 

and Governance Committee to be a member drawn from outside the group or 

groups forming the administration.  

3. Urgent Questions at Cabinet

3.1 The Committee was reminded of the arrangement for a member of the public to 
ask an urgent question at meetings of full Council, and considered a proposal to 
amend the current arrangements for Cabinet meetings to mirror the arrangements 
at full Council, whilst maintaining that questions can only be asked about items on 
the Cabinet agenda.  

3.2 One member expressed their disappointment that the arrangements for the asking 
of oral questions at meetings of full Council had been changed to the asking of 
urgent questions. 

3.3 Clarification was sought as to whether a member of the public submitting an 
urgent question could ask a supplementary question. It was explained that this will 
be the expectation.  

3.4 It was proposed that the amendment be revised to determine that a member of the 
public may ask an urgent written question. The Committee voted on the revised 
amendment. Six members voted for the revised amendment. Cllrs Colin Hay, Paul 
Hodgkinson and Rachel Smith voted against the revised amendment. The revised 
amendment was therefore upheld. 

3.5 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL that the Constitution be amended 
under Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution, section 9, Cabinet Procedural Rules, as 
set out in Annex E. 

Page 308



4. Length of Speeches for Motions at Full Council

4.1 The Committee considered the proposed changes to the length of speeches at 
meetings of full Council. Following a query, it was clarified that the standing order 
for the length of speeches at full Council meetings can be suspended if a longer 
amount of time is required for speeches. 

4.2 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the Constitution be 
amended under Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution, section 12, Procedural 
Standing Orders, as set out in Annex F.  

5. Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution

5.1 The Committee considered the reports, noting, in particular, the revised and 
updated ‘Whistleblowing Policy’, which, due to the cancellation of the Constitution 
Committee meeting on 11 December 2017 because of adverse weather 
conditions, was approved by the Chief Executive under delegated powers.  

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL to ratify the changes to the 
Constitution, as set out in Annexes G, H, and I, by the Monitoring Officer under 
delegated powers.  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE – Chairman 

February 2018 

Page 309



1 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

2017 REVIEW 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report has been produced by an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 

made up of members drawn from the local community.  The Panel is independent 

of the Council and its role is to make recommendations on the level of 

allowances paid to councillors. The object being to promote access to all in our 

diverse community who may wish to stand for election to serve that community 

via the democratic process.   

1.2  The members of the Panel: 

 Richard Blamey Former head of pensions with a large multi-national 

industrial gas company. Currently a pensions trustee and 

appointed chair of the Tewkesbury IRP. Also serves as 

treasurer and member of his local parish council.  

 Philip Lowery A former adviser to the Social Services Committee.  

Member of the IAG to the Gloucestershire Constabulary. 

 Fiona Miles Former Clinical Nurse Specialist in Respiratory Medicine. 

Former Treasurer and Secretary to play groups and the 

Royal College of Nursing Specialist Group.  Former 

Trustee of Gloucestershire Chest Fund and former 

school governor.  Involved in Gloucestershire Girl 

Guiding and a parish councillor. 

 Quentin Tallon Former Secretary of Cheltenham and District TUC. 

Involved with the voluntary sector. 

1.3 The Panel’s recommendations are in keeping with the following statutory 

provisions: 

1.3.1 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Local Government Act 2006 

1.3.2 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

(‘The Allowances Regulations’) 

Annex A

Page 310



2 

2. Review process

2.1 The Panel met on 31 May 2017 to consider any implications arising from the May 

2017 election.  The Chairman met with leaders of the main parties in June.  The 

Panel interviewed seventeen members (including fourteen new members) over 3 

days in October, and met again on 19 October 2017, to study data, and to 

prepare the 2017 report.   

2.2 The interviews provided a valuable insight into the work of members.  The Panel 

was particularly pleased that most of the new members accepted invitations to be 

interviewed.  Although not strictly within the remit of the Panel, we include some 

of the views expressed by members: 

a) Induction programme – Comprehensive but so much to take in as newly

elected members.  Would be helpful if some of the sessions on the basics of

being a councillor could be repeated.

b) Members’ technology – The new iPads are ideal (although many were

disappointed with lack of printing options). Much better than the previous

laptops provided, in particular, the system for accessing committee papers

was praised.  Some members experienced problems with emails and were

frustrated with the loss of access and the requirement for multiple passwords.

Many members serving on district councils were disappointed that they could

not use one device for both councils.

3. Allowances

3.1 The Panel’s recommendation to freeze the basic allowance and review the 

special responsibility allowances after the election was supported by the County 

Council on 15 February 2017. The current allowances’ scheme is shown at 

Appendix A. 

3.2 The Panel noted that the Council no longer ran its own Adoption Panel as the 

process was now run regionally through Adoption West.  The special 

responsibility allowance for members of the Adoption Panel had therefore ended.  

3.3 Following the May 2017 election, a majority administration replaced the minority 

administration.  Special responsibility allowances were no longer paid to Political 

Group Spokespersons, commonly referred to as ‘Shadows’.  The savings 

achieved had been used to cover the cost of the special responsibility allowance 

for a new Cabinet Member: Economy, Skills and Growth. 

3.4 At the request of the Panel, Democratic Services had undertaken a review of 

allowance schemes for the other 27 county councils in England.  On examining 

the data we find that the current special responsibility allowance for committee 

Page 311



3 

chairs is low in comparison with other councils.  We also see that the special 

responsibility allowance for scrutiny chairs is extremely low by comparison.  The 

size of this role is broadly in line with a political group leader and the Panel 

believe that both roles should be paid at the same rate. 

3.5 The other area which Gloucestershire is out of line is the special responsibility 

allowance of the Leader of the Council.  It is significantly lower than the majority 

of other county council leaders.  We believe that this should be addressed but we 

are not making a formal recommendation as we are aware of the reluctance of 

the current Leader of the Council to accept an increase. 

3.6 The basic allowances were increased to £10,000 for the two year period 2016-

2018 and we do not wish to see the Council falling behind other county councils 

again. Accordingly, we are recommending some modest increases.  Although not 

linking these to any increases staff may receive, we are nonetheless mindful of 

the wider pay environment.   

4. Recommendations

4.1 To increase the special responsibility allowance for committee chairs and group 

leaders to £6,000 for the 2018-19 financial year. 

4.2 To increase the basic allowance from £10,000 to £10,100 (1%) for the 2018-19 

financial year.  

4.3 To increase all other special responsibility allowances by 1% in line with the 

recommendation for the basic allowance.  

4.4 To note the revised members’ allowances scheme for 2018-19 at Appendix B to 

the report. 

Richard Blamey 

Chairman, Independent Remuneration Panel for Gloucestershire County Council 

Page 312



4 

Allowances for 2017-18 

Basic allowance payable to all 53 members: £10,000

Special responsibility allowances (SRA) Positions Allowance 

Leader of the Council 1 £27,300 

Group leader (5 or more members) 1 £  5,850 

(Not paid to Leader of the Council) 

Cabinet member 8 £18,200 

Scrutiny chair 5 £  5,460

Audit and Governance Committee chair 1 £  5,460 

Planning Committee chair 1 £  5,460 

Pensions Committee chair 1 £  5,460 

Chair of Council 1 £  9,100

Vice-chair of Council 1 £  2,730 

Fostering Panel member 1 £  5,460 

Adoption Panel member 2 £  5,460 

Political Group Spokesperson 14 £  1,500 

Annex B

Page 313



5 

Allowances for 2018-19 

Basic allowance payable to all 53 members: £10,100

Special responsibility allowances (SRA) Positions Allowance 

Leader of the Council 1 £27,570 

Group leader (5 or more members) 1 £  6,000 

(Not paid to Leader of the Council) 

Cabinet member 8 £18,380 

Scrutiny chair 5 £  6,000

Audit and Governance Committee chair 1 £  6000 

Planning Committee chair 1 £  6,000 

Pensions Committee chair 1 £  6,000 

Chair of Council 1 £  9,190

Vice-chair of Council 1 £  2,750 

Fostering Panel member 1 £  5,510 

Annex C

Page 314



Annex D Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

Audit and Governance 

Committee 

9 County Councillors 

The Chair of the Audit 

and Governance 

Committee to be a 

member drawn from 

outside the group or 

groups forming the 

administration. 

(1) Advise on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Council’s corporate governance arrangements and 

internal control environment. 

(2) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

governance arrangements including: 

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the Chief Officer’s

responsibility for ensuring an adequate internal

control environment;

 Monitoring the arrangements for the identification,

monitoring and control of strategic and operational

risk within the Council;

 Monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the

arrangements in place for combating fraud and

corruption;

 Providing an annual report to the County Council that

its systems of governance are operating effectively;

 Reviewing and approving the annual Statement of

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement;

 The Chief Internal Auditor has the right of

independent access to the Committee and its Chair;

 Being responsible for the implementation and

undertaking regular monitoring of the Council’s

treasury management policies and practices;

 Formulating and keeping under review a Code of

Conduct to promote high ethical standards amongst

Officers and doing anything that is calculated to

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by

Officers;

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s

‘whistle-blowing’ policy; and

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s

arrangements for handling complaints and

investigations by the Local Government

Ombudsman.

(3) To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high 

standards of conduct by County Councillors and co-opted 

members in accordance with the Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Members.  

 To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for

Members;

 To advise the Council on any amendment or revision

of the Code;

 To secure adequate and appropriate training of

County Councillors and co-opted Members on the

Code of Conduct for Members;

Page 315



Annex D Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

 To give general guidance and advice to County

Councillors on Members’ interests and keep under

review the Register of Members’ Interests maintained

by the Monitoring Officer; and

 To give general guidance and advice to County

Councillors and employees on gifts and hospitality.

(4) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

External Audit service and respond to its findings. 

Specifically: 

 Considering the nature and scope of the External

Audit of the Council’s services and functions;

 Receiving and considering External Audit Reports

including the Annual Audit Letter and Governance

Report; and

 Monitoring management’s response to the External

Auditor’s findings and the implementation of External

Audit recommendations.

(5) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal 

Audit service. Specifically: 

 Approving the internal audit charter;

 Approving the annual risk based internal audit plan;

 Receiving communications from the Chief Internal

Auditor on the internal audit activity’s performance

relative to its plan and other matters, including the

annual report and opinion;

 Receiving and considering major Internal Audit

findings and recommendations;

 Monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit

findings and the implementation of the

recommendations;

 Making appropriate enquiries of management and

the Chief Internal Auditor to determine whether there

are inappropriate scope and resource limitations;

 Agreeing the scope and form of the external

assessment as part of the quality assurance and

improvement plan;

 Receiving the results of internal and external

assessments of the quality assurance and

improvement programme, including areas of non-

conformance with professional standards; and

 Approving significant consulting services not already

included in the audit plan, prior to acceptance of the

engagement, if this materially impacts on core

assurance activity.

Page 316



Annex D Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

(6) To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-

opted Members related to interests specified in the Code 

of Conduct for Members following written requests to the 

proper officer (Chief Executive) by a Member or Co-opted 

Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, when 

the Council: 

 Considers that without the dispensation, the number

of persons prohibited by section 31(4) from

participating in any particular business would be so

great a proportion of the body transacting the

business as to impede the transaction of the

business;

 Considers that without the dispensation the

representation of different political groups on the

body transacting any particular business would be

upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote

relating to the business;

 Considers that granting the dispensation is in the

interests of persons living in the authority’s area;

 Considers that without the dispensation each

member of the authority’s executive would be

prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any

particular business to be transacted by the authority’s

executive, or

 Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a

dispensation.

(7) To establish a Sub-Committee known as the Hearings 

Panel to hear allegations that Members have failed to 

comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct. 

 To assess and review allegations of Member

misconduct; and

 To determine allegations of Member misconduct.

Note: the committee has the right to require the attendance of 

any Council officers or members in order to respond directly to 

any issue under consideration. 

Hearings Panel Sub-

Committee 

5 County Councillors 

proportional to the 

political composition of 

the Council. Quorum of 

3 members present for 

its duration 

(1) To receive reports referred from the Monitoring Officer 

following investigations into complaints and other steps 

associated with that function. 

(2) To conduct standards hearings and all other steps 

associated with that function, including taking into 

account the advice of the Independent Person. 

(3) If the panel determines that a breach of the Authority’s 

Page 317



Annex D Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

Code of Conduct has occurred, the panel can impose 

one or more of the following if appropriate: 

a) Censure;

b) Report to Council;

c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council;

d) Recommend actions to Group Leader;

e) Removal from Outside Bodies;

f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council

email/website/internet access;

g) Exclusion from the Council offices or other

premises with the exception of meeting rooms as

necessary for attending Council, Committees or

Sub-Committees and/or nominating a single point

of contact; and/or

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions

deemed appropriate e.g. training, issue of an

apology.

(4) To set-up when necessary an interview panel comprising 

of the lead members of each party to shortlist and 

interview candidates for the role of Independent Person. 

 To recommend successful candidates to the

County Council to be chosen by a majority of

Councillors.

Page 318



Annex E 

QUESTIONS AT CABINET MEETINGS 

9.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet there shall be up to 30 minutes set aside for written 
and oral urgent written questions. 

9.2 A County Councillor or any person who lives or works in the county, or is affected 
by the work of the County Council, may ask the Leader of the Council or a Cabinet 
Member a written question on any matter which relates to any item on the Cabinet 
agenda for that meeting. 

9.3 A written copy of the question must have been delivered to the Chief Executive by 
4pm three clear working days before the date of the meeting. 

9.4 An oral urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public about any 
item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting provided that he or she gives notice of 
the question to the Chief Executive at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the 
meeting., which the Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably 
submitted by the deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided that he or 
she gives notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.  

9.5 Response 

A written answer will be provided to a written question and will be given to the 
questioner and to Cabinet Members before the meeting. The question and answer 
will then be taken as read at the meeting itself and need not be read out. 

9.6 A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the meeting will be 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the meeting. 

9.7 Supplementary Questions 

A person who has put a written question may, with the consent of the person 
presiding, ask a supplementary question on the same subject. 

9.8 An answer to a supplementary question will take the form of: 

9.8.1 A direct oral answer; 

9.8.2 Where the information required is contained in a Council document or 
other published work, the questioner will be given the name of that 
document and if the person presiding considers it appropriate the 
relevant part of the document will be read out; 

9.8.3 If the information required is not easily available, a written answer will 
be sent to the questioner and circulated to all Cabinet Members. 

9.9 There will be no discussion on any question from a member of the public. 

9.10 Written questions may be rejected and oral urgent written questions need not be 
answered when the person presiding considers that they: 

9.10.1 Are defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

Page 319



Annex E 

9.10.2 Are substantially the same as a question that has been put to a 
meeting of the Cabinet or Council in the past six months; or  

9.10.3 Would require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

In every case, the person presiding must specify the reason for rejecting a question 
or not requiring an answer to be given to it. 

If the person presiding decides not to allow a further question as provided herein 
and has given reasons for the decision, then the decision shall be final. 

Page 320



Annex F 

12. RULES OF DEBATE

12.1 No speeches until a motion is seconded. 

No other speeches may be made after a Member has moved a motion and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded by another Member.  

12.2 Right to require a motion to be in writing. 

The Chairperson may require a motion to be written out before allowing the matter 
to be discussed.   

12.3 Seconder’s speech 

When seconding a motion a Member may reserve their right to speak until later in 
the debate.   

12.4 Content and length of speeches 

Speeches must be directed to the matter under discussion or to a personal 
explanation or point of order.  No speech may be longer than five three minutes 
without the agreement of the Chairperson.  

Exceptions to this rule are: 

12.4.1 A Member who puts forward a motion may speak to it for not more 
than ten five minutes and may also speak in reply to it at the end of the 
debate for not more than five three minutes.  This Standing Order does 
not apply to a speech made under Procedural Standing Order 11.2;   

12.4.2 A Member presenting or answering questions on reports of 
committees or Cabinet may not speak for more than 10 minutes unless 
otherwise agreed by the Chairperson. 

12.5 Amendments to a motion 

A Member may move an amendment to a motion and explain the purpose of it.  The 
amendment must be seconded by another Member.  The Chairperson may require 
that the amendment be written out before allowing the matter to be discussed.  An 
amendment must be relevant to the motion and shall either be: 

12.5.1 To leave out words; 

12.5.2 To leave out words and add others; or 

12.5.3 To insert or add words. 

The time spent debating an amendment to a motion shall count within the overall 
two hours allocation time for motions. 

No amendment shall be allowed which is contrary to the motion before the Council 
or has the effect of introducing a new proposal.   

Page 321



Annex F 

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.  No further 
amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been dealt 
with.   

If an amendment is rejected, different amendments may be proposed on the original 
motion.   

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 
motion.  This becomes the substantive motion on which any further amendments 
are moved.   

After an amendment has been carried, the Chairperson will advise the meeting of 
the content of the amended motion before accepting any further amendments.  

12.6 When a Member may speak again 

When a Member has spoken on a motion they may not, without the consent of the 
Chairperson, speak again during the debate, except: 

12.6.1 To speak once on an amendment moved by another Member; 

12.6.2 To move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since 
he or she last spoke; 

12.6.3 If the first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, 
to speak on the main issue, whether or not the amendment was 
carried; 

12.6.4 To exercise the right to reply; 

12.6.5 On a point of order; 

12.6.6 By way of personal explanation. 

12.7 Alteration of motion by the proposer 

With the consent of the full Council agreed without discussion, a Member may: 

12.7.1 Alter a motion of which he or she has given notice; or 

12.7.2 With the consent of the seconder alter a motion that has been moved 
without notice.   

In either case, the alteration to the motion must be worded as an 
acceptable amendment in accordance with Procedural Standing Order 
12.5. 

12.8 Withdrawal of motion or amendment 

A Member may withdraw a motion or amendment to a motion which he or she has 
moved, with the consent of both the full Council and the seconder.  The full 
Council's and seconder’s consent will be given or not given, without discussion.  No 
Member may speak on the motion or amendment to motion after the mover has 
asked permission to withdraw unless permission to withdraw is refused.   

Page 322



Annex F 

12.9 Right of reply 

The mover of a motion has the right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, 
immediately before the motion is put to the vote.   

If an amendment to the motion is moved, the mover of the original motion will also 
have the right to reply at the end of the debate on the amendment.  Otherwise, the 
mover of the original motion is not allowed to speak in the debate on the 
amendment.   

The Member who has proposed an amendment shall have a right to reply to the 
debate on that amendment.  The right to reply will take place immediately before 
the final speech by the mover of the original motion.   

A Member exercising the right to reply shall not introduce any new issues into the 
debate.   

After everyone who has the right to speak under this Procedural Standing Order 
has done so the meeting shall take its decision without further discussion.   

12.10 Closure motions 

A Member who has not already spoken on a motion being debated may move, 
without comment or otherwise speaking to the motion except in accordance with 
Procedural Standing Order 11.2, the following procedural motions at the end of a 
speech by another Member: 

12.10.1 To proceed to the next business: 

If a procedural motion to proceed to the next business is seconded 
and the Chairperson thinks the item has been discussed sufficiently, 
he or she will give the mover of the original motion and, if an 
amendment is being discussed, the mover of the amendment, a right 
of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.   

If the Chairperson thinks the item has not been discussed sufficiently, 
the procedural motion will not be discussed further and will not be put 
to the vote. 

If the procedural motion to proceed to the next business is carried, no 
further discussion will take place at that meeting in relation to that 
business.   

[Note that proceeding to the next business may leave business 
unresolved] 

12.10.2 That the question be put: 

If a procedural motion that the question be put is seconded and the 
Chairperson thinks the item has been discussed sufficiently, he or she 
will put the procedural motion to the vote without further discussion.   

Page 323



Annex F 

If the Chairperson thinks the item has not been discussed sufficiently, 
the procedural motion will not be discussed further and will not be put 
to the vote. 

If the motion that the question be put is passed, the Chairperson will 
give the mover of the original motion (but not the mover of any agreed 
amendment), a right of reply before putting the original motion (or 
agreed amended motion, if any) to the vote.   

If the motion that the question be put is passed and an amendment to 
a motion is being discussed, the Chairperson will give the mover of the 
amendment, a right to reply before putting the amendment motion to 
the vote.  

[Note that passing a procedural motion that the question be put when 
an amendment to a motion is under discussion, has the effect of 
resolving only whether or not the amendment shall be agreed] 

12.10.3 To adjourn a debate to a specified date, time and place; or 

12.10.4 To adjourn a meeting to a specified date, time and place. 

If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 
seconded and the Chairperson thinks the item or business of the 
meeting has not been discussed sufficiently and cannot reasonably be 
discussed further on that occasion, he or she will put the procedural 
motion to adjourn to the vote without giving the mover of any other 
motion under discussion, the right of reply.   

If the Chairperson thinks the item or business of the meeting has been 
discussed sufficiently, the procedural motion to adjourn will not be 
discussed further and will not be put to the vote. 

12.11 Point of order 

A Member may raise a point of order relating to procedural matters at any time. 
The Chairperson will hear them immediately.  A point of order shall relate only to an 
alleged breach of these Procedural Standing Orders or the law relating to meetings. 
The Member must indicate the Procedural Standing Order or point of law and the 
way in which he or she considers it has been broken.  The ruling of the Chairperson 
on the matter will be final.   

12.12 Personal explanation 

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal explanation 
shall only relate to a material point made in an earlier speech by the Member that 
may appear to have been misunderstood during the current debate.  Before giving 
the explanation, the Member must first identify that material point and why it 
appears to have been misunderstood and the Chairperson shall then decide 
whether or not the personal explanation can be made to the meeting. If the 
Chairperson decides explanation can be given, the Member may then give the 
explanation.    

12.13 At any time during a debate, with the agreement of the Chairperson, any Member 
may request clarification of any matter relating to that debate. 

Page 324



Annex F 

12.14 For the purposes of Procedural Standing Orders: 

12.2 Right to require a motion to be in writing; 

12.4 Content and length of speeches; 

12.5 Amendments to a motion; 

12.6 When a Member may speak again; 

12.9 Right of reply;  

12.10 Closure motions 

recommendations to the Council from the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, a 
Cabinet Member, a committee or an Officer exercising delegated powers shall be 
treated as a motion. 

Page 325



Annex G

Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Annex H

Page 330



Page 331



Annex I

Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement – Wednesday 13 December 2017

Publication Date - Wednesday 13 December 2017 

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item

Decision Portfolio 

5  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - 2018/19 TO 
2020/21 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, presented for consultation and scrutiny the proposed 
detailed budget 2018/19 and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the period covering 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, 

Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Approve for consultation and scrutiny, the proposed detailed 
budget for 2018/19 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
(including Dedicated Schools Grant, which will be considered 
by the Schools Forum), and the Treasury Management 
Strategy.

Finance and Change

6  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2017/18 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, gave an update on the year-end forecast for the 
2017/18 County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, 

Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position, as at the end 
of October 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year, of a net 
£0.214 million underspend.

Finance and Change

Page 343

Agenda Item 12



2. Approve the drawdown of £0.921million from the Ordinary 
Residence(OR) Reserve to fund a back dated OR 
payment

3. Note the forecast capital year end position, as at the end 
of October 2017, of £109.277 million against a re-profiled 
budget of £106.730 million resulting from additional 
planned scheme spend of £2.546 million with additional 
funding expected to be confirmed within the next month

4. Note a capital budget re-profiling exercise that has taken 
place since the previous Cabinet Finance Monitoring 
report – as outlined in Section B of this report. This re-
profiling has been approved in accordance with the formal 
scheme of delegation to officers and there is no impact on 
the overall value of the approved capital programme. 

5. Approve the revenue contribution to capital of £0.123 
million from the Highways Locals Budget to the Highway 
Capital Budget to support the completion of capital 
schemes 

6. Approve the allocation of £0.013 million Section 106 
developer contributions towards St Paul’s Primary garden 
room capital project

7. Note the overall increase to the Capital programme taking 
into account the above changes of £0.136 million

7  PROCUREMENT OF CORPORATE INSURANCES AND 
RELATED PROCUREMENT OF A BROKER 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, sought approval to tender for the council’s corporate 
insurance policies and to award a contract for such policies 
with effect from 24 June 2018. 

Cllr Theodoulou also sought approval to award a contract for 
insurance brokerage services to the incumbent supplier of 
such services, (to specifically assist in the procurement of the 
contract for corporate services and claims handling). 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, 

Cabinet noted the report and,  

Finance and Change

Page 344



RESOLVED to authorise the Director of Strategic Finance 
to: - 

(a) Conduct a legally compliant competitive procurement 
process through the Crown Commercial Service’s 
Insurance Framework (RM3731) for the supply of 
Corporate Insurance policies; and for the Director of 
Strategic Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change, to award the 
contract to commence on 24 June 2018 and continue 
for a period of 3 + 2 years or 5 years if more cost 
efficient, in accordance with the terms of the tender 
process; and to 

(b) Make a legally compliant direct award of a contract for 
brokerage services to the incumbent supplier of such 
services (namely “ Marsh Limited”) through the Crown 
Commercial Service’s (CCS) RM3731 framework, 
specifically to assist in the procurement of the contract 
for Corporate Insurances and claims handling.

8  ENERGY CONTRACT AWARD (ELECTRICITY) FOR 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL ESTATE AND 
SCHOOLS (INCLUDING ACADEMIES) 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, sought approval to modify the term of the contract 
for the supply of electricity to the Council and participating 
schools. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, 

Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: -  

Authorise the Director of Strategic Finance, in compliance 
with the Public Contract Regulations 2015, to enter into 
negotiations and conclude an agreement with WME to modify 
the term of the current electricity energy contract to include 
the period 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019 inclusive.    

Finance and Change

Page 345



9  TO ESTABLISH A NEW SECONDARY SCHOOL FOR 
CHELTENHAM 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and 
Growth, presented information on the proposed establishment 
of a new secondary school for Cheltenham. 

In presenting the information, Cllr Stowe proposed an 
amendment to recommendation 1) of the decision report, 
proposing that the establishment of a new secondary school 
for Cheltenham be subject to approved funding by Council in 
February 2018. 

Recommendations 2 and 3 to remain unchanged, as set out 
in the decision report. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, the reasons for the recommendations, and the 
proposed amendment to recommendation 1;  

Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED that: - 

1. Cabinet approve the establishment of a new 900 place 
secondary school for Cheltenham families, subject to 
approved funding by Full Council in February 2018; 

2. Cabinet delegate authority to the Head of Education, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Skills and Growth, to:

(a)  hold a free school presumption competition in 
accordance with the Department for Education’s advice 
contained in, “The free school presumption” (February 
2016).

(b) upon conclusion of the competition, to recommend to 
the Secretary of State the findings of the Local 
Authority’s assessment to enable her to decide upon 
the most suitable proposer to take forward the new free 
school

3. Cabinet delegate authority to the Head of Property 
Services to acquire land to establish a new 900 place 
school in Cheltenham, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change. 

Economy, Skills and 
Growth

Page 346



The decisions above came into force on Thursday 21 December 2017. 

No call-in for any of the decisions was received. 

For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 347

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement – Wednesday 31 January 2018

Publication Date – Thursday 1 February 2018

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL - COUNCIL 
STRATEGY AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
(MTFS) 2018-19 TO 2020-2021 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, presented the Draft Council Strategy and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, (MTFS), 2018-19 to 2020-21, 
(including the proposed Revenue and Capital Budget 2018-
19), for recommendation to Council.

Having considered all of the information, including the 
outcomes of the council’s formal budget consultation, the due 
regard statement for the decision and recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, Cabinet 
noted the decision report and the reasons for the 
recommendations and, 

RESOLVED to: - 

1. Note the outcome of the budget consultation as set out 
in Appendix 3 of the report and the report of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
(OSMC) in Appendix 4; 

2. Approve the Draft Council Strategy for submission to 
County Council (Appendix 1); 

3. Approve changes to the draft budget as set out in 
Section C of the report, and approve the MTFS and 
final revenue and capital budget for 2018/19 for 
recommendation to Council, including all of the 
proposals set out in the annexes of the detailed MTFS 
(Appendix 2); 

4. Note the schools funding, the provisional local 
government finance settlement and forecast reserve 
movements, as summarised in the decision report and 
as set out in the MTFS, and recommend to Council a 

Finance and Change

Page 349



revenue budget of £412.90 million, and a band D 
council tax of £1,232.21, and consequential precepts 
on District Councils; 

5. Note that Gloucestershire had been successful in 
becoming a Business Rate Retention pilot in 2018/19 
and propose that the additional revenue be split 
between Children’s Social Care (£2.6 million) and 
Adult Social Care (£2 million).

6. Approve, for recommendation to Council, the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Investment Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators, as set out in Section I of the 
decision report and Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS.

7. Approve, for recommendation to Council, the Risk 
Management Policy Statement & Strategy, as set out 
in Section M of the decision report and Annex 11 of 
the detailed MTFS.

6  RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL - PUBLICATION AND 
SUBMISSION OF THE MINERALS LOCAL PLAN FOR 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE 2018-2032 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, presented the responses to the draft 
consultation and proposed changes to the detailed Minerals 
Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) for 
recommendation to Council and submission to the Secretary 
of State.  

http://192.168.220.171:9071/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=25185&
PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI19476 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to recommend that the Council:- 

a) Note the consideration given to the consultation 
representations made to the draft Minerals Local Plan 
for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) and the proposed 
changes to the plan. (Details of the representations 
made, the responses provided and proposed changes 
have been made available separately and can be 
review via the relevant County Council web pages 
accessed from: -  

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 350

http://192.168.220.171:9071/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=25185&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI19476
http://192.168.220.171:9071/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=25185&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI19476


http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/planning-policy/minerals-local-plan-for-
gloucestershire/ 

b) Approve the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
(2018 – 2032) (attached at Appendix 1); 

c) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Planning and Infrastructure to make minor 
amendments to the Minerals Local Plan for 
Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) (attached at Appendix 
1) and any accompanying documents prior to its 
publication in accordance with the requirements set out 
under regulations 19 of the Town and Country 
Planning (England) (Local Planning) Regulations 2012;

d) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure to publish for 
inspection the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
(2018 – 2032) in accordance with the requirements set 
out under regulations 19 and 35 of the Town and 
Country Planning (England) (Local Planning) 
Regulations 2012;

e)  Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure to receive any 
representations made to the published Minerals Local 
Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032), to make any 
minor corrections and clarifications as necessary, and 
decide whether to submit the plan to the Secretary of 
State for independent examination;   

  f) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Planning and Infrastructure to submit the Minerals 
Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) and 
supporting information to the Secretary of State in 
accordance with the requirements set out under 
regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning 
(England) (Local Planning) Regulations 2012; 

g)  Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure to make all necessary arrangements and 
preparations for the independent examination for the 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) 
including: - the appointment of a Programme Officer; 

Page 351

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/minerals-local-plan-for-gloucestershire/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/minerals-local-plan-for-gloucestershire/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/minerals-local-plan-for-gloucestershire/


the undertaking and / or commissioning of other work 
as necessary to prepare for and participate at the 
public examination; and the appointment of officers and 
other commissioned experts to prepare and submit 
evidence to the independent examination and where 
necessary, appear at any hearing sessions to 
represent the County Council; and

h)  Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities & 
Infrastructure in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Planning and Infrastructure to make any changes 
to the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 2018 – 
2032 and supporting information as guided by the 
appointed inspector through the independent 
examination process, including undertaking any 
consultation where necessary, in order to respond to 
matters raised through the examination. This may 
involve inviting the Inspector to recommend 
modifications to the plan prior to its adoption.

7  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2017-18 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, gave an update on the year end forecast for the 
2017-18 County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.  

Having considered all of the information, known proposals 
and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the 
report and

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the 
end of November 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year of 
a net £0.036 million overspend; 

2) Approve the creation of a “Minimum Wage” Reserve, 
and the transfer of £1 million from the revenue Adult 
Social Care budgets into the reserve; 

3) Note the proposed draw down of £0.325 million from 
the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool Reserve as 
approved by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Committee (GEGJC) under delegated powers;

4) Note the forecast capital year end position as at the 
end of November 2017 of £109.277 million against a 
re-profiled budget of £106.864 million, resulting from 

Finance and Change

Page 352



additional planned scheme spend of £2.168 million 
with additional funding expected to be confirmed within 
the next month;

5) Note the transfer of a £0.03 million revenue 
contribution to capital from the previously approved 
Lock House drainage scheme,(which is no longer 
required), to the Slimbridge Drainage Scheme; 

6) Approve the revenue contribution to capital of £0.150 
million from the revenue Catering budget to the school 
Kitchen Upgrade capital scheme; 

7) Approve the revenue contribution to capital of £0.063 
million from the revenue Capital Maintenance budget 
towards the Archives capital project budget; 

8) Approve the addition of £0.141 million developer 
contributions to the Shurdington Primary School 
scheme and the transfer of £0.141 million Basic Need 
Grant to the unallocated Basic Need Grant budget; 

9) Approve the allocation of £0.208 million s106 
contribution towards a new classroom block at 
Cirencester Deer Park School; 

10)Approves the addition of £0.139 million developer 
contributions to the Cleeve School scheme;

11)Approve a new scheme for an outdoor learning facility 
at Mitton Manor Primary School, funded by £0.026 
million developer contribution; 

12)Approve an increase of £6.345 million in the Highways 
Capital budget funded from a variety of sources as 
outlined in the report;

13)Approves an additional increase of £0.04 million to the 
Archives capital project budget funded from a donation 
from Gloucestershire Diocese;

14)Approves a new scheme for a Wi-Fi and study area at 
Cheltenham Library funded by £0.016 million 
developer contribution;

15)Notes the overall increase to the Capital programme 
taking into account the above changes of £7.128 
million.

Page 353



8  ICT AND SAP SUPPORT CONTRACT EXTENSIONS 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, sought approval to award 2 year contract extensions 
to the council’s current outsourced ICT and SAP managed 
service providers.  

Having considered all of the information, known proposals 
and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the 
report and

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Delegate authority to the Chief Fire Officer and 
Operations Director to exercise the option to extend the ICT 
support contract for 2 years from April 2019 to March 2021, 
and 

2) Delegate authority to the Director of Strategic Finance to 
exercise the option to extend the SAP support contract from 
April 2019 to March 2021 and to negotiate the terms and 
conditions when extending the SAP support contract.

Finance and Change

9  PROVISION OF SERVICES FOR HOMELESSNESS AND 
PEOPLE IN VULNERABLE CIRCUMSTANCES 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, sought approval to award contracts for the 
provision of accommodation and community based support 
services.  

Having considered all of the information, known proposals 
and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the 
report and

RESOLVED to: - 

Authorise the Director of Public Health to direct award 18 
month contracts to each of the current providers of 
accommodation and community based support services listed 
in Appendix 1 to the decision report. 
Each contract to commence on 1st October 2018 for an initial 
term of 6 months and contain two options to extend for up to a 
further 6 months in each case.

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Page 354



10  EXTENSION OF THE SECTION 75 AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL AND 
THE NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, sought approval to extend the Section 75 
Agreement between Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
and the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) for a further two years. 

Having considered all of the information, known proposals 
and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the 
report and

RESOLVED to: - 

Authorise the Commissioning Director: Adults (and DASS), in 
consultation with the Director of Public Health and the Director: 
Strategic Finance to dispense with the need to give notice under 
clause 2.3.1 of the Agreement and, with the agreement of the 
GCCG:

1. To extend the Agreement for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2019; and then,  

2. At the same time, to further extend the Agreement for the 
period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

11  SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member: Finance and Change, 
sought approval of the Schedule of Disposals proposed to 
meet the three year ‘Meeting the Challenge 2’ capital receipt 
target of £60 million covering the period 2015/16 to 2017/18.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and, in line with the council’s Policy for the 
Disposal of Property:  

RESOLVED to:  

1) Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A 
(Exempt) which have previously been declared surplus 
by Cabinet in September 2017 and not yet disposed of, 
continue to be declared surplus to requirements

Finance and Change

Page 355



2) Declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the 
Council’s land and property requirements, 

and in relation to both of these schedules, delegate authority 
to the Head of Property Services to dispose of the sites in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should 
Cabinet wish to discuss the contents of the exempt 
information reported in Appendix A and Appendix B of the 
decision report, consideration would need to be given as to 
whether the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Cabinet agreed to consider the item without making reference 
to the exempt information.

The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on Friday 9 
February 2018, unless a request is made for the decision to be called-in.  

CALL-IN PROCEDURE

A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are 
satisfied: - 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been 
formally approved or adopted by the Council;  

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;  

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet 
Member or Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant 
matter or failed to take account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the 
Chief Executive, had (or would have), a significant bearing on that decision; 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under 
delegated powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to 
Information about the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of 
the decision making set out in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution. 

At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. 

Page 356



The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive 
before the end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. 

The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to Jo Moore (DSU) 
by 5 pm on Thursday 8 February 2018. 

For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 357

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL - 14 FEBRUARY 2018

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions
1 December 2017 to 31 January 2018

Decision 
Date

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder

Decision Key 
Decision 

4 Dec 
2017 

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe 

Cabinet 
Economy, Skills 
and Growth 

Approval to close Minsterworth Primary 
School with effect from 31 December 2017

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

Approve the closure of Minsterworth Primary 
School with effect from 31st December 2017.

For the reasons set out in the report

Yes

12 Dec  
2017 

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe 

Cabinet 
Economy, Skills 
and Growth 

Approval to expand Fairford C of E Primary 
School, Fairford, from its current one form of 
entry (210 pupils) to one and a half forms of 
entry (315 pupils) with effect from September 
2019.

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

Approve the permanent expansion of Fairford C 
of E Primary School from its current one form of 
entry (210 pupils) to one and a half forms of entry 
(315 pupils) with effect from September 2019.

Yes

Page 359

Agenda Item 13



2

14 Dec
2017

Cllr Richard 
Boyles

Cabinet Member 
for Children and 
Young People 

Proposed contract for the provision of a 
Special Education Needs Advice and 
Information Service (SENDIASS) in 
Gloucestershire

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to authorise the Head of 
Education to: 

a) Undertake a Public Contract Regulations 
2015 compliant procurement process for the 
purpose of awarding a contract to provide 
Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Information and Advice Services.  The 
proposed contract shall commence on 1 
April 2018 and continue for a period of 5 
years and 

b) Award such a contract (following the 
conclusion of the said procurement 
process), in consultation with the relevant 
cabinet member, to the highest scoring 
tenderer or, in the event that they are either 
unable or unwilling to enter into the 
proposed contract, to award such contract 
to the next highest scoring tenderer.

For the reasons set out in the report.

Yes

Page 360



3

31 Jan 
2017

Cllr Tim Harman 

Cabinet Member 
for Public Health 
and Communities 

Changes to the contract length and 
procurement process for Lot B of the Sexual 
Health Prevention Service

Having fully considered all of the available 
information, the Cabinet Member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

1) Not award a contract for the Lot B Sexual 
Health Developmental Prevention 
Services, as tendered in accordance with 
the Cabinet Decision of the 14th December 
2016, and close that tender process in 
respect of those services; 

2) Authorise  the Director of Public Health to 
conduct an EU compliant tender process 
for the award of a two year contract for the 
delivery of the Sexual Health 
Developmental Prevention Services; and 

3) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender 
process to enter into a contract with the 
preferred provider evaluated as offering 
the Council best value for money for the 
delivery of the Sexual Health 
Developmental Prevention Services.

In the event that the preferred provider is 
either unable or unwilling to enter into that 
contract with the Council then the Director 
of Public Health is authorised to enter into 
such contract with the next willing highest 
placed suitably qualified provider. 

For the reasons set out in the published 
decision report relating to this decision.

Yes 

Please contact Jo Moore, (Democratic Services Unit), if you have any queries about the 
decisions referred to in this statement. 
Tel: 01452 324196 Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 361

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's announcements
	6 Corporate Parenting
	8a Report and recommendations
	8b Council Strategy - Appendix 1
	8c Medium Term Financial Strategy - Appendix 2
	8d Budget consultation report - Appendix 3
	8e Scrutiny Budget report - Appendix 4
	8f Due Regard Statement
	DRS for Budget - Appendix 5

	10 Scrutiny report
	11 Constitution Committee report
	12 Cabinet Decision Statement
	Cabinet (31 Jan 2018) Decision Statement

	13 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements

